
Community Safety Partnership

Date and Time: Wednesday, 30 June 2021, 10:00 am - 1:00 pm
Venue: MS Teams

A G E N D A

Presented
by

Time
Allowed

Pages

1. Introductions and Apologies for Absence Chair 2 mins Verbal

2. Declaration of Interests Chair 2 mins Verbal

Members of the Board are asked to declare 
any personal or prejudicial interest they may 
have in any matter which is to be considered at 
this meeting.

3. Minutes and actions Chair 5 mins 1 - 8

4. Safeguarding policies and procedures for 
Community, Faith and Voluntary Sector

Mike Cullern 10 mins 9 - 87

5. LFB Engagement Plan Narinder Dail 15 mins Verbal

6. Partnership delivery of LBBD CSP VRU 
Action Plan

Chair 15 mins 89 - 96

7. Safe Haven Scheme Chris Lyons 10 mins 97 - 98

BREAK 10 mins

8. PSPO Update Chris Lyons 10 mins 99 - 
100

9. Police Encounter Scrutiny Panels (PESPs) Mark D Long 10 mins Verbal

10. RESTRICTED: Counter-Terrorism Local 
Profile (CTLP) and Prevent Priorities

Thomas 
Llewellyn-

Jones

20 mins 101 - 
109

11. RESTRICTED: Update on reunification of 
NPS/CRC

Antony Rose 10 mins Verbal



12. Any Other Business Chair 10 mins

(a) Performance Report 

(b) Sub-Group Update Reports 

 Children and Young People Sub-Group 
 Hate, Intolerance and Extremism Sub-Group 
 IVOLT Sub-Group 
 Managing Offenders Sub-Group 
 Violence Against Women and Girls Sub-Group 

RESTRICTED: Safer Neighbourhood Board 
RESTRICTED: Safeguarding Boards 

13. Forward Plan Chair 5 mins 133 - 134

14. Date of Next Meeting Chair 2 mins Verbal
Community Safety Partnership Board
Wednesday 29 September 2021
10:00am-13:00pm
MS Teams
CHAIR: Stephen Clayman



Membership
Name Post title Organisation
Councillor Mullane
(Chair)

Cabinet Member for Enforcement 
and Community Safety

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Fiona Taylor
(Deputy Chair)

Director of Law and Governance London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Andy Opie Director of Enforcement and 
Community Safety

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Angie Fuller Head of YOS, Missing and 
Exploitation, Childrens’ Care and 
Support

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

April Bald Operational Director, Childrens’ 
Care and Support

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Councillor Worby Cabinet Member for Social Care 
and Health Integration

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Greg Tillett Chair of Managing Offenders - 
Head of Barking & Dagenham, 
Havering and Newham London 
Division

National Probabtion Service (NPS)

Jacqui Himbury Nurse Director, BHR CCGs Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG)

Jenni Coombes Head of Service at Be First Be First

Katherine Gilcreest Head of Support, Community 
Solutions

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Lucy Satchell-Day Head of Stakeholders and 
Partnerships

Community Rehabilitation Company 
(CRC)

Mark Long Superintendent, Deputy BCU 
Commander

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

Matthew Cole Director of Public Health London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Melody Williams North East London Foundation 
Trust (NELFT)

North East London Foundation Trust 
(NELFT)

Pip Salvador-Jones Director Barking and Dagenham 
Citizens Advice Bureau

Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB)

Rita Chadha Council for Voluntary Service Barking and Dagenham Council for 
Voluntary Service (BDCVS)

Dina Sahmanovic
INTERIM REP

Senior Service Delivery Manager Barking and Dagenham Victim 
Support

Steve Thompson Safer Neighbourhood Board Safer Neighbourhood Board (SNB)

Stephen Clayman EAST AREA BCU Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

Terrance Chaplin Borough Commander London Fire Brigade (LFB)

Non-LBBD Advisers
Name Post title Organisation
Kit Weller MOPAC Link Officer Mayor’s Office for Policing and 

Crime (MOPAC)
John Goodwin Neighbourhood Policing Inspector Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)
Kimberly Cope Partnerships Inspector Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)

LBBD Advisers and Observers



Name Post title Organisation
Hazel North-
Stephens

Commissioner, Healthy Lifestyles 
Service, Adults’ Care and Support

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham

Jonathan Woodhams Police and ASB Manager, Community 
Safety

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham

Sonia Drozd Senior Commissioner, Healthy 
Lifestyles Service, Adults’ Care and 
Support

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham

Contact Officer: Jade Hodgson
Tel.: 020 8227 5784

E-mail: Jade.hodgson@lbbd.gov.uk

mailto:Jade.hodgson@lbbd.gov.uk


THE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

Wednesday, 31 March 2021
(10.00-13.00) 

Members Present: Andy Opie, Angie Fuller, April Bald, Brian Parrott, Councillor Carpenter, 
Councillor Mullane, Councillor Worby, Hazel North-Stephens, Ioannis Mathioudakis, Jade Hodgson 
(NOTE TAKER), Jennie Coombes, Jonathan Woodhams, Laurence Piemonte, Mark Long, Nathan 
Singleton, Sonia Drozd, Stephen Clayman (CHAIR) and Stephen Thompson.  

Additional Attendees: Chris Lyons, Florence Henry, Ifthahar Ahmed, Phillippa Bannister, Sophie 
Hardcastle and Thomas Llewyn- Jones

Apologies: Antony Rose, Daniel James, Fiona Taylor, Helen Davie, Kevin Makambe, Kit Weller, 
Lucy Satchell-Day, Narinder Dail, Matthew Cole, Melody Williams, and Pip Salvador-Jones. 

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Stephen Clayman, CSP chair opened the March Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 
board and apologies were noted. 

ACTION: All outstanding signatures on the new Information Sharing Agreement are 
required, partners who are still required to review and return the ISA are Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC), Mayors Office for Policing and Crime, National 
Probation Service (NPS) and North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT)

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

No declarations of interest to note.

3. MINUTES AND ACTION LOG

The minutes from December’s CSP board were reviewed and confirmed as correct. All 
actions were closed, with the exception of the reunification of NPS and CRC which is 
scheduled for June board. 

4. STREET SPACE PILOT

Street Space were commissioned to deliver a pilot to explore perceptions of safety at 
Barking Station. The pilot was designed to work and listen to residents, business and 
those who use the station to better understand residents’ perceptions and co-create an 
activation to improve perceptions of safety. The pilot followed the process of discover, co-
design, test and reflect and through the survey and workshops Street Space identified. 

 86% felt unsafe outside barking station, the four reasons for feeling unsafe were, 
other people, the area felt run down, the space is dark and high speed traffic. 

 Residents found it hard to relate with other people leading to a disconnected with 
other people and moved through the station quickly adding to the space feeling 
uncomfortable. 

 The area is uncared for which makes it feel unseen and unregulated. 
 Lack of care and maintenance impacted the levels of crime at the station. 
 By asking how we can improve perceptions in a more helpful way outside of 

looking at enforcement and more policing it allowed residents to be involved in 
design and change. 

 The pilot used inspired ideas gathered through workshops and surveys and filmed 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 3



noises from across the borough then worked in partnership with the council and 
C2C to implement the sound activation for 2 weeks. 

 Upon review, 65% of residents who participated said they felt calmer and 70% felt 
the space was more cared for. 

Recommendations: 
1. Create opportunities for live music and performances to bring energy, 

entertainment and community feel to the space 
2. Harness nature to create a sensory and relaxing atmosphere, explore partnering 

with local businesses around the station to add plants and colour.
3. Commissioning local artwork to humanise the space and reflect local communities. 
4. Increase active bystander training through organisations like Arc Theatre for 

change. The pilot highlighted the importance of looking at how interactive 
intervention and council and partner activities can work together to improve 
perceptions and how interventions can they support council plans to making 
barking station a safer space for everyone. 

Councillor Carpenter commended they work and queried if bystander training can link in 
and address issues of responding to low level sexual harassment. This was agreed to be 
explored.  The board accepted the recommendations and agreed to explore how these 
can be taken forward. 

5. DOMESTIC ABUSE COMMISSION UPDATE

The Domestic Abuse Commission chaired by Polly Neate brought together national 
experts to explore the attitude towards domestic abuse, the response and create a 
blueprint for other Local Authorities. The commission developed links with local 
communities and engaged with over 500 residents, professionals, and survivors. Survivors 
were at the heart of the commission and co-produced the report and its recommendations 
with survivor based outcomes and we believe you key message. The report and video of 
local survivors were launched at a virtual event in March 2021 and will be presented at 
Cabinet on 20th April 2021.  

Councillor Worby urged partners to read the report, watch the survivor’s video and share 
through organisations. By listening to their lived experiences, it highlights how systems 
have let survivors down and this commission will offer a stepped approach to change for 
all partners. Councillor Worby and Councillor Mullane wrote to Sophie Linden to discuss 
how training is delivered to support a system change which cannot be achieved locally.  
Domestic abuse matters training is being rolled out through the MPS from the summer 
and exploring a virtual reality pilot for a different sense and effective method of learning.  
The we believe you campaign will be launched with the aim to launch through all 
organisations to become the borough strapline on domestic abuse. 

6. MARAC EFFECTIVENESS AND DEVELOPMENT

A review was undertaken to understand how effective the MARAC is by looking at data 
and working with survivors. There is appetite to look at a daily response to MARAC, but 
we need to understand effectiveness before big changes are made. The review has taken 
learning from the Domestic Abuse Commission and will also be overlaid with the quality 
assurance framework via safeguarding that looks at do we understand lived experiences, 
have lived experiences improved and what impact has been made. The VAWG CSP 
subgroup has not been in place so have brought together a MARAC steering group more 
operation to work as a partnership to support the MARAC. The governance agreed with 
see the steering group report into the CSP and both safeguarding boards. The report 
highlights the following. 

 We understand lives experiences, this can be heard through via the survivor’s 

Page 2



video
o Able to unpick data across all partners
o Looked at case studies around 17% of 2020 caseload, speaking to 

survivors, advocate feedback and feedback on difference MARAC have 
made. 

 Lived experiences have improved slightly
o Served well when there is not multiple disadvantage 
o MARAC is set up to be reactive to immediate risk but not set up for long 

term plan needs for survivors, this is included within the recommendations 
o Timelines have significantly improved, since COVID-19 MARAC has been 

held weekly
o Although there is always a lot of domestic abuse, the referrals into MARAC 

are inconsistent across services this has changed since the weekly 
MARAC

o Not getting early intervention pathways through and are seeing people 
through escalation process, this has been built into recommendations

 Impacts and difference we are making
o Leadership perspective, governance in place to effective support MARAC
o Need to tie into Tri-borough VAWG to improve strategic offer – Safe Lives 

offered to chair tri-borough subgroup. 
o Manager’s perspective has been positive and have improved escalation 

pathways and frontline believe the MARAC to be more connected and 
effective with multi-directional pathways.

The recommendations highlighted the need to build better performance framework to 
effectively report into 3 partnership boards and cabinet members portfolio holders. Put 
forward daily risk management meeting, which is focused on high risk MASH cases. 
Challenges getting the right seniority from MPS at the daily risk management panel. A big 
focus on training and aligning training with Safe and Together. There is a need to build in 
lived experiences and work more closely with the survivor’s voice panel alongside the 
MARAC. Adults that are missed for not meeting requirements of adult social care or 
mental health needs early help pathway for adults. Development of DATS and MATACs, 
IOM could be a better fit for holding a domestic abuse perpetrator panel as MARAC is 
more survivors focused. Suggested an annual MARAC report. 

Nathan Singleton raised concerns that the VAWG strategic subgroup has not been 
meeting, it was advised that work has been undertaken virtually and positive relationships 
have been built to work effectively. Additionally, this has sparked the development of the 
tri-borough VAWG subgroup. Stephen Clayman queried how the CSP can support with 
the move of domestic abuse perpetrator panel into the IOM. This has not yet been 
developed but do have the support in place for referrals and the reMove abuse steering 
group.

Hazel North-Stephens provided feedback from a professional working with survivor that 
was a case via MARAC highlighting how positive the partnership working and response 
was to support. 

The board accepted the recommendations.
  
ACTION: Jonathan Woodhams and Chris Lyons to connect Hazel North-Stephens 
into IOM to discuss management of perpetrator panel alongside IOM. 

7. CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING AND CHILD EXPLOITATION UPDATE

In 2018, LBBD were successful in a bid and are one of four boroughs to partner with the 
University of Bedfordshire on a 3 year pilot to embed a contextual safeguarding approach 
across the borough. Contextual safeguarding looks at extrafamilial contexts being risks 

Page 3



young people face outside of the family, looking at peer groups, schools, and 
neighbourhoods. This links to the previous item delivered by Street Space around 
perceptions of safety within public spaces. 

The University of Bedfordshire coined the concept of contextual safeguarding and the pilot 
looks at what we need to change in our systems to embed the approach. The contextual 
safeguarding framework follows, 

 Domain 1 Target: Prevent, identify, assess, and intervene, 
 Domain 2 Legislative framework: Incorporate extra-familial contexts into 

frameworks, 
 Domain 3 Partnerships: Develop partnerships who are responsible for nature of 

extra-familial contexts,
 Domain 4 Outcome measures: Monitor outcomes and change.  

The three year pilot looks at create, test, and embed and will delivery three pilots 
 Pilot 1: School safety summit mapping at safe and unsafe spaces, on analysis this 

pilot ragged domain 1 and 3 as green and 2 and 4 as amber. This highlighted 
strong partnership engagement and commitment to a safeguarding approach. The 
main learning needs to be focused on measuring outcomes. 

 Pilot 2: Peer group assessment incorporating wider assessment of young people 
peer groups and wider issue that exist for young people. On analysis domain 1, 2 
and 3 were marked as green and domain 4 as amber noting that impact was 
considered by not clear measure of change. 

 Pilot 3: Contextual conferencing and how young people can manage risk (deep 
dive on topics of learning and interesting – presenting learning to other boroughs)

Preparation for pilot 3 is underway which will focus on contextual conferencing for those 
on CIN plans but where the risk is extra-familial. We will continue to embed learning from 
pilot 2 and complete peer assessment across the service and continue to deliver ongoing 
training and testing. Surveys with local business at Barking station are being complete to 
increase engagement and communities within the contextual safeguarding agenda. 

8. RESETTLEMENT OF YOUNG PEOPLE COMING OUT OF SECURE ESTATES - 
A PARTNERSHIP RESPONSE

The HMIP thematic report on youth resettlement looked a lives and experiences of 50 
young people who had been released from custody between October 2018- April 2019. 
The findings have shown that little positive progress has been made and highlighted the 
following

 In custody little partnership working took place to ensure suitable provision was 
available upon release,

 The focus was on filling time in custody rather than preparing for release, 
 Planning did not happen from the outset 
 In many cases young people did not have employment, education or training or 

suitable accommodation. 

LBBD self-assessment within the National Standards for resettlement was inadequate as 
there was evidence of planning but was not always effective, no evidence of a robust 
process for holding others to account on transitions from custody to community and there 
was no board oversight for remand or custody children. LBBD completed our own review 
of the lives and experiences of 12 children within the same time frame. The findings of 
both the HMIP and LBBD reviews are.

 Criminal Justice: HMIP findings showed 10 had been convicted for further 
offences, ten breached and 6 had gone missing. LBBD found 6 had been 
convicted for a further offence, 1 breached and 1 missing. 

 Accommodation: HMIP saw 30 return to live with families, 11 to local authority 

Page 4



accommodation and 7 into supported accommodation. LBBD found 5 returned to 
families, 4 into local authority accommodation, 2 in supported accommodation and 
1 remanded 

 Education and Training: HMIP found there was very little join up on release, few 
YOT education and training workers visited in custody and only education or 
training began immediately for 11 individuals. LBBD found 1 received a visit from 
an advisor, 9 were NEET, 2 employed and 1 alternative provision. 

 Health Needs: HMIP noted over 60% had identified health needs but only 26% 
cases had evidence of support after release. LBBD identified 2 with physical health 
needs, 5 mental health issues, 2 SLCN and all were offered services. 

 Substance Misuse: HMIP identified 75% had identified substance misuse, only 
44% had support on release. LBBD found 8 with substance misuse, all used 
cannabis, 1 also used legal high and 1 used crack cocaine. All received support 
via YOS subwize worker. 

 Social care: HMIP 27 needed input from children social care but only 6 had 
received adequate support. LBBD only 1 had not been previously involved with 
services, 7 LAC, 3 previously on CIN plan and 1 currently on CIN plan.

 Transition to probation: HMIP 10 became 18 years whilst in custody, and LBBD, 3 
turned 18 prior to release and 4 turned 18 within 6 months of release. Probation 
staff in community advise none had been trained on transitions

Resettlement panel has been developed reporting into the YOS board to look at early 
planning ready for discharge and to monitor remand young people to support on court 
trials and potential bail packages. The panel are working through the backlog to ensure 
every young person has a suitable support package in place. Partnership engagement 
and seniority is key to support decision making. The YOS Board has the correct 
representation and support which has helped fund a dedicated education worker within 
the YOS. The board has introduced a young person to help inject the voice and lived 
experiences of young people and to help inform the direct travel. 

ACTION: Councillor Carpenter, Councillor Mullane and Councillor Worby to 
convene a joint portfolio to look at data and improve outcomes around EET. 
ACTION: Stephen Clayman to identify correct MPS representative for resettlement 
panel.

9. PSPO UPDATE

Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO) were introduced in 2014 as part of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to provide powers to address anti-social 
behaviour. In 2018, four orders were introduced in Barking Town Centre, Broad Street, 
Heathway, and a dog fouling order covering three parks within the borough. 

The council have recently undertaken a consultation on Barking Town Centre and Broad 
Street PSPO’s as the orders were due to expire in March 2021. The consultation 
consisted of resident’s surveys, partner feedback and a review of local data which was 
collated into an evidence pack. A public meeting was hosted and chaired by Councillor 
Mullane for further resident consultation. The resident feedback from the consultation was 
positive with 83% in support of Barking Town Centre PSPO and 91% in support of Broad 
Street PSPO. Following consultation, it was agreed to implement the orders for a further 
36 months which went live in Barking Town Centre and Broad Street on 19 March 2021. 
Additional signage is being installed and increased enforcement within the areas with over 
20 patrols taken place in the last week resulting in fixed penalty notices and alcohol 
seizures. The orders prohibit the following behaviours. 

 Any groups engaging in behaviour which causes residents and other users of the 
area nuisance, annoyance, harassment, alarm, or distress. 

 Begging
 Consumption of alcohol in a public place

Page 5



 Public urination 
 Spitting

The next steps will be to start a consultation process for the Heathway and Dog Fouling 
PSPO. The board noted the support of the orders.  

10. RESTRICTED: PARTNERSHIP DELIVERY TO VRU SERIOUS VIOLENCE PLAN

Monitoring meetings are in place to review delivery, MPS are keen to continue to facilitate 
tri-borough meetings to review work being delivered across the East BCU. The VRU 
provided positive feedback on the scope of the plan and the joint up working across the 
BCU which they are keen to use as best practice for other London Boroughs. The 
following updates were provided.

 Perpetrator programme: Home Office funding is in place until December 2021, 
programme has taken on evaluation partner, looking at how we can ensure police 
data is built into the programme. There are 100 places available, with 10 able to 
access support around accommodate, the programme is currently up to 58 
referrals. 

 Intel Capacity: The council have existing intel capacity in place however 
Community Safety are liaising with colleagues to see if we can put in more 
capacity to support requirements of the CSP. Some area identified are on deep 
dives and problem profiles. The next CSP board will focus on strategic assessment 
looking at broader crime on trends and analysis.

 Stop and Search Monitoring Group have not met over the last year due to 
restrictions therefore have the right level of oversight that would normally be in 
place. There are new rules on viewing of body worn cameras that need to be taken 
forward with MPS. 

ACTION: MPS to continue to work with Stephen Thompson to move forward Stop 
and Search Monitoring Group. 

RESTRICTED MPS Update on Operational Wordwell
Restricted due to sensitive information.

11. RESTRICTED: PREVENT UPDATE

Restricted due to sensitive information.

12. RESTRICTED: DVHR UPDATE

Restricted due to sensitive information.

13. FORWARD PLAN

The board agreed the Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment and CLTP were to be the 
main agenda items for June CSP board. Members were asked to review the forward plan 
and confirm what can be postponed to September board. 

14. AOB

Stephen Clayman questioned at what point the borough gets an early insight into the 
latest census data, although LBBD data insight is good, the outcome of the census will 
need to be considered. It was advised Mark Tyson is leading from a local authority 
perspective. 

Page 6



(i) PERFORMANCE REPORT

Crime data has shown a reduction around violent offences with the exception of 
domestic abuse which has a different trajectory. 

(ii) CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING AND YOS BOARD

LBBD have seen a rise in first time entrants (FTE), a significant level of work 
around FTE has been done including the development of a new subgroup.  Work 
is underway with local faith groups to support the partnership in tackling serious 
youth violence. The tootoot pilot with 15 schools aims to increase reporting of 
cyber bullying, stress and mental health, domestic abuse, knife crime, hate crime 
and sexual abuse, aiming to roll out to all schools. We are seeing large increase of 
referrals where children and young people are being exploited online. The St Giles 
Trust BRAVE training being rolled out via Prevent could support this work. The 
group are exploring how to use the Parent Carer Champion network to look at 
work with parents to understand what young people are doing online. The Lost 
Hours phase 2 has been launched providing resource packs to parents and 
schools and a new initiative around safe spaces and safe havens in being rolled 
out. Key challenges identified are on online harm, increased demand on front door, 
450% more referrals coming through from schools compared to this time last year 
59% more assessments. 

ACTION: Tom Llewellyn-Jones and April Bald to discuss St Giles Trust 
BRAVE training. 
ACTION: Jade Hodgson to add First Time Entrants to future CSP Agenda
ACTION: Angie Fuller and April Bald to link with CSP Partners to collectively 
join up messaging around online safety and work with parents to understand 
the risk. 

(iii) HATE, INTOLERANCE AND EXTREMISM SUB-GROUP

The last meeting took place on 30th March, there is ongoing work to ensure the 
correct processes are in place for reporting tensions from both schools and 
communities. The group are looking at learning from operational Wordwell are 
exploring the development of a model to set out how we can respond and mobilise 
quickly. Key focus going forward will be on the Port inquest and George Floyd trial.

(iv) REDUCING RE-OFFENDENDING SUB-GROUP

No written report submitted by chair of the Reducing Reoffending Board 
and chair not present to provide a verbal update. 

(v) VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS

No further updates to provide.

(vi) IVOLT

The subgroup continues to meet on a monthly and well attended nu partners. The 
group monitors data from LFB, repeat callers, licencing and also monitors the 
MOPAC priorities and trends. The group have been working with MPS on ASB 
early warning notices and reviews TTCG data to look at hotspots and how we can 
response as a partnership.  

Page 7



(vii) SAFER NEIGHBOURHOOD BOARD UPDATE

Regular board meetings and 2 public meetings have been held. Some residents 
have found it hard to participate in online meetings, the SNB have raised concerns 
around how to redevelop and bring back the wider community engagement. 

(viii) SAFEGUARDING BOARDS

The SAB have been focused on covid- related issues with the partnership 
including health, LFB and NPS. Priorities shared with CSP are domestic abuse, 
exploitation is all forms and areas of self-neglect. The board managers are 
connected and work well together as a group, it was noted for board chairs to 
participate in meetings to ensure the work is aligned and meets all boards different 
statutory responsibilities. 

ACTION: Board chairs to join partnership board managers meeting to ensure 
the information flow and governance. 

15. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Community Safety Partnership Board
Wednesday 30 June 2021, 10:00am-13:00pm
MS Teams 
Chair: Councillor Mullane

Page 8



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP  

REPORT  

Subject:  Safeguarding Guidance for Faith, Out of School and Community 
Settings  

Date:  Wednesday 30 June 2021  

Author:  Mike Cullern, Safeguarding review and commissioning  

Contact:  Mike.cullern@lbbd.gov.uk   

Security:  [Unprotected] 

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required  
1.1 To provide the Community Safety Partnership with an update on the Safeguarding 

Guidance for Faith, Out of School and Community Settings. This document 
provides community organisations a framework of safe practice related to 
safeguarding children.   

 

2. Recommendation(s)  
2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:  

• Ratify the document as safeguarding guidance to ensure that Faith, OOSS and 
Community organisations have a document which outlines the basic 
safeguarding practice required when working with children.  

  
3.  Overview  
3.1 The document provides guidance on general forms of harm, key legislation and 

government guidance, local procedures, safe working practice and policy templates   

4. List of Appendices:  
Appendix 1: Safeguarding Guidance document (Green Book)  

   
  

Page 9

AGENDA ITEM 4

mailto:Mike.cullern@lbbd.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1  
  

 

                                                                                                                            
 
 

LBBD  

Safeguarding   

Children Guidance  

  

(The Green Book)  

  

Policy and Procedures for  

Voluntary, Community, Faith, 
Private Organisations and Out of 
School settings. 

  
 
  
  
 V2: January 2021 
  
  
This document was originally developed in 2013 and has been updated to reflect current changes in local 
and national policies and procedures.  

Page 11



2  
  

  
  

Who should use this Guidance? 

  
This Guidance should be used by all organisations, groups and individuals in the voluntary 
and community sector providing information, advice and or support to children, young 
people and or/families, whether or not, they are registered as a charity with the Charity 
Commission.   
 
It applies to all VCS staff and volunteers, including trustees, committee members, senior 
management, religious leaders, students on work placements and sessional workers.   
 
This document should also be adopted by individuals such as a tutor, organisations who 
provide out of school provision, such as clubs and sports activities and faith organisations 
who provide religious based supplementary education to children and young people. 
  
How to use this Guidance?  
  
This green book should inform the day-to-day work of all groups and organisations in direct 
contact with children and or families.   
 
The process for adopting the Green Book as your organisation’s policy and procedures is 
explained in Chapter 2.   
 
While all staff and volunteers are encouraged to gradually familiarise themselves with the 
contents of the Green Book, the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL), Deputy Designated 
Safeguarding Lead, trustees and (senior) managers are advised to read through the whole 
document carefully and explore relevant resources referenced in the book.   
  
It is also the responsibility of the Designated Safeguarding Lead and their deputies to 
support all staff and volunteers in understanding the Green Book and applying it in their 
everyday work.   
  
  
Accessing additional resources:   
 
Further guidance, information and training opportunities can be found on the NSPCC 
website under Voluntary and Community organisations. In addition, local guidance and 
training information can be obtained on the Barking and Dagenham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership website: 
 
https://bdsafeguarding.org/ 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

https://bdsafeguarding.org/


3  
  

 

Contents  
Section 1   Basic Principles   

Safeguarding Children – The 5 R’s  
5  
6  

Section 2  Introduction: Adopting the Green Book as your policy and procedures  9  

Section 3 Keeping Children Safe in Out-of-school-settings (OOSS)  

Section 4  Key Definitions   10  

Section 5 Keeping the child at the centre of your work  14  

Section 6 Legislation   15  
 
  
  

Section 7 Types and indicators of abuse  
• Physical Abuse  
• Accidental and non-accidental physical injury chart  
• Emotional Abuse  
• Neglect   
• Sexual Abuse  

16 
  

16  
17  
18  
19  
20  

Section 8  Children in Specific Circumstances  
• Disabled Children   
• Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)  
• Forced Marriage  
• Honour based violence  
• Gangs and Serious Youth Violence   
• Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT)  
• Missing Children   
• Private Fostering   
• Sexual Exploitation   
• Spirit Possession or Witchcraft  
• Trafficking   
• Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children  
• Peer on Peer Abuse 
• Criminal Exploitation 
• Radicalisation and Extremism 

 

21  
  

21 
21  
22  
22  
22  
23  
23  
23  
24  
24  
25  
25  
25 
26 
26  

Section 9 Safeguarding Children in Diverse and Faith Communities   28  

Section 10 Domestic Abuse  29  

Section 11  What to do if you are worried a child is being abused  31  
  

37  

Page 13



4  
  

 

Section 12 LBBD Multi-Agency Threshold of Need  39  

Section 13  Responding to a child/young person (allegations of abuse)  42  

Section 14  The role and responsibilities of the Designated Safeguarding Lead 
(DSL). 

43  

Section 15  Allegations against Staff and Volunteers who work with children 47  
  

Section 16  Information Sharing – GDPR and Seven Golden Rules 
 

49  
  

Section 17 Online/E-safety   
E-safety incident flowchart  

51  
53  

Section 18  Staff and Volunteer recruitment and selection   54  

Section 19  Disclosure and Barring Service  55  

Section 20  Managing Staff and Volunteers  58  

Section 21 Protecting yourself when working alone  60  

Section 22 Good practice in your setting  
  

Adult to child ratios  
Safety tips for outings and trips  
Reducing the risk of children going missing   
Photographing and recording children   
Use of mobile phone guidance  

61  
  

61  
61  
62  
63  
64  

Section 23 Insurance and Risk Assessment  
  

Insurance   
Risk Assessment   

65  
  

65  
67  

Section 24 Other Policies in your organisation   68  

Appendix 1  Safeguarding Procedures Checklist  69  

Appendix 2  Guidance on developing a safeguarding policy statement Model Policy 
Statement  

71  
72  

Appendix 3  Model code of behaviour for staff and volunteers  74  

Appendix 4  Recording log  76  

Appendix 5  Model Risk Assessment form   78  

Appendix 6 Key Contacts in LBBD   
Other useful contacts   
Resource Bank Commonly used acronyms  

84  
85  
86  

Page 14



5  
  

 

Section 1  

Basic Principles  
  
  

• The child’s welfare is paramount   
  

• Safeguarding children and young people is the responsibility of everyone.   
  

• All children and young people have the right to protection from abuse regardless of 
their race, ethnicity, immigration status, religion or belief, sex, gender identity, sexual 
orientation, or disability. This includes unborn children and children aged 0-18years.   
  

• All allegations and suspicions of abuse will be taken seriously and responded to 
swiftly and appropriately. This must not be ignored.   

  

• If somebody believes that a child may be suffering, or is at risk of suffering significant 
harm, they should always refer the concern to Children’s Social Care or the Police.   
  

• All voluntary, community, faith and private organisations/service providers working 
with children/young people and their families must take all reasonable measures to 
ensure that risks of harm to children and young people are minimised.   
 

• All organisations and persons working or volunteering with children should hold the 
view that ‘it could happen here’ when considering the safeguarding of children. 
When concerned about the welfare of a child, staff should always act in the best 
interests of the child. 
  

  
  Every group/organisation MUST select a senior member of staff or  
          manager who has specific responsibility for safeguarding and child  
            protection issues (this would usually be someone working on site).  
    
  For the purpose of this document we refer to this person as the  
  ‘Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)’   
  
  
  
  
  See Chapter 13 for guidelines for the Designated Safeguarding Lead     

Page 15



6  
  

  

 
 

Safeguarding Children- The 5 R’s  
  
 Recognise:   
  

• Be Vigilant   
• Know the children you work with   
• Be familiar with the types and indicators of abuse   

  
 Respond:   
  

• Never ignore concerns, signs or reports related to children’s wellbeing and safety   
• Do not delay your response   

  
 Report:  
  

• Always report your concerns to the Designated Safeguarding Lead or their 
Deputy   

• Ensure every member of staff/ volunteer is aware of who the DSL and Deputy 
DSL are.   

  
 Record:  
  

• Always make a record of what happened – the incident or concern, the exact 
words of the child where possible, if they made a disclosure and any immediate 
actions taken.   

• Use your organisation’s standard recording log   
• Don’t delay it – record information as soon as possible  

  
 Refer:  

• All cases where there is a concern about significant harm of risk this must be 
referred to LBBD Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) using the online Multi-
Agency Referral Form (MARF) https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-
concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals 

• MASH can be contacted on 020 8227 3811 
• This should be completed by DSL, but all staff should be familiar with the process 

of referring concerns to children’s services.   
  
 
If you believe a child to be at immediate risk of harm, please call the Police on 999 
 
  

Page 16

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals


7  
  

Section 2  

Introduction: Adopting the Green Book 
as your policy and procedures  

  
All organisations working with children and young people should have up-to-date child 
protection procedures in place, which are compliant with the London Child Protection 
Procedures and Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.   
  
Organisations that do not currently have their own policies and procedures can use this 
document to create their own or adopt this Green Book as their policy and procedures. 
Those organisations, including those affiliated with national bodies’ e.g. church diocese, 
sports organisations, should use this document to ensure that their local settings follow 
these procedures. This is important as there must be a consistent approach to how 
children and young people are safeguarded and supported in LBBD.   
  
By adopting these procedures, your organisation has agreed to be committed to 
implementing these procedures so that everyone understands and accepts their 
responsibilities to safeguard children from harm and abuse.   
  
The aim of this document is to promote good practice and to ensure that everyone 
involved in the provision of support and activities to children and young people in LBBD:  
  

• Understands their personal responsibility for protecting the children they work 
with; 

• Is able to take appropriate action if there are suggestions that a child/young 
person is being abused; 

• Is informed and able to respond in a supportive manner to any child/young 
person who alleges or discloses that abuse is happening; and   

• Takes steps to minimise opportunities for misunderstanding by following a code 
of conduct.   

  
  
Please note that if you adopt these procedures you must also have a ‘policy 
statement’, which states your organisations commitment to child protection.  

This statement should be displayed in your setting, e.g. on a wall/notice 
Board or website, for everyone to see (parents/carers, staff/volunteers and the 
children/young people).  
  
 
 
 
 

Page 17



8  
  

 Section 3 
 
 

Keeping Children Safe in Out-of-School 
Settings (OOSS) 

 
Are you a coach, or run an independent after school club, activity or tuition for children 
and young people?  

This guidance has now been extended to include all Out of School Setting and will help you 
understand how you can run a safe out-of-school setting that ensures the safety and welfare 
of the children you are working with.  

We are aware that many of children and young people attend activities outside of school, be 
it music lessons, sports, tuition, or religious education. The Children Act 2004 places a duty 
on groups and organisations to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of children.  

The Green Book outlines best practices and provide you with guidance and a range of 
resources that will help you develop/ strengthen existing policies and procedures to be able 
to respond to child protection concerns.  

What is an Out-of-School Settings? 
 
An Out of School setting (OOSS) is an individual, organisation or setting providing tuition, 
training, instruction, or activities to children. This does not apply to schools, academies or 
colleges registered with the Department for Education (DfE).  

The following is a non-exhaustive list of some out-of-school settings:  

• Tuition centres and supplementary school (which may be used to support 
mainstream, or home education) e.g. key stage 1-4 curriculum; English and 
mathematics skills; examination preparation (i.e. SATs, GCSE, A Level and 11 plus / 
school entry exams) etc.  

• Extracurricular clubs or settings, e.g. ballet or music classes, drama or sports clubs.  
• Uniformed youth organisations, e.g. the Scouts and Guides, Cadet services.  
• Open access youth providers, e.g. centre-based and detached youth work.  
• Private language schools, including those for children coming from abroad.  
• Religious settings which offer education on their own faith, culture, religious texts, 

preparation for rites of passage, etc. e.g. Jewish yeshivas and chedarim, Muslim 
madrassahs, Hindu OOSS, Sikh OOSS, Christian Sunday schools, etc. 

You may be delivering in a range of venues, from private residential settings, larger and 
more formal settings such as community and youth centres, sports clubs, schools and 
places of worship. Fees may or may not be charged, and some settings may be operating 
on a commercial basis.  

 

Page 18



9  
  

 

OOSS are currently not regulated in the same way as mainstream Schools and childcare 
provisions and therefore, not required to be registered with Ofsted, Department for 
Education or the council. However, you have a duty of care to the children who attend 
your sessions and must take reasonable steps to ensure that your setting is a safe place and 
is able to protect them from harm. 

To ensure that your organisation is taking reasonable steps to ensure the safety of the 
children and young people using your service. We recommend as a minimum for all OOSS to 
have the following policies and practices in place: 

• Child Protection / safeguarding policy, including a designated lead for safeguarding.   
• Health and Safety Policy  
• Suitability of staff and volunteer’s policy, including appropriate DBS checks.  

As well as having all the relevant and up to date policies and procedures to run an OOSS, it is 
important that all staff and volunteers understand and have appropriate training. You should 
also have appropriate insurances such as public liability insurance, more information on this 
can be found in this guidance on page 62.  

As part of taking up policies to help insure children are appropriately safe, providers should 
also try to ensure that parents and carers are made aware of, and are satisfied with, the 
arrangement and environment before they choose to send their child to you setting.  

It is parents’ and carers’ right to check and receive assurance of the safety of a setting. 
Therefore, you should be able to reassure parents and carers that your setting is a safe place 
to send their children.  

Childcare providers: Register with Ofsted 

Most childcare providers looking after children under the age of 8 must register with Ofsted. 
Childminders can choose to register with a childminder agency instead. 

However, there are several exceptions to this. There are some situations when you do not 
have to register with Ofsted, and some when you cannot register (for example, if you are 
related to all the children you want to look after). 

Tutoring, coaching and clubs 

You do not have to register if you provide tutoring or coaching in either one or two of the 
following activities to children aged 3 and over: 

• school study support or homework support 
• sports 
• performing arts 
• arts and crafts 
• religious, cultural or language studies 

However, you cannot look after children under 5 for more than 4 hours in any one day. 

Page 19



10  
  

The activity needs to be the focus of what you offer, such as drama club, choir practice, 
netball or swimming. This should be specific tuition or coaching to help children improve 
their skills, rather than offering childcare for working parents. We do not necessarily expect 
everyone working with children to be a specialist coach, but they should have particular skills 
in those areas to help children improve. 

For further information about when you cannot register and when you do not have to please 
visit Gov.uk Registration Exemptions Guidance (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-
and-childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/registration-exemptions)  

 
Keeping Children Safe in Out of School settings: Government Guidance.  
 
All out of school settings need to ensure they are aware of and adhere to the non-statutory 
government guidance for keeping children safe. Whilst the guidance is non mandatory, there 
is an expectation within Barking and Dagenham that any provision for children is working 
within the parameters of the guidance as a minimum and that the Green Book is adopted as 
part of local policy and procedures to ensure that children are safe. Below are links to the 
relevant guidance. You are advised to ensure that access to these documents is made 
available to parents and carers and that all staff have read and understood the guidance.  
 
General guidance for all settings:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-out-of-school-
settings-code-of-practice  
 
Guidance for tuition and faith groups:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-on-safeguarding-for-providers-
of-tuition-and-faith-groups  
 
Guidance for sports and extracurricular activities: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-providers-on-keeping-
children-safe-in-sports-clubs-and-other-extra-curricular-activities  
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-for-providers-of-extra-
curricular-clubs-youth-organisations-and-study-groups  
 
Guidance for all settings:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/seven-steps-checklist-towards-running-a-
safe-club-activity-or-tuition-class-for-children  
 
Guidance for parents and carers:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-
safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings  
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-parents-choosing-an-after-
school-club-community-activity-or-tuition  
 
 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-and-childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/registration-exemptions
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-and-childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/registration-exemptions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-out-of-school-settings-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-out-of-school-settings-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-on-safeguarding-for-providers-of-tuition-and-faith-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-on-safeguarding-for-providers-of-tuition-and-faith-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-providers-on-keeping-children-safe-in-sports-clubs-and-other-extra-curricular-activities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-providers-on-keeping-children-safe-in-sports-clubs-and-other-extra-curricular-activities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-for-providers-of-extra-curricular-clubs-youth-organisations-and-study-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-for-providers-of-extra-curricular-clubs-youth-organisations-and-study-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/seven-steps-checklist-towards-running-a-safe-club-activity-or-tuition-class-for-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/seven-steps-checklist-towards-running-a-safe-club-activity-or-tuition-class-for-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-parents-and-carers-on-safeguarding-children-in-out-of-school-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-parents-choosing-an-after-school-club-community-activity-or-tuition
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-for-parents-choosing-an-after-school-club-community-activity-or-tuition


11  
  

 
 

                                                                     Section 4 
 

Key Definitions   
  
  

Term   
  

Definition  

  
Abuse  
  

A form of maltreatment of a child. Somebody may abuse or neglect 
a child by inflicting harm or by failing to act to prevent harm. 
Children may be abused in a family or in an institutional or 
community setting by those known to them or, more rarely by 
others (e.g. via the internet). They may be abused by an adult or 
adults, or another child or children.   

  
Child   
  

 
A child is anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday.  
 
  

  
Child in Need  
  

Under Section 17 (10) of the Children’s Act 1989, a child is in need if 
without the provision of local authority services:   

• He or she is unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable 
standard of health or development;  

• His or her health or development is likely to be significantly 
impaired; or   

• He or she has a disability   
  
Child Protection  
  

The process of protecting individual children identified as either 
suffering, or at risk of suffering significant harm as a result of abuse 
or neglect. It is a part of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children.   

Children perceived 
as ‘different’  
  
  

Research indicates that children who may be perceived as ‘different’ 
e.g. disabled children, children from minority ethnic groups or 
cultures and children with differing sexual orientations are 
vulnerable to abuse. It is therefore vital that all agencies promote 
equality of opportunity and anti-discriminatory practice. Failure to 
do so may expose particular children to significant harm.  

 

Page 21



12  
  

  
Disclosure and  
Barring Service  
(DBS)   

The DBS is designed to help prevent unsuitable people from working 
with children and vulnerable adults. Anyone working or volunteering 
with children should be DBS checked as part of the recruitment 
process. If there is a possibility that a person will work with children 
unsupervised, they will require an enhanced DBS check. 
 
In all cases where someone has been dismissed from either paid or 
unpaid employment / volunteering due to concerns about their 
behaviour towards a child or vulnerable adult, or has behaved in a 
way which suggests they are not suitable to work with children, then 
it is the organisations responsibility to refer that person to the DBS 
for consideration of barring them from working with children and 
vulnerable adults. 
 
Further guidance can be found from the Disclosure and Barring 
Service website https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-
record 

 
Early Help 

We recognise that there may be times that some families require 
additional support. Community, Faith and Voluntary Organisations 
often have a vital role in the support for children and their families 
where the level of need may not require statutory intervention (see 
definition of Child in Need and Child Protection).  
 
All organisations working with child and families at an early help / 
preventative level, can seek advice and support from the local 
authority https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-professionals-
working-with-children 
 
With parental consent, you are also able to share information and 
form part of the child’s early help network by consulting with 
partners in education, health, housing and other community-based 
organisations.  
 
Often the ability to share information and work in partnership, 
enables the family to receive appropriate early targeted support to 
prevent concerns from escalating.  
 
 

  
Local Authority  
Designated Officer  
(LADO)  

The Local Authority Designated Person is responsible for the 
coordination of the multi-agency response to allegations where a 
person who works or volunteers with children has; 
 

• behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have 
harmed a child; 

• possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a 
child; or  

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-professionals-working-with-children
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-professionals-working-with-children


13  
  

• behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates he 
or she may pose a risk of harm to children. 

 
In all cases where there is concern that the conduct of a staff 
member or volunteer has met the above criteria, the LADO should be 
contacted immediately. 

  
Designated  
Safeguarding Lead 
(DSL) 
 

It is best practice that every organisation has a Designated 
Safeguarding Lead. This person has responsibility for coordinating 
the response to child protection concerns within their organisation, 
is sufficiently trained, is able to support staff and volunteers to 
understand their responsibilities for the safeguarding of children, 
keep accurate and secure records and has sufficient knowledge of 
the local procedures to escalate safeguarding concerns. 
 
Where possible, it is advisable organisations identify a deputy DSL 
who can act in the absence of the Designated Safeguarding Lead and 
who is trained to the same level.  
 
The NSPCC offer training for DSL’s to ensure that they are sufficiently 
equipped with the skills and knowledge to undertake the role. DSL’s 
are also able to enrol on local training specific to the safeguarding of 
children through the Barking and Dagenham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership website.  

  
Parent  

Parent or carer including a person with a Special Guardianship Order 
or Child Arrangement Order. The term can include foster parents 
acting on local authority’s behalf for children in care.  

  
Risk to Children   

Description of an adult or child who has been identified (by 
probation services/ youth offending team, police or health services, 
individually or via the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements) 
as posing an ongoing risk to a child (replaces the term Schedule 1 
offender).   

  
Safeguarding 
and Promoting the 
Welfare of 
Children 

 The process of: 
 

• Protecting children from maltreatment.  
• Preventing impairment of children’s health or development.   
• Ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances 

consistent with the provision of safe and effective care.   
• Taking action to enable all children to have the best life 

chances.   
  

Page 23



14  
  

  
Significant Harm   

A situation where a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, a degree of 
physical, sexual and / or emotional harm (through abuse or neglect), 
which is so harmful that there needs to be compulsory intervention 
by child protection services.   
 
The Children Act 1989 introduced the concept of significant harm as 
the threshold level that justifies compulsory intervention in family 
life in the best interests of children, and gives local authorities a duty 
to make enquiries to decide whether they should take action to 
safeguard or promote the welfare of a child who is suffering, or likely 
to suffer, significant harm.   
 

  
Staff  

Any individual/s working in a voluntary, employed, professional or 
unqualified capacity including foster carers.   
  

  
Third Sector   

Non- governmental organisations that are value driven and which 
principally reinvest their surpluses to further social or cultural 
objectives e.g. voluntary and community organisations, charities, 
social enterprises, co-operatives and mutual’ s.   
  

  
Well-being  

  
The achievement of the best outcome for children. That is, for every 
child to:  
• Be healthy;  
• Stay safe; 
• Enjoy and achieve;  
• Make a positive contribution;  
• Achieve economic well-being, and;  
• Not to cause harm to others.   

  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



15  
  

 
 
 
 

Section 5 

Keeping the child at the centre of  

your work   

  
It is essential that those who work directly with children/young people get to know them as 
individuals and regularly consider how their situation feels to them. This is what is sometimes 
referred to as ‘understanding the child’s lived experience’. 
 
Organisations should prioritise direct communication with children and develop positive and 
respectful relationships with them ensuring the child’s wishes and feeling are the basis of your 
organisation’s approach, plans and or activities.   
 
Children/ young people need to feel they are respected and understood as individuals and to 
have their wishes and feelings consistently taken into account.   
  
The ‘Child’s Voice’ should be central to how we respond to safeguarding and child protection. 
Effective action to keep the child/young person in focus includes:  
 

• Being vigilant and noticing when children appear troubled or anxious.  
• Developing a direct and stable relationship based on trust and understanding with the 

child. 
• Obtaining information from child about his or her needs. 
• Finding out about the child’s wishes and feelings about their situation now as well as 

plans and hopes for the future. 
• Providing children with honest and accurate information about the current situation as 

seen by professionals and future possible actions and interventions.  
• Involving the child in key decision-making (appropriate to age and level of 

understanding). 
• Providing appropriate information to the child about his or her right to protection and 

assistance. 
• Inviting children to make recommendations about the services and assistance they need 

and. 
• Ensuring children have access to independent advice and support (for example through 

advocates or children’s rights officers) to be able to express their views and influence 
decision-making.  
 

It is also very important to obtain and respond to view and experiences of children with regards 
to staff and volunteers. Providing the space for children/young people to voice their 
experiences of contact with staff and volunteers is crucial in building and maintaining a safe and 
responsive environment.   
  

Page 25



16  
  

 
                                                      Section 6 

                               Legislation   
  
Reading legal documents is a daunting task for most people.   
  
It is very important, however that professionals supporting children, young people and 
families are familiar with the laws that make up the child protection system. Rather than 
ploughing through various pieces of legislation, voluntary and community sector 
professionals should focus on familiarising themselves with the key principles and concepts 
contained within certain Acts as this should underpin their work with children and families.   
  
This knowledge is also essential if professionals are to effectively support parents and carers 
to understand the UK system and seek help when needed.   
  
There is a considerable body of legislation. Of fundamental importance are The Children’s 
Act 1989 and The Children’s Act 2004.   
  
The Designated Safeguarding Lead should have a basic understanding of how legislation, and 
local and national policies and procedures underpin our work in the safeguarding of children. 
DSL’s are asked to familiarise themselves with the following documents and pass on 
knowledge through training, team meetings and supervision of all staff.  
 
Below is a list of legislation and statutory and non-statutory guidance which the Designated 
Safeguarding Lead should be familiar with.  
 

• Children Act 1989 (national) 
• Children Act 2004 (national) 
• Children and Families Act 2014 (national) 
• Child and Social Work Act 2017 (national) 
• The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (national) 
• Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2019 (national) 
• What to do if you’re worried a child is being abused 2015 (national) 
• Information Sharing – Advice for Practitioners (national) 
• London Child Protection Procedures (London boroughs) 
• Prevent Duty for England and Wales (2015) under section 26 of the Counter 

Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (national) 
• Barking and Dagenham Threshold Document (local) 
• Barking and Dagenham Procedures for managing allegations against staff and 

volunteers (local). 
 
 Free legal advice from the Coram Children’s Legal Centre (CLC):  
 Family, child and education Legal Advice – 08088 020 008 Mon-Fri 8am-8pm  
 Migrant Children’s Project Legal Advice Line 0207 636 8505 Tues-Thurs 10am-6pm  

Page 26



17  
  

 

                                              Section 7 
 

Types and Indicators of Abuse  
  

Physical abuse   
  
Physical abuse may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or scalding, 
drowning, suffocating, or otherwise causing physical harm to a child (including Female 
Genital Mutilation/female circumcision). Physical harm may also be caused when a parent 
or carer fabricates the symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a child.   
  

    
                          Physical Signs  

  
• Injuries which the child cannot 

explain, or explains unconvincingly  

• Untreated injuries or injuries that 
have been treated inadequately   

• injuries on parts of the body where  
• accidental injury is unlikely, such as  
• the cheeks, chest or thighs   
• bruising in babies and in children who 

are not independently mobile   

• bruising to the face, back, abdomen, 
arms, buttocks, ears and hands  

• bruising which reflects an imprint of  
• an implement or cord, or hand or  
• finger marks   
• multiple bruises – in clusters or of 

uniform shape  

• human bite marks   

• fractures in children under 18 
months  

• fractures that are inconsistent with 
the  

• child's developmental stage  
• scalds, especially those with upward 

splash marks where hot water has  

• been deliberately thrown over the 
child, or tide marks – rings on the 
child's arms, legs or body where the  

 

child has been made to sit or stand in          
very hot water   

• multiple burns, burns with a clearly 
defined edge and burns affecting 
unusual areas of the body such as the 
back, shoulders or buttocks   

 
                     
 
 
               Behavioural Signs 
  

• reluctance to have their parents 
contacted  

• aggressive behaviour or severe 
temper outbursts   

• running away or showing fear of 
going home   

• flinching when approached or 
touched   

• reluctance to get undressed for 
sporting or other activities where 
changing into other clothes is 
normal   

• covering arms and legs even when 
hot   

• depression or moods which are out 
of character with the child's 
general behaviour   

• unnatural compliance with parents 
or carers  

Page 27



 
 

20   
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Please note ,   that the diagrams above show only the common places for certain types of injuries.   

Both accidental and non-accidental injuries can occur ANYWHERE on the body   

INDICATION OF LIKELY 
ACCIDENTAL INJURY 

  INDICATION OF LIKELY NON-
ACCIDENTIAL INJURY 

  

P
age 28



19  
  

  
Emotional Abuse   
  
Emotional abuse is the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child/young people which can 
have severe and persistent effects on the child’s emotional development. It can include:  
  

• Conveying to children that they are worthless or unloved, inadequate, or valued only 
insofar as they meet the needs of another person.   

• Not giving the child opportunities to express their views, deliberately silencing them or 
‘making fun’ of what they say or how they communicate.   

• Inappropriate expectations being imposed on children. These may include interactions 
that are beyond the child’s developmental capability   

• Overprotection and limitation of exploration and learning, or preventing the child 
participating in normal social interaction   

• Seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another such as witnessing domestic violence 
(DV) in the home.   

• Serious bullying (including cyber bullying), causing children frequently to feel frightened 
or in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of children.   

  
Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all types of maltreatment of a child, though it 
may occur alone.   
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

                 Physical Signs 
 

• A failure to grow and thrive; 
• Sudden speech disorders; 
• Delayed Development; 
• Physical or emotional stress 

related illnesses (e.g. eating 
disorders); 

• Continually putting 
themselves down or 
observing caregivers being 
overly critical; 

• Fear of new situations; 
• Compulsive nervous 

behaviour (e.g. stutters, 
ticks, nail biting, skin picking) 

 
 

               Behavioural Signs 
 

• The child seeing themselves 
as unworthy of love and 
affection; 

• Excessive lack of confidence 
(not just shyness or low self-
esteem); 

• Over-reaction to mistakes; 
• Self-harming behaviour; 
• Wetting or soiling; 
• Excessive need for attention, 

approval, affection; 
• Difficulty in managing their 

emotions or displaying 
volatile behaviour; 

• Withdrawn / easily upset 
 

Page 29



20  
  

 
Neglect   
  
Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or emotional needs, which 
is likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or development. Neglect may 
occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse.   
  
Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to:   
  

• provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home or 
abandonment).   

• protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger.  
• ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate caregivers).   
• ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment. 

  
It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s basic emotional needs  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

               Physical Signs 
 

• Abnormal growth including 
failure to thrive. 

• Underweight or overweight 
(obese). 

• Recurring medical conditions 
without seeking medical 
attention. 

• Unkempt / dirty appearance. 
• Smelly. 
• Unwashed, inadequate, or 

inappropriate clothing for 
age / weather. 

• Hunger (stealing food, taking 
from rubbish bins) 

• Lack of appropriate 
supervision 

 

               Behavioural Signs 
 

• Attachment disorders 
(mood, behaviours or 
forming healthy 
relationships) 

• Indiscriminate friendliness 
(which could be an indication 
of an attachment disorder) 

• Poor social relationships 
• Poor concentration 
• Development delay 
  lf  

Page 30



21  
  

Sexual Abuse   
  
Sexual abuse involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual 
activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence, whether or not the child is aware 
of what is happening.   
  
The activities may involve:  
  

• physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example, rape or oral  
• non-penetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, rubbing and touching outside of 

clothing   
• non-contact activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, 

sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually 
inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for abuse (including via the 
internet).   

  
Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males. Women can also commit acts of  
sexual abuse, as can other children.   

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

 

 

 

Useful tool: 

https://legacy.brook.org.uk/our-work/the-sexual-behaviours-traffic-light-tool  

 

               Physical Signs 
 

• Pain, itching, bruising, or 
bleeding to genital or anal 
areas. 

• STD’s, recurrent genital 
discharges, or Urinary Tract 
Infections (UTI’s) without 
apparent cause. 

• Stomach pain or discomfort 
when the child is walking or 
sitting. 

• Unexpected pregnancy, 
especially in young girls. 

• Sudden change in 
appearance whereby the 
child looks more unkempt 
than previously. 

               Behavioural Signs 
 

• Sexual knowledge 
inappropriate for age  

• Sexual behaviour in young 
children 

• Sexually harmful or risk-
taking behaviour 

• Sudden or unexplained 
change in behaviour 

• Nightmares, bedwetting, 
eating disorders, self-harm, 
periods of emotional crisis. 

• Reluctance to change in 
front of peers 

Page 31

https://legacy.brook.org.uk/our-work/the-sexual-behaviours-traffic-light-tool


22  
  

 

Section 8 

Children in specific circumstances  
  
Listed below are some areas which may or may not apply to your group. They are listed here 
because children/young people affected by these areas might be more vulnerable to harm or 
abuse and significant harm is always a very real risk for these children. A high degree of 
awareness and co-operation between professionals is essential in recognising and identifying 
their needs and in acting to meet those needs.   
  
Disabled children   
Any child with a disability is by definition a ‘child in need’ under section 17 of the Children Act 
1989. This means that Local Authorities have a legal duty to support them and their families to 
ensure that they are safeguarded and that their needs are met.  
  
Research suggests that children with a disability are three to four times more vulnerable to 
significant harm through physical, sexual, emotional abuse and / or neglect than children who 
do not have a disability (Ofsted 2012). The increased vulnerability is attributed to risk factors 
such as: increased likelihood of being socially isolated; dependency on parents and carers for 
practical assistance in daily living, including intimate personal care; an impaired capacity to 
resist or avoid abuse; possible communication barriers, such as speech impairments; limited 
access to someone they can trust to disclose that they have been abused. Evidence also 
indicates that disabled children are especially vulnerable to bullying and intimidation.   
  
Safeguards for disabled children are essentially the same as for non-disabled children. Particular 
attention should be paid to promoting a high level of awareness of the risks of harm and high 
standards of practice and strengthening the capacity of children and families to help themselves.   
 
Female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM)  
Female genital mutilation (FGM) is a collective term for procedures that remove part or all of 
the external female genitalia for cultural or other non-medical reasons. The age at which girls 
are subjected to female genital mutilation varies greatly, from shortly after birth to any time 
up to adulthood, with the average age being 4 to 13 years.   
  
A child for whom FGM is planned is at risk of significant harm through physical abuse and 
emotional abuse. Health implications can range from severe pain and emotional / 
psychological trauma to death from blood loss or infection. Depending on the type of FGM 
carried out, girls and women can also experience urinary problems, difficulty with 
menstruation, pain, vaginal infections and specific problems during pregnancy and 
childbirth.   
  
Female genital mutilation is a criminal offence in the UK. The Female Genital Mutilation Act 
(2003) makes it an offence for UK nationals or permanent UK residents to carry out FGM 
abroad, or to aid, abet, counsel or procure the carrying out of FGM abroad, even in countries 
where the practice is legal.   

Page 32



23  
  

  
Forced Marriage  
A forced marriage is a marriage that takes place without the full and free consent of both 
parties. Force can include physical force, as well as being pressurised emotionally, being 
threatened or being a victim of psychological abuse. Forced marriages are not the same as 
arranged marriages. In arranged marriages, families take the lead in selecting a marriage 
partner, but the couple have the free will and choice to accept or decline the arrangement.   
  
Forced marriage involving a young person under the age of 18 is a child protection issue as 
the child is at risk of significant harm through physical, sexual and emotional abuse. 
Situations where a child fears being forced into marriage falls under the definition of 
domestic violence. forced marriage may involve the child being taken out of the country 
(trafficked) for the ceremony, is likely to involve non-consensual and or underage sex and 
refusal to go through with a forced marriage has sometimes been liked to so called ‘honour 
killing’.   
  
Honour based violence   
Honour based violence is the term used to describe acts of violence in the name of so-called 
honour. These are murders in which predominantly women are killed for perceived immoral 
behaviour, which is deemed to have breached the honour code of a family or community, 
causing shame.  These acts can include physical assaults, abduction and murder, which are 
carried out in the name of family honour. A child who is at risk of honour-based violence is at 
significant risk of physical harm (including being murdered) and/or neglect, and may also 
suffer significant emotional harm through the threat of violence or witnessing violence 
directed towards a sibling or other family member. Murders in the name of ‘so-called honour’ 
are often the culmination of a series of events over a period of time and are planned. There 
tends to be a degree of premeditation, family conspiracy and a belief that the victim deserved 
to die.   
  
Families may feel shame long after the incident that brought about dishonour occurred, and 
therefore the risk of harm to a child can persist. This means that the young person’s new 
boy/girlfriend, baby (if pregnancy caused the family to feel ‘shame’), associates or siblings 
may be at risk of harm.   
  
These acts are illegal and are an offence under the Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 
(2004). 
  
  
Gangs and Serious Youth violence   
Defining a gang is difficult however it can be broadly described as a relatively durable, 
predominantly street-based group of children who see themselves (and are seen by others) as 
a distinct group for whom crime and violence is integral to the group’s identity.   
  
A child who is affected by gang activity or serious youth violence can be at risk of significant 
harm through physical, sexual, and emotional abuse. The risk or potential risk of harm to the 
child may be as a victim, a perpetrator or both – in relation to their peers or to a gang 

Page 33

http://www.bardag-lscb.co.uk/Documents/Forced%20Marriage%20and%20HBV%20Factsheet.pdf


24  
  

involved adult. There is evidence of a high incidence of rape of girls who are involved with 
gangs.   
  
One factor which influences a child’s propensity to imitate violence is parenting which is 
permissive and neglectful, resulting in a lack of guidance and creating ineffectiveness and 
poor self-control for a child. The child is then not equipped to resist an environment or 
group which instigates violence.   
  
The factors which influence a child’s propensity to initiate violence include: parenting which 
is cold / uncaring, non-nurturing and neglectful or one that includes harsh disciplining; 
maltreatment; trauma.   
  
Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT)   
Children and young people can identify themselves as lesbian (women attracted to women), 
gay (men attracted to men), bisexual (people who are attracted to both men and women), 
transgender (people who see their gender identity as different from the one ascribed to them 
at birth) or transsexual (people who take steps to change their gender e.g. through clothing, 
hormone therapy or surgery).   
  
LGBT children and young people may experience discrimination, prejudice, and bullying, 
become victims of hate crime, and suffer serious harm through physical, sexual, emotional 
abuse and/or neglect. Research indicates that children and young people unsure about their 
sexual orientation or gender identity or unable to disclose their sexual orientation or gender 
identity to their families or social support networks are more vulnerable to sexual 
exploitation, depression, self-harm and/ or involvement in substance misuse. In some 
communities, they may be also more vulnerable to forced marriage or honour-based 
violence.   
  
Missing Children   
The London Child Protection Procedures defines a child as ‘missing’ if their whereabouts are 
unknown, whatever the circumstances of their disappearance. Children who are most 
vulnerable to going missing from care and home include those missing from school, looked 
after children and asylum-seeking children.   
  
When a child goes missing from care or home, they could be at risk of significant harm 
through physical or sexual abuse. The child may go missing from care, home or school 
because they are suffering physical, sexual or emotional abuse and or neglect and decide to 
run away.   
  
Professionals should be aware that unauthorised absences (where children stay out longer 
than agreed) should be carefully monitored as the child could subsequently go missing.   
  
 
Private Fostering   
A private foster carer is someone other than a parent or a close relative (including 
grandparent/s, brother or sister, aunt or uncle, or a stepparent) who cares for a child for a 
period of 28 days or more, in agreement with the child's parent. It applies only to children 

Page 34



25  
  

under 16 years, or under 18 if they are disabled. This does not include children who are being 
looked after by the local authority.   
  
Private fostering can place a child in a vulnerable position as the carer may not provide the 
child with the protection that an ordinary parent might provide. In many cases, the child is 
also looked after away from a familiar environment in terms of region or country. Therefore, 
private foster carers and those with parental responsibility are required to notify LA 
children’s social care of their intention to privately foster or to have a child privately 
fostered. This is necessary to ensure that child is properly safeguarded. If you suspect or 
doubt that Children's Social Care have been informed about a private fostering situation that 
you are aware of, you must call and advise them.   
 
Sexual Exploitation   
The sexual exploitation of children is a form of child sexual abuse which includes some 
combination of: Pull factors - children exchanging sex for attention, accommodation, food, 
gifts or drugs; Push factors - children escaping from situations where their needs are 
neglected and there is exposure to unsafe individuals; Control, brain washing, violence and 
threats of violence by those exploiting the child. Increasingly, victims are identified under-16 
years of age, across all cultures.   
  
Sexually exploited children commonly have low self-esteem and typical vulnerabilities 
include: living in a chaotic or dysfunctional household, history of abuse, living in residential 
care or supported accommodation; recent bereavement or loss; learning disabilities; 
homelessness; attending school or association with children who are being exploited; gang 
association.   
Sexually exploited children also suffer physical and emotional abuse and often neglect.   
  
Professionals should be aware that sexually exploited children are rarely visible on the 
streets, and grooming children for abuse via the internet has contributed to the invisibility of 
the sexual exploitation of children.   
 
Spirit Possession or Witchcraft   
Where parents, families, and the child themselves believe that an evil force has entered a 
child and is controlling them, the belief includes the child being able to use the evil force to 
harm others. This ‘evil’ is variously known as ‘black magic’, ‘kindoki’, ‘ndoki’, ‘the evil eye’, 
‘djinns’, ‘voodoo’, ‘obeah’. Children are called witches or sorcerers. A belief in spirit 
possession is not confined to particular countries, cultures, religions/faiths, or communities.   
  
A child may suffer emotional abuse if they are labelled and treated as being possessed with 
an evil spirit. In addition, significant harm to a child may occur when an attempt is made to 
‘exorcise’ or ‘deliver’ the evil spirit from the child. The forms of abuse that acts of ‘exorcism’ 
can take include physical, emotional, and sexual abuse and neglect.   
  
Common factors that put a child at risk of harm include:   

• Belief in evil spirits (this is commonly accompanied by a belief that the child could ‘infect’ 
others with such ‘evil’)  

Page 35



26  
  

• Scapegoating because of a difference; Rationalising misfortune by attributing it to 
spiritual forces and when a carer views a child as being ’different’ (for instance 
because of a disability, bedwetting or rebelliousness)  

• Changes and / or complexity in family structure or dynamics  
• Change of family circumstances for the worse; and parenting difficulties  

 
Trafficking   
Human trafficking is the movement of a person from one place to another into conditions of 
exploitation, using deception, coercion, the abuse of power or the abuse of someone’s 
vulnerability. A trafficked child is coerced or deceived by the adult who brings them into the 
country or moved within the UK. When the child arrives in the UK or is moved within the 
country, they are denied their human rights and are forced into exploitation by the trafficker 
or the adult/s into whose control the child is delivered.   
  
Trafficked children may experience various types of exploitation, including domestic 
servitude, sexual exploitation, forced marriage, criminal activity such as street robbery or 
credit card fraud, begging, benefit fraud, acting as a drug mule or decoy for adult 
traffickers, sweatshop or restaurant work. All professionals must be aware that children are 
legally incapable of consent to exploitation. The physical, sexual and / or emotional abuse, 
and neglect, a trafficked child may suffer constitutes significant harm.   
  
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children   
These are children under the age of 18 years who are seeking asylum, but not living with their 
parents, relatives or guardians in the UK. Most come from countries which are in a state of 
chaos, including war and endemic violence.   
  
Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) require a broad package of support, 
including legal advice, advocacy, emotional and/psychological support, language support, 
help with adapting to a different culture and other basic needs such as health, education, 
housing and general care.   
  
Evidence indicates that some children trafficked into the UK apply for asylum following 
instructions received by the traffickers. Research and evidence also show higher 
vulnerability of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children to sexual exploitation and going 
missing from care, home and/or school.   
  
All UASC should be referred to LA’s children’s social care as there is a statutory duty of care 
towards them.   
  
Peer on Peer Abuse 
Children can abuse other children. This is generally referred to as peer on peer abuse and can 
take many forms. This can include (but is not limited to): bullying (including cyberbullying); 
sexual violence and sexual harassment; physical abuse such as hitting, kicking, shaking, biting, 
hair pulling, or otherwise causing physical harm; sexting and initiation/hazing type violence 
and rituals. 
 

Page 36



27  
  

We should avoid labelling children as ‘perpetrators’ in cases of peer on peer abuse and see 
both children as victims. Children who display harmful behaviour towards others may have 
been exposed to harm or abuse in a different context.  
 
The DSL should use their judgement in the severity of abuse or harm. If a child has or is likely 
to have suffered significant harm, the DSL should contact the social care MASH with the view 
to completing a referral. 
  
Criminal Exploitation 
Criminal exploitation is also known as ‘county lines’ and is when gangs and organised crime 
networks groom and exploit children to move and sell drugs. Often these children are made to 
travel across counties.  
 
Criminals deliberately target vulnerable children, those who are homeless, experiencing 
learning difficulties, going through family breakdowns, struggling in school, living in poverty or 
being a child in care can make children additionally vulnerable to criminal exploitation. 
Criminals groom children into trafficking their drugs for them with promises of money, 
friendship, and status. Once drawn in, children are controlled using threats, violence and 
sexual abuse.  
 
Radicalisation and extremism 
Radicalisation is a process by which an individual or group comes to adopt increasingly 
extreme political, social or religious ideals and aspirations that reject or undermine the status 
quo or reject and/or undermine contemporary ideas and expressions of freedom of choice. 
The Threats to children and young people take many forms, not only the high-profile incidents 
of those travelling to countries such as Syria and Iraq, but in a much broader perspective. The 
internet, in particular, social media is being used as a channel to promote and engage 
children. Often this promotion glorifies violence, attracting and influencing many people, 
including children and in the extreme cases, radicalising them. Research concludes that 
children can be trusting and not necessarily appreciate the bias that can lead them to being 
drawn into these groups and adopt these extremist views, and in viewing this extreme 
content may become normalised to it. 

  
Remember: The safeguarding of children and protecting them from harm is everyone’s 
responsibility. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



28  
  

 
  

Section 9 

Safeguarding children from minority 
ethnic, culture and faith communities  

  
For children and families whose faith, culture, nationality and possibly recent history differs 
significantly from that of host nation families, there is a range of issues which can potentially 
obstruct their ability to seek help, protect themselves or fulfil their roles as protective adults.  

• Children and their parents may be unable to speak, read or write English, at all or 
well  

• Children and their parents who are newly immigrant are likely to have weak or non-
existent social networks  

• Newly immigrant families may be reluctant or averse to engaging with statutory 
services. This may be due to a lack of confidence in navigating the UK public services 
system or due to bad experiences in their home country  

• The parent/s may have a perspective on child rearing practices underpinned by 
culture or faith which are not in line with UK law.   

  
Safeguarding issues most commonly occurring in the context of ethnically, culturally or faith 
diverse communities includes:  

• Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)  
• Honour-Based Violence (HBV)  
• Forced Marriage  
• Harm to children linked to beliefs in witchcraft and spirit possession  
• Trafficking  
• Private fostering    
• Domestic abuse  
• Physical chastisement of children   

  
However, it is important to remember that all types of abuse, physical, emotional, sexual 
and neglect, happen in all communities and professionals must avoid rigid associations 
between specific cultures/faiths and specific safeguarding issues.   
  

REMEMBER  
  

When family circumstances appear complex, clarity of purpose comes from keeping the child 
and his or her needs in focus. To do this, professionals must:  

• Be able to distinguish a healthy child from one whose health and development is 
being impaired due to abuse or neglect  

• Be able to see past the child’s culture to identify actual or potential impairment to 
health and development.   
  

Page 38



29  
  

  
Section 10 

Domestic Abuse  
  

The term ‘domestic abuse’ is increasingly used to refer to domestic violence to reflect the 
non-physical forms of abuse it can take.  Barking and Dagenham has one of the highest levels 
of domestic violence in the country. It is therefore vital that we are alert and respond when 
we suspect that children are living in environments where domestic violence is a factor. 
  
What constitutes domestic abuse?  
  
Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners or 
family members regardless of gender or sexuality. This can encompass, but is not limited to, 
the following types of abuse: psychological, physical, sexual, financial and emotional. This 
includes so called 'honour’ based violence, female genital mutilation (FGM) and forced 
marriage.   
  
The main characteristic of domestic abuse is that it is intentional and is calculated to exercise 
power and control within a relationship.  
  
Examples include: slapping, pushing, physical restriction of freedom, intimidation and 
threats, constant criticism, damaging property or items of sentimental value, stalking, non-
consensual sex, refusing safe sex, depriving or taking control of money.   
  
Who are the perpetrators?  
  
Although both men and women can be victims, a greater proportion of women experience 
all forms of domestic abuse and are more likely to be seriously injured or event killed.  
  
Domestic abuse may be perpetrated by a partner or a spouse, as well as extended family 
members, such as parents or parents-in-law.  
    
Why is it a child protection issue?  
  

• Children are at risk of physical injury during an incident. Research shows that this 
happens in up to 60% of cases.   

• Children who witness (see or hear) domestic violence, suffer emotional and 
psychological maltreatment. This is proven to cause various psychological and 
behavioural problems in children, such as anxiety, withdrawal, lack of empathy, lack 
of conflict resolution skills, propensity for violent or anti-social behaviour and others.   

• Domestic abuse rarely exists in isolation. Many parents also misuse substances and 
experience mental ill health. One or a combination of these factors can significantly 
impact on parental capacity to protect children and meet their child’s needs. 

Page 39



30  
  

• Research shows that violence towards women increases both in severity and 
frequency during pregnancy. Babies under 12 months old are particularly vulnerable 
to violence. Nationally, over 50% of child protection cases involve domestic violence.   

  
  
Responding to domestic violence:  
  
Professionals in all agencies are in a position to identify or receive a disclosure about 
domestic violence. Professionals should be alert to the signs that a child or mother may be 
experiencing domestic violence, or that a father/partner may be perpetrating domestic 
violence.   
  
Professionals in all voluntary, community and faith groups should take the following steps to 
enable identification and ensure correct responses to domestic violence.  
  
Be familiar with signs and indicators of domestic violence in both children and mothers. This 
can be best achieved by attending domestic violence training via the Barking and Dagenham 
Safeguarding Partnership Training Programme. 
  
The issue of domestic violence should only ever be raised with a child or mother when they 
are alone, in a safe space and away from the abuser/s.   
  
Information about domestic violence should be available in English and relevant community 
languages, giving information about domestic violence, inviting children and mothers to seek 
help and giving contact details of local support services.   
  
Listen to children and take what they say seriously.   
  
 

REMEMBER  
  

If there is a concern about the risk of significant harm to the child, then every 
professional’s overriding duty is to protect the child.   

  
  
  
  

  For more Information see:   
Safeguarding Children Abused through Domestic Violence Procedures    

  
  
  
  
  

Page 40

http://www.londonscb.gov.uk/procedures/supplementary_procedures.html


31  
  

Section 11 

What to do if you think a child is being abused.  

 
If you think a child/young person is being abused, inform your Designated Safeguarding Lead 
(or Deputy DSL if unavailable) who should contact LBBD MASH on 0208 277 3811 without 
delay (or Emergency Duty Team during out of hours: 02085948359).  

     Online Multi-Agency Referral Form https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-   
about-a-child-marf-for-professionals 
                  In emergencies /if immediate action is required call the Police on 999.  
  
  
Do I inform the parents/carers about contacting MASH?  
  
Unless you feel it could place the child/young person at increased risk, you should inform the 
parents/carers. Although you do not need parental/carer consent to make a referral, parental 
cooperation will almost always benefit the child/young person and ease the investigative process. 
However, make sure you discuss with the MASH Team what – if anything – you should say to the 
child’s parents/carers.   
  
Once you have referred to MASH your concerns are known as a ‘referral’.   
  
What happens once you have contacted MASH?  
  
Statutory assessments:  
Where a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer from harm, it is important that a referral to 
children’s social care (and if appropriate the police) is made immediately. Referrals should 
follow the local referral process.  
 
Children in Need (CIN): 
A child in need is defined under the Children Act 1989 as a child who is unlikely to achieve or 
maintain a reasonable level of health or development, or whose health and development is 
likely to be significantly or further impaired, without the provision of services; or a child who is 
disabled. Local authorities are required to provide services for children in need for the 
purposes of safeguarding and promoting their welfare. Children in need may be assessed 
under section 17 of the Children Act 1989.  
 
Children suffering or likely to suffer significant harm (Child Protection / CP): 
Local authorities, with the help of other organisations as appropriate, have a duty to make 
enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 if they have reasonable cause to suspect 
that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant harm. Such enquiries enable them to 
decide whether they should take any action to safeguard and promote the child’s welfare and 
must be initiated where there are concerns about maltreatment, including all forms of abuse 
and neglect, female genital mutilation or other so-called honour based violence, and extra-
familial threats like radicalisation and sexual exploitation.  

Page 41

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-%20%20%20about-a-child-marf-for-professionals
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-%20%20%20about-a-child-marf-for-professionals


32  
  

 
 
What will the local authority do? 
Within one working day of a referral being made, a local authority social worker should 
acknowledge receipt to the referrer and decide about the next steps and the type of response 
that is required. This will include determining whether:  
• the child requires immediate protection and urgent action is required.  
• the child is in need, and should be assessed under section 17 of the Children Act 1989.  
• there is reasonable cause to suspect the child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, 
and whether enquiries must be made, and the child assessed under section 47 of the Children 
Act 1989.  
• any services are required by the child and family and what type of services  
• further specialist assessments are required to help the local authority to decide what further 
action to take.  
• to see the child as soon as possible if the decision is taken that the referral requires further 
assessment.  
 
The referrer should follow up if this information is not forthcoming. Remember: it is the 
referrers responsibility to check with the MASH that a referral has been received.  
 
If social workers decide to carry out a statutory assessment, staff should do everything they 
can to support that assessment (supported by the Designated Safeguarding Lead (or deputy) 
as required).  
 
If, after a referral, the child’s situation does not appear to be improving, the referrer should 
consider following local escalation procedures to ensure their concerns have been addressed 
and, most importantly, that the child’s situation improves. Barking and Dagenham’s escalation 
protocol can be found on the safeguarding partnership website https://bdsafeguarding.org/ 
 
 
Early Help:  
If the MASH team determine that statutory intervention is not required but that the child or 
their family is in need of targeted support, the referral may be passed to the Early Help service 
or the matter may be passed back to your agency to take the lead on an early help 
assessment. It is important that the Designated Safeguarding Lead is familiar with this process 
so that families can be supported at the right time to prevent matters escalating.  
 
All organisations working with child and families at an early help / preventative level, can seek 
advice and support from the local authority https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-
professionals-working-with-children 
     

Page 42

https://bdsafeguarding.org/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-professionals-working-with-children
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/early-help-for-professionals-working-with-children


 

                                                        Section 12 

    LBBD’S Multi-Agency Thresholds of Need  
  

Making an Effective Referral: 
Before making a referral, the risk indicators outlined below, should be used as a tool to 
support the thinking process behind the concern and determine next steps.  

 
The list of indicators is not exhaustive but serves as providing examples of children’s needs and 
circumstances that correspond to a certain level of vulnerability. It is likely that the level of 
worry or concern will be dependent on a number of factors and indicators and not reliant on 
just one indicator. Consideration should be made on whether the needs of the child can be 
met by services or professionals already involved or through a single agency referral.   

Our MASH aims to ensure that we identify and assess need early and act as quickly as possible 
by working closely with our partners. When making a referral to MASH it is essential that all 
information about the child is shared. This will enable better decision making and allocation of 
support and intervention. We are dependent on the information in the referral in order to 
make safe decisions about the need to offer immediate protection from harm.   

All referrals should be discussed with the parent or carer, unless doing so would place the 
child at immediate risk of harm. It is important to work together with families and be open and 
transparent about the concerns for their child. If a person is unsure or unclear about when it is 
safe to inform parents or carers, they should contact the MASH, so we can advise.  
 
We will inform referrers of the outcome of a referral; however, we would always encourage 
partner agencies to make contact where there are any delays.  
 
Indicators of Possible Need: 
The indicators of possible need listed under each heading are an indication of the likely level 
of need. Only by talking to children and their family in more detail to explore the context and 
the factors behind the need, will the practitioner be able to form a judgement as to the level 
of support needed. They should be used to guide professional discussions and not to support 
fixed and inflexible positions as there will be some situations where a single indicator, in the 
absence of any other indicator(s), is so significant that it will demand support at a particular 
level.  

  
It is therefore important that full consideration is given to assess accumulative indicators and   
impact on children that may interplay and escalate or de-escalate through the levels.  
  
The core purpose is to help practitioners and managers make a next steps decision about 
whether and how a family and its associated network are able to protect and promote the 
welfare of a child or children 
 

Page 43



 

 

Tier 1: Universal / Prevention  
Children, young people and families whose needs are being met through mainstream universal 
services. This includes early support from agencies, where a child begins to show signs of additional 
needs which can be met through universal services.   
 
Key universal services that may provide support at this level include:   
  

• Education provisions  
• Children Centres   
• Early years providers   
• School Nursing, Health Visiting & Midwifery services   
• GP and community health services  
• Play & leisure services   
• Youth Services    
• Police   
• Housing   
• Voluntary and community sectors  

  

No referral is required.   
 
Below are indicators of what you would expect to see when determining whether a child’s needs can 
be met at a Universal / Preventative level.  

 
 
Health: 
 Physically well  
 Nutritious diet  
 Adequate hygiene and dress  
 Developmental and health checks 

immunisations up to date  
 Developmental milestones and motor 

skills appropriate  
 Sexual activity age-appropriate  
 Good mental health  

 

 
Basic Care, Ensuring Safety and Protection:  
 Provide for child’s physical needs, e.g. food, 

drink, appropriate clothing, medical and 
dental care  

 Protection from danger or significant harm.  
 Family feels part of the community.  

  

 
Behavioural Development:  
 Takes responsibility for behaviour  
 Responds appropriately to boundaries and 

constructive guidance  
 
 

 
Emotional Warmth and Stability:  
 Shows warm regard, praise and 

encouragement  
 Ensures stable relationships  

Page 44



 

 
Identity and Self-Esteem:  
 Can discriminate between safe and unsafe 

contacts.  
  

 
Guidance, Boundaries and Stimulation:  
 Ensure the child can develop a sense of 

right and wrong  
 Child/young person accesses leisure 

facilitates as appropriate to age and 
interests  

 
 
Family and Social Relationships: 
 Stable and affectionate relationships with 

family  
 Is able to make and maintain friendships.  
 

 
Family Functioning and Wellbeing:  
 Good relationships within family, including 

when parents are separated.  

 
Learning: 
 Access to books and toys  
 Enjoys and participates in learning 

activities  
 Has experiences of success and 

achievement  
 Sound links between home and school  
 Planning for career and adult life  

 

 
Housing, Work and Income:  
 Accommodation has basic amenities and 

appropriate facilities, and can meet family 
needs  

 Managing budget to meet individual needs.  

 
Emotional Development: 
 Good quality early attachments  
 Able to adapt to change  
 Able to understand others’ feelings.  

 
Social and Community Including Education:  
 Has friendships and is able to access local 

services and amenities  

  

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 

Tier 2: Targeted Early Help Services  
Children, young people and families at this level are in need of coordinated early help intervention with 
targeted services.  These are children with additional needs, who may be vulnerable and showing early 
signs of need e.g. abuse and /or neglect, their needs are not clear, not known or not being met.   
  
This is the threshold for an early help assessment to begin. Support will be provided within universal or 
targeted provisions and do not include services from Children Care & Support.  

 
Key early help services that may provide support at this level include   
  
 Early help services (includes parenting, education welfare, education psychology, family support,      

SEN support, CAMHS early intervention)   
 Team around the family interventions led by other agencies   
 A range of commissioned services  
 Targeted Youth work  
 Housing support  
 Additional learning support  

 
If you would like to discuss what early help support is available in LBBD you can contact us 
on 020 8227 5600 9am to 4.45pm Monday to Friday. This is for consultations / conversations 
about what is available and does not replace the referral or Early Help assessment process. 
 
Below are indicators of what you would expect to see when determining whether a child’s needs 
require targeted early help services.  

 
 
 
Health: 
 Missing immunisations/checks  
 Ambivalence to ante-natal and post-

natal care with irregular attendance 
and missed appointments  

 Child is slow in reaching developmental 
milestones  

 Disability requiring support to be 
maintained in mainstream settings  

 Minor concerns re diet, hygiene, 
clothing  

 
Identity and Self-Esteem:  
 Some insecurities around identity expressed 

e.g. low self-esteem, sexuality, gender identity  
 May experience bullying  
 May be exhibiting bullying behaviour  
 Lack of confidence is incapacitating  
 Child/young person provocative in behaviour/ 

appearance e.g. inappropriately dressed for 
school  

 Child subject to persistent discrimination, e.g. 
racial, sexual or due to disabilities  

 Victim of crime or bullying.  

Page 46



 

 Dental difficulties untreated/some 
decay  

 Missing some routine and non-routine 
health appointments  

 Self-harming behaviours  
 Limited or restricted diet e.g. no 

breakfast, no lunch money  
 Concerns about developmental 

progress: e.g. overweight / 
underweight / bedwetting/soiling  

 Vulnerable to emotional difficulties, 
perhaps in e.g. child seems unduly 
anxious, angry or defiant for their age  

 Experimenting with tobacco, alcohol or 
illegal drugs  

 Frequent accidents  
 Mental health issues emerging e.g. 

conduct disorder; ADHD; anxiety; 
depression and eating disorder  

 Physical/learning disability requiring 
constant supervision  

 

 
Learning: 
 Has some identified specific learning needs 

with targeted support and/or statement of 
SEN  

 Language and communication difficulties  
 Regular underachievement or not reaching 

education potential  
 Poor punctuality/pattern of regular school 

absences  
 Not always engaged in play/learning, e.g. poor 

concentration  
 No access to books/toys •  Some fixed term 

exclusions.  
 Short term exclusions or at risk of permanent 

exclusion, persistent truanting  
 The young person is not in education, 

employment or training (NEET) or their 
attendance is sporadic, and they are not likely 
to reach their potential  

 
Emotional Development:  
 Some difficulties with family 

relationships  
 Some difficulties with peer group 

relationships and with adults, e.g. 
‘clingy’, anxious or withdrawn  

 Some evidence of inappropriate 
responses and actions  

 Limited engagement in play with 
others/has few or no friends.  

  

 
Family and Social Relationships: 
 Lack of positive role models  
 Child has some difficulties sustaining 

relationships  
 Unresolved issues arising from parents’ 

separation, step parenting or bereavement.  
 Domestic abuse within the home  
 Relationships with family experienced as 

negative (‘low warmth, high criticism’)  
 Family breakdown related to child’s 

behavioural difficulties  
 Social isolation  
 Child has few positive relationships  

 
 

 

Page 47



 

 
Behavioural Development: 
 
 Not always able to understand how 

own actions impact on others  
 Finds accepting responsibility for own 

actions difficult  
 Responds inappropriately to 

boundaries/constructive guidance  
 Finds positive interaction difficult with 

peers in unstructured contexts  
 Additional needs from CAMHS  
 Challenging at school, possible threat 

of exclusion and school have been 
providing support for some time  

  

 
Self-care Skills and Independence: 
 
 Disability limits amount of self-care possible  
 Periods of inadequate self-care, e.g. poor 

hygiene  
 Child is continually slow to develop age-

appropriate self-care skills.  
 Young person is main carer for family member.  

 
Basic Care, Ensuring Safety and 
Protection: 
 Basic care is not provided consistently  
 Parent/carer requires advice on 

parenting issues  
 Parent/carer physically chastises their 

child within legal limits but there is 
concern that this is having a negative 
impact on the child’s emotional 
wellbeing (e.g. child appears fearful of 
the parent)  

 There is concern that it may escalate 
in frequency and/or severity. Parents / 
carers willing to access professional 
support to help them manage their 
child’s behaviour  

 Young, inexperienced parents  
 Inappropriate childcare arrangements 

and/or too many carers  
 Some exposure to dangerous 

situations in the home or community  
 Unnecessary or frequent visits to 

doctor/casualty  
 Parent/carer stresses starting to affect 

ability to ensure child’s safety.  
 The parent/carer is struggling to adjust 

to the role of parenthood   

 
Guidance, Boundaries and Stimulation:  
 Parent/carer offers inconsistent boundaries  
 Lack of routine in the home  
 Child/young person spends considerable time 

alone e.g. watching television  
 Child/young person can behave in an anti- social 

way in the neighbourhood, e.g. petty crime.  
 No effective boundaries set by parents/carers 

impacting on child’s wellbeing  
  

 
Emotional Warmth and Stability: 
 Inconsistent responses to child/young person by 

parent/carer  
 Parents struggling to have their own emotional 

needs met  
 Child/young person not able to develop other 

positive relationships  
 Starting to show difficulties with attachments.  
 Child appears regularly anxious, angry or phobic 

and demonstrates a mental health condition  

Page 48



 

 
Family Functioning and Wellbeing: 
 
 A child/young person is taking on a 

caring role in relation to their 
parent/carer, or is looking after 
younger siblings  

 No effective support from extended 
family  

 Concern that the child is in a culture 
where harmful practices are known to 
have been performed however parents 
are opposed to the practices in respect 
of their children.   
 

 
Housing, Work and Income:  
 
 Family seeking asylum or refugees  
 Periods of unemployment of parent/carer  
 Parents/carers have limited formal education  
 Low income  
 Financial/debt difficulties  
 Poor state of repair, temporary or overcrowded, 

or unsafe housing  
 Intentionally homeless  
 Serious debt/poverty impact on ability to have 

basic needs met • Rent arrears put family at risk 
of eviction or proceedings initiated  

 Not in education employment or training post-
16.  

 Families with No Recourse to Public Funds 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 49



 

Tier 3: Child in Need  
Children, young people and families at this level will be facing complex problems, their needs are not 
met and evident through early signs of abuse or neglect. Children at this level, often described as a 
Child in Need (CIN), are unlikely to reach or maintain a satisfactory level of health and development. 
Such children may be seen to be at risk and without support their development will be impaired.  
  
Assessments and services required may also come from a range of provisions outside of Children’s 
Social Care including Tier 2 support. Consultation with your Designated Safeguarding Lead and or the 
MASH Team may be required. A MASH consultation can be undertaken by contacting 0208 227 3811. 
The consultation will be recorded by the MASH team including the names of the professionals. If, 
following a consultation, a professional wish to make a formal referral, they should do this separately.  
  
The Report a serious concern about a child (MARF) referral form should be completed. This can 
be found on the council website and is an electronic form.  

 
A referral is required to Children’s Social Care  

 
Below are indicators of what you would expect to see when determining whether a child’s needs 
require a statutory assessment under s17 of the Children Act. 

 
 
Health: 
 Child has some chronic/recurring 

health difficulties that are not treated 
or being poorly managed by the family  

 Child has been admitted into hospital 
for a period exceeding 12 weeks  

 Despite support provided 
developmental milestones are not 
being met attributable to parental care  

 Unsafe sexual activity  
 Self-harming behaviours assessed as 

medium / high risk by medical / 
psychiatric professionals  

 
 

 
Self-care Skills and Independence:  
 Disability prevents self-care in a significant 

range of tasks  
 Child lacks a sense of safety and behaviours 

predispose them or others to significant 
dangers  

 
Learning: 
 No school placement due to parental neglect  
 Child/young person is out of school due to 

parental neglect.  
 Parent/carer actively discourages or prevents 

the child from learning or engaging with the 
school.  

 
 

Page 50



 

 Pregnancies were children have 
been removed from the care of 
either or both carers  

 Failure to access any antenatal care  
 Positive toxicology results in 

pregnancy  
 Seriously obese/seriously 

underweight  
 Significant dental decay through 

persistent lack of dental care  
 Persistent and high-risk parental 

substance misuse  
 Acute mental health difficulties e.g. 

severe depression  
 Children assessed as being at risk of 

FGM e.g. generalised /nonspecific 
intention to travel to a country 
where FGM is prevalent • Persistent 
lack of food  

 
Emotional Development: 
 Sexualised behaviour placing the child and 

others at significant risk  
 Young carer whose development is being 

compromised by virtue of having those 
responsibilities.  

 Starting to commit serious offences/re-offend  
 Severe emotional/behavioural challenges  
 Puts self or others at risk through behaviour  
 Severe emotional/behavioural challenges.  

  

 
Behavioural Development: 
 Changed behaviour and reference to 

radicalised  
 thoughts and threats to act  
 Prosecution of offences resulting in 

court orders, custodial sentences or 
ASBOs or  

 youth offending early intervention  
 Deliberately harming animals / pets  

 

 
Other Indicators: 
 Regular missing episodes  
 Professional concerns – but difficulty accessing 

child/young person  
 Evidence or suspicion of young person 

connecting others to gangs/ unsafe adults / 
illegal activities  

 Unaccompanied refugee/asylum seeker  

 
Family and Social Relationships: 
 
 Misses school consistently 
 History of Domestic Violence 
 Privately Fostered 
 Family have physical and mental health 

difficulties impacting on their child  
 Significant parental/carer discord and 

persistent domestic violence and 
discord between family members 

 Concern that the child may be subject 
to harmful traditional practices e.g. 
witchcraft. 

 

Page 51



42  
  

 

Tier 4: Child protection  
Children and young people at this level have suffered or are likely to suffer significant harm as a result of 
abuse or neglect.   
  
If an agency identifies a child thought to have suffered or be at risk of significant harm, a referral to 
MASH must be made.  
  
• In an emergency, the agency should call 999 and ask for a Police response.   
  
• Contact the MASH on 02082273811 during working hours. For any out of hours child protection 

emergencies contact the Emergency Duty Service on 02085948356.  
  
• Complete the Report a serious concern about a child (MARF) form on the council website. This 

is an electronic form.  
 

Below are indicators of what you would expect to see when a child has suffered or is likely to suffer 
significant harm as a result of abuse or neglect and need of urgent protection. 
 
 
Health:  
 Pregnancy in any child under the age of 13   
 Sexual exploitation or trafficking  
 Sexual abuse  
 Non-accidental injury and/or unexplained 

injuries  
 Allegation of abuse or suspicious injury to non-

mobile child  
 Two or more minor injuries in pre-mobile or 

non-verbal babies or young children (including 
disabled children)  

 Disclosure of abuse from child/young person  
 Disclosure of abuse/physical injury caused by a 

professional / parent / carer  
 Children at risk of FGM, honour-based violence 

or forced marriages  
 Failure to access ante natal care where there 

are complicating obstetric factors that may 
pose a risk to the unborn child or new-born 
child.   

• Suspicion that child has suffered or is at risk of 
significant harm due to fabricated or induced 
illness.  

• Suspicious injury or allegation involving a child 
subject of a current child protection plan or 
looked after by a local authority  

 
Family and Social Relationships:  
 Rejection by a parent/carer, family no 

longer want to care for - or have 
abandoned a young child  

 Significant injuries caused to a child by a 
parent carer or household member e.g 
during a domestic abuse incident or as 
result of chastisement  

 Evidence that the child has been be 
subject to harmful traditional practices 
e.g. witchcraft & exorcism  
 

 
Emotional Warmth and Stability:  
 Children subject to parental delusions  
 Parents / carer requesting that a young 

child be accommodated  
 

 
Learning: 

 Causing / suffering serious harm / 
injuries to / from other children  

 Being exposed to inappropriate 
material or taught extremist ideology  
 
 

Page 52



43  
  

 Child/young person has severe/chronic health 
difficulties that pose a danger to their 
wellbeing and attributable to parental care  

 Failure to thrive  
 Refusing medical care endangering 

life/development  

 
Emotional Development:  
 Continually places self and or others in 

danger e.g. regularly missing from home 
/ care setting  

 Disclosing suicidal thoughts  
 

 
Identity and Self-esteem:  
 Failed education supervision order – 3 

prosecutions for nonattendance, family 
refusing to engage  

 Evidence of radicalisation  
 

 
Other Indicators:  
 Abusing other children  
 Young person suspected / known for 

committing sexual offences  
 Serious offending behaviour likely to lead to 

custody/remand in secure unit/prison.  
 Known / suspected exploitation e.g. drug 

dealing and gang affiliation  
 Child and/or their parents/carers are making 

plans to travel to a conflict zone and there is 
evidence to suggest that they are doing so to 
support or participate in extremist activities.  
 

 
Guidance, Boundaries and Stimulation:  
 Child causing harm or committing a 

serious crime at the instruction of a 
parent / carer  

 
Housing, Work and Income:  
 Physical accommodation places child 

in imminent danger 
 Child labour  

 
Basic Care, Ensuring Safety and Protection:  
 New-born babies withdrawing from substances  
 Parents/carers unable to care for previous 

children  
 The parent/ carer significantly physically harms 

child  
 Parents/carers involved in violent or serious 

crime, or crime against children  
 Chronic and serious domestic violence 

involving child/ young person  
 Disclosure from parent of abuse to child/young 

person  
 Suspected/evidence of fabricated or induced 

illness.  
 Child has been made subject to Police Powers 

of Protection  
 Slavery  

 

 
 Evident problematic parental drug / 

alcohol misuse e.g. blackouts, confusion, 
severe mood swings, drug paraphernalia 
not stored or disposed of, involving the 
child in procuring illegal substances, and 
substance overdoses   

  
Family Functioning and Wellbeing:  
 Child/young person in need where there 

are child protection concerns  
 Individual posing a risk to children in or 

has contact with household  
 Family home used for drug taking, 

prostitution, illegal activities. 

Page 53



44  
  

 

Section 13 

Responding to a Child/Young person 
(allegations of abuse)  

  
  

If a child/young person says that he or she is being abused or provides information that 
suggests that they are being abused (‘allegation of abuse’), the person receiving that 
information should:  
  

• remain calm, accessible and receptive  
• listen carefully without interrupting or asking leading questions  
• communicate with the child/young person in a way that is appropriate to their age, 

understanding and preference   
• be aware of the non-verbal messages you are giving   
• make it clear that you are taking them seriously   
• acknowledge their courage and reassure them that they are right to tell   
• reassure them that they should not feel guilty and say that you are sorry that this 

has happened to them  
• let them know that you are going to do everything you can to help them and what 

may happen as a result   

• make a note of what was said and who was present, using the child/young person’s 
actual words wherever possible  

  
  

You should NEVER  
  

• investigate or seek to prove or disprove possible abuse  
• make promises about confidentiality or keeping ‘secrets’ to children/young people  
• assume that someone else will take the necessary action   
• jump to conclusions, be dismissive or react with shock, anger, horror etc  
• speculate or accuse anybody   
• investigate, suggest or probe for information   
• confront another person (adult or child/young person) allegedly involved  
• offer opinions about what is being said or the persons allegedly involved  
• forget to record what you have been told   
• fail to pass this information on to the correct person   

  
  

Remember to always RECORD what has happened and REPORT 
to the Designated Safeguarding Lead.  

Page 54



45  
  

  
  

Section 14 

The role and responsibilities of the 
Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) 

  
There must be someone in your organisation who will take action if there is a concern, a 
report of abuse/risk of harm, or if an allegation is made against a member of staff or 
volunteer in relation to maltreatment of a child.   
  
What does the Designated Safeguarding Lead do?  
  
The Designated Safeguarding Lead has a specific responsibility for safeguarding and child 
protection matters within an organisation.   
  
The DSL’s role includes:  
  
 Overseeing the preparation and implementation of the safeguarding policy and 

ensuring that it is regularly reviewed, and that the policies and procedures are 
followed.   

 Liaison with the Council and other child protection agencies (i.e. Police) and making 
referrals   

 Reporting any concerns to Children’s Services or the Police (urgent concerns must 
be reported immediately even if the DSL is not available)  

 Acting as the lead person in circumstances where an allegation has been made 
against a member of staff/volunteer within their agency  

 Acting as a source of advice on all child protection matters within their organisation 
and seeking further advice and guidance from other agencies as needed e.g. LA, 
LADO  

 Ensuring that confidential records are kept of any concerns about a child or young 
person and of any conversation or referrals to statutory agencies   

 Ensuring that any such records are kept safely and securely   
 Making sure that staff/volunteers receive adequate child protection training   
 Promoting the needs of children and young people in the workplace and keeping 

the staff and volunteers informed on good practice.   
 Attending meetings following disclosures or investigations, including case 

conferences, giving either support to a child or family members (not both at the 
same time)  

 Being available!  
  
  
 

Page 55



46  
  

 
 
Need for a Deputy   
There needs to be at least one Deputy DSL. If an allegation is made against the DSL, there 
must be someone else that the person/s complaining can go to. If a concern of possible 
abuse is raised and the DSL was on holiday or unavailable, then have having a Deputy DSL 
overcomes this.   
  
Working as part of a team  
As well as informing the statutory agencies, you may also be required as a condition of your 
insurance to inform your insurer of any safeguarding concern. In addition, if your 
organisation is part of a denomination or other umbrella organisation there may be an 
expectation that you inform them e.g. within an Anglican Diocese you may need to contact 
the Bishop’s Adviser for child protection. Familiarise yourself with the process within your 
organisation and note relevant telephone numbers or contact names and addresses.   
 
Safeguarding concerns within an organisation can be emotionally demanding, so it’s 
important to ensure that you have support in place for yourself. Also remember that 
confidentially is important for all concerned.   
  
What should the DSL do if they have/receive a child protection concern?  
It is likely that you could be contacted by a child/young person who may disclose abuse 
directly to you, a worker may approach you with a concern, or a parent may want help or 
advice.  Where there is a concern of physical, emotional abuse or neglect the following 
general guidelines should be followed:  
  
 If deliberate injury is suspected, there is a concern for a child’s safety, or they are 

afraid to return home, Children’s Social Care should be contacted without delay. Do 
not discuss with parents/carers prior to seeking advice from MASH.  

 Seek medical help if needed urgently advising doctor of suspicions  
 If a child isn’t in immediate risk e.g. the concern is poor parenting, encourage 

parent/carer to seek help themselves, refer to Children’s Social Care and monitor the 
situation.   

  
Where sexual abuse is suspected or disclosed: 
  

• Always contact Children’s Social Care or the police immediately.   
• Never tell the parents  
• Follow up the telephone referral with a written referral and ask for confirmation   

  
What should the DSL do if they receive an allegation against a member of 
staff or volunteer?  
  

 This section should be read in conjunction with Chapter 15: Allegations against 
staff and volunteers  

Page 56



47  
  

  
 
Finally….  
  
  
Being a Designated Safeguarding Lead may seem very daunting but remember you are not 
meant to be an expert in child protection; leave that to the statutory agencies.   
 
You should, however, equip yourself with certain skills and knowledge by undertaking child 
protection training and reading your organisations requirements to better understand 
your role.   
  
By creating an environment that is conducive to effective safeguarding and the promotion 
of children/young people’s rights and welfare, you   
  

• Ensure that only suitable people are working with children/young people  
• Promote an environment of vigilance  
• Protect and enforce the rights of children and young people.   

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 57



 

Section 15 

Allegations against Staff/Volunteers  
  
All concerns, complaints and allegations must be recorded ( see Appendix 4) and brought 
to the attention of the Designated Safeguarding Lead. There are circumstances when 
allegations are about bad practice rather than child abuse, but it is important that all 
allegations are investigated so that bad practice can be addressed.   
  
If the information relates to the harm of a child/young person or the risk thereof then the 
Designated Safeguarding Lead must contact the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 
immediately, no later than within one working day.   
 
The DSL must contact the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) immediately if an 
allegation or concern has been made about a staff member/volunteer who has:  
  
 Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child  
 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child; and/or  
 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may pose a risk of 

harm to children. 
 
The London Child Protection Procedures ask that we apply additional considerations in the 
safeguarding of children. The LADO should be consulted if staff member / volunteer: 
 
 Has behaved in a way in their personal life that raises safeguarding concerns. These 

concerns do not have to directly relate to a child but could, for example, include 
arrest for possession of a weapon or drug offences. 

 As a parent or carer, has become subject to child protection procedures. 
 Is closely associated with someone in their personal lives (e.g. partner, member of 

the family or other household member) who may present a risk of harm to child/ren 
for whom the member of staff is responsible in their employment / volunteering. 
(This covers disqualification under the Childcare Act 2006 for schools and early years 
settings where a person works with children under the age of 8). 

  
If the DSL feels that the allegation does not meet the above criteria, s/he should carefully 
record why this is, along with any decisions s/he has made regarding any further action 
needed. The person about whom the allegation has been made should be kept informed, 
as well as the child/young person’s parents and the child/young person themselves.   
  
If the DSL is unsure about this, s/he should discuss the case with the LADO to consider how 
to move forward.  The LADO can be contacted between Monday-Friday, 9am-5pm.  
  
There will be occasions when urgent action is needed to safeguard the child/children (e.g. 
police contact in an emergency or medical attention for the child following an incident). In 
all cases, however, the LADO must be contacted without delay and all decisions should be 
made in consultation with the LADO.  

Page 58



49  
  

  
Steps must be taken to fully support anyone who, in good faith, reports his or her concerns 
about a colleague and every effort must be made to maintain confidentiality for all parties 
whilst the allegation is considered.   
  
Managing the member of staff against whom the allegation has been made  
 
If there is an allegation that a person has harmed or may have harmed a child, the person 
who the allegation is against should not be spoken to about the allegation before speaking 
to the LADO.   
 
It may be necessary to suspend the person about whom the allegations have been made 
or remove them from duties with children. This decision should be made in liaison with 
the LADO, a senior manager and HR advice (where available) and any decision should be 
carried out so that it is consistent with the organisation’s disciplinary and staff procedures. 
Remember that those being accused must be treated fairly during any investigations.   
  
Where suspension is the next step, it will usually be necessary to tell the person why they 
are being suspended. Details of the allegation should not be shared until this is agreed by 
the LADO as part of the investigation process. It is enough to simply say that an allegation 
has been made or that a safeguarding concern has been raised.   
  
Suspension should be seen as a neutral act which protects the individual concerned as well 
as the child as it can prevent further allegations or any recriminatory behaviour.   
  
If the person is a member of the union or professional association, s/he should be advised to 
seek support from that organisation. The DSL must also consider whether the person has 
children or has access to children in another setting and through consultation with the 
LADO, decide whether those organisations/agencies need to be informed.   
  
All agencies should carry out internal disciplinary/investigative processes according to 
their own procedures, alongside an on-going consultation with the LADO. This ensures 
that the matter is handled in line with legal processes, including the child protection 
process. Internal processes are usually carried out following the conclusion of the child 
protection investigation and are informed by the findings of that investigation.   
  
  

 
  
 

Remember that the LADO’s involvement in the handling of any allegations against staff  
and volunteers;   

Ensures  compliance with statutory requirements   

Provides the DSL with guidance and support to make certain the process is handled  
sensitively and appropriately .   

Page 59



50  
  

  
LADO  
  
Every local authority has a Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) to whom allegations 
must be reported and with whom plans should be made about how matters are 
progressed. The LADO is a senior member of staff who: 

• Is involved in the management and oversight of individual cases which meet 
threshold (the LADO does not investigate allegations). 

• Provides advice and guidance to employers and voluntary organisations  
• Liaises with the police and other agencies   
• Monitors the progress of cases to ensure that they are dealt with as quickly as 

possible, following a consistent, thorough and fair process. 
• Makes referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Services where there is no employer 

to do so.  
  
Though allegations of abuse can be made to anyone in an organisation, it is the role of the 
Designated Safeguarding Lead to take these forward and to be the link between the 
organisation and the LADO until the matter is resolved.   
  
It is important to bear in mind that children/young people can be abused in all kinds of 
settings and therefore all allegations must be taken seriously. This should not be ignored 
but should be acted on immediately.   
  
Role of Staff member/volunteer to whom allegations is made.   
  
Allegations may be made directly by the child/young person, a parent, a friend of the child 
or indeed by another staff member/volunteer. It is important to listen to what is said to 
reassure the person that what they have said will be taken seriously but that you need to 
report the matter to the Designated Safeguarding Lead to deal with such matters.   
  
 
Further information. 
 
The full Barking and Dagenham Procedures for managing allegations against staff and 
volunteers can be found on the page for professionals at https://bdsafeguarding.org/ 
 

It is extremely important that all aspects of any allegation and  
  

  following investigation are carefully recorded, these records will b
 helpful if any future allegations arise, and to ensure transparency and 

accountability when dealing with complex and emotive issues.  

 This chapter should be read in conjunction with The ole ad responsibilities of 

the Nominated Safeguarding Person    

  

Page 60

https://bdsafeguarding.org/


51  
  

Section 16 

Information Sharing  
  

With regards to the welfare of children/young people, information sharing is key to enabling 
early intervention and preventative work. By sharing genuine concerns about a child or 
family, professionals can construct a more accurate picture about a child/young person’s 
safety and well-being.  Data Protection should not be a barrier to sharing information 
where you suspect a child or young person is at risk of harm.  
  

Seven golden rules for information sharing  
  

1. Remember that the General Data Protection Regulation, Data Protection Act 2018 
and human rights law are not barriers to justified information sharing but provide a 
framework to ensure that personal information about living individuals is shared 
appropriately.  

2. Be open and honest with the person (and/or their family where appropriate) from 
the outset about why, what, how and with whom information will, or could be 
shared, and seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate to do so.   

3. Seek advice if you are in any doubt, without disclosing the identity of the person 
where possible.   

4. Where possible, share information with consent, and where possible, respect the 
wishes of those who do not consent to having their information shared. Under the 
GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018, you may share information without consent if, 
in your judgement, there is lawful basis to do so, such as where safety may be at 
risk. You will need to base your judgement on the facts of the case. When you are 
sharing or requesting personal information from someone, be clear of the basis 
upon which you are doing so. Where you do not have consent, be mindful that an 
individual might not expect information to be shared. 

5. Consider safety and well-being: Base your information sharing decisions on 
considerations of the safety and well-being of the person and others who may be 
affected by their actions.   

6. Necessary, proportionate, relevant, accurate, timely and secure: Ensure that the 
information you share is necessary for the purpose for which you are sharing it, is 
shared only with those people who need to have it, is accurate and up-to-date, is 
shared in a timely fashion, and is shared securely.   

7. Keep a record of your decision and the reasons for it – whether it is to share 
information or not. If you decide to share, then record what you have shared, with 
whom and for what purpose.   

  
 
Further guidance on Information Sharing can be found on the government website: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/721581/Information_sharing_advice_practitioners_safeguarding_services.pdf 
 protect a child/young person from a real risk of harm. outcome of the 
discussion is recorded.  

Page 61

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721581/Information_sharing_advice_practitioners_safeguarding_services.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721581/Information_sharing_advice_practitioners_safeguarding_services.pdf


52  
  

 

Section 17 

Online/E-Safety  
  

The internet, mobile phones, social networking and other interactive tools and spaces 
have transformed the way in which we live. Children and young people are among the 
early adopters of the new technologies and move effortlessly between the various 
interactive services and devices to communicate, create and share content with family and 
friends.   
  
Whilst most children and young people use the internet responsibly and safely, it is essential 
that all potential risks are recognised, identified and mitigated and that staff and volunteers 
feel confident about evaluating e-safety and seeking help when needed.   
  
In 2008, Professor Tanya Byron conducted a review of risks that children face from the 
internet and modern technology. The so called ‘3Cs’ risk matrix illustrated below is helpful 
in understanding the breadth and depth of potential risks.   
  
  
  
  Content   

Child as recipient  
Contact   
Child as participant  

Conduct  
Child as actor  

Commercial  Adverts  
Spam  
Sponsorship  
Personal Info  

Tracking  
Harvesting personal 
information   

Illegal downloading  
Hacking   
Gambling  
Financial scams  
Terrorism   

Aggressive  Violent/hateful 
content  

Being bullied, 
harassed or stalked  

Bulling or harassing 
another  

Sexual  Pornographic or 
unwelcome sexual 
content  

Meeting strangers 
Being groomed  

Creating and 
uploading 
inappropriate 
material  

Values   Bias   
Racist   
Misleading 
information or advice  

Self harm  
Unwelcome 
persuasions  

Providing misleading 
information or advice  

   

Page 62



53  
  

In the community and voluntary sector, professionals have the responsibility to firstly, 
support children and young people to stay safe online and secondly manage an E-safe 
environment within their organisation.   
  
  
Supporting children and young people to stay safe online  
 
All staff and volunteers have the responsibility to support children and young people to stay 
safe and use internet responsibly by:   
  

- Educating children and young people about the potential risks and ways of 
avoiding/mitigating them  

- Raising awareness of issues such as grooming, bullying, IT based sexual 
exploitation and pornography   

- Providing children and young people with information about expert 
organisations and sources of help and advice  

- Supporting parents and carer to effectively monitor their children’s access to and 
use of internet and help their children stay safe online  

  
  

 For dedicated recourses for professionals, parents/carers and children can visit CEOP 
ThinkUKnow: http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/   

  
  
  
Creating and managing an E-safe environment within your organisation   
  
It is the responsibility of the Designated Safeguarding Lead and the management to ensure 
your organisation has an e-safety policy and clear rules regarding the use of the internet, 
social media, mobile phones and other modern technology tools within the workplace.   
  
The rules that staff and volunteers should follow are:  

- Do not take photographs of children on your mobile phone or personal camera  
- Do not accept or invite children as ‘friends’ or contacts on social networking sites  
- Ensure your personal profile on websites such as Facebook is not visible to 

‘strangers’ and that it does not contact any inappropriate content e.g. pictures of 
you while drunk or wearing revealing clothing  

- Make all children and young people aware of the meaning and importance of 
professional boundaries and how they impact on the child/young person to 
professional relationship. 

 
 
Guidance on how to write a e-safety policy and risk assess your organisation , further 
information can be found at  https://www.saferinternet.org.uk/advice-centre/teachers-
and-school-staff/online-safety-policy

Page 63

http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.saferinternet.org.uk/advice-centre/teachers-and-school-staff/online-safety-policy
https://www.saferinternet.org.uk/advice-centre/teachers-and-school-staff/online-safety-policy


 

 

Section 18 

Safer Recruitment 
  
  

It is vital that any organisation employing professionals or volunteers to work with children 
create a culture of safe recruitment procedures that deter, reject, or identify people who 
might abuse children.  
 
In the recruitment of staff, organisations must ensure that:  
  

• Recruitment documentation: (application form and adverts) contain reference to 
the organisations commitment to safeguarding children and young people.  

• Employment history: Employers should always ask for written information about 
previous employment and check that the information is complete and not 
contradictory, for example there are no overlaps or unaccounted for gaps in 
employment.  

• References: A minimum of two references are obtained, including one from the 
applicant’s current or most recent employer. Where possible one reference should 
be from a person who has experience of the applicant’s work with children/young 
people.  Referees are asked questions relating to the applicant’s suitability to work 
with children/young people, including whether the applicant has been subject of any 
disciplinary sanctions and where there has been any allegations made against 
him/her which relate to the safety and welfare of children and outcome of these.   

• Identification: Applicants should be asked to bring original or certified copies of 
documents confirming any necessary or relevant educational and professional 
qualifications.  All applicants should be asked to bring interview evidence of their 
identity, which could include a full birth certificate, passport or photo card driving 
license and additionally a document such as a utility bill that verifies the candidate’s 
name and address. Applicants should be able to evidence their right to work in the 
UK.  

• Interviews: Applications should be scrutinised for any anomalies or discrepancies in 
the information provided. Any gaps in the applicant’s history should be explored and 
any safeguarding matters which came up during the reference stage should be 
addressed and answered for by the applicant. Interviews should be rigorous in 
addressing safeguarding issues. 

• DBS: All applicants who are being considered for employment working with children 
should have a check via the Disclosure and Barring Service. The level of activity an 
applicant will have with children will determine the level of DBS check required. 
However, if a person at any point during their employment will work with children 
unsupervised, it is recommended they are subject to an Enhanced DBS with barred 
list check.  

 
Further information on DBS checks and Safer Recruitment can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service and 
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/safeguarding-child-protection/safer-recruitment 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/safeguarding-child-protection/safer-recruitment


  
  
  

55  
  

 
 

Section 19 

Managing Staff and Volunteers  
  

  
All staff, both paid and voluntary, should receive an induction, support, and supervision 
throughout their employment/volunteering and appropriate training in the recognition and 
response to potential child protection concerns and the operation of safeguarding policy 
and procedures.   
  
Paid and voluntary appointments should be conditional on successful completion of a 
probationary period.   
  
Induction   
  
Induction in organisations working with children/young people and families should clearly 
define the expectation of commitment to safeguarding and the requirement to comply with 
the organisation’s safeguarding policies and procedures and the code of conduct.   
  

 See Appendix 2: Safeguarding policy and statement and Appendix 3: Code of 
Behaviour  

 
This should include being explicit about:  
  

• Role boundaries and professional propriety  
• Individual safeguarding responsibilities, including what to do if concerns about a 

child’s welfare arise  
• Providing the name, contact details and responsibilities of Nominated Safeguarding 

Person and their Deputy within the organisation   
• Providing a copy of your organisation’s safeguarding children policy 

statement, providing a copy of your organisation’s code of conduct 
and undertaking relevant training related to the post.   

  
  
Supervision   
  
The work that both paid staff and volunteers take on can be difficult and demanding. This 
can have an unexpected impact on staff members themselves, placing them in potentially 
sensitive or risky situations that even the most experienced person will need help in dealing 
with.   
  

Page 65



56  
  

Supervision is essential in organisations providing services to children/young people, as it 
allows staff and volunteers to reflect on their own practice and their relationship with 
children, and to raise concerns or difficulties.   
  
It also enables the organisation to ensure that staff and volunteers are always clear about 
professional standards, boundaries, and organisational objectives.   
  
Though supervision may be more formal for paid staff than for volunteers, it should always:   
  

• Follow a standard format   
• clarify the objectives of your organisation and the expectations on the individual and 

their role in meeting those objectives  
• support the individual in fulfilling their role and responsibilities   
• ensure an anti-discriminatory approach to practice which puts the welfare of 

children/young people first   
• be clear about confidentiality and its limits  
• be appropriately recorded   
• ensure that standards, content, storage, and status of records are agreed by both 

parties   
• be jointly reviewed and evaluated   
• ensure both parties share responsibility for ensuring supervision is regularly 

undertaken and outcomes acted upon   
• ensure both parties share responsibility for being open and honest in raising 

concerns about practical, developmental, or emotional blocks to effective delivery of 
service, and work together to identify solutions  

  
Training   
  
All staff working with children/young people should have basic safeguarding/child 
protection training that equips them to recognise and respond to child welfare concerns.   
  
Ideally all staff and volunteers should receive initial basic training (Level 1) when they are 
first appointed. This is either provided externally or through in-house training provided by 
an external organisation.   
 
Where that is not immediately possible, due to shortage of available courses, the 
organisation should make alternative arrangements. This might include providing 
appropriate guidance/literature, regular safeguarding briefing session or basic safeguarding 
awareness packs.   
  
Having undertaken the basic awareness course, staff and volunteers should undertake 
refresher courses every 2 years thereafter to keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date.   
 
The NSPCC have many online training course which can be accessed via their website: 
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/training/our-elearning-courses 
  
 

Page 66

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/training/our-elearning-courses


  
  
  

57  
  

Section 20  

Protect yourself when working alone  
  

Working on your own with a child, in your setting or as a tutor, could mean that you are 
more vulnerable to allegations as there is no one to witness what happens in the 
setting/home. Because of this, it makes sense to take steps to protect yourself, particularly 
when many of these steps are simply good practice.   
  
You should:  
  

• Report suspicious injuries or your concerns promptly.   
  

• Keep a diary or daily record. As well as noting all the activities that happen during 
the day, you can record details of any behaviour that is different in the child   

  
• Keep a record of any accidents and make sure parents/carers know about them – 

this makes explanations easier if questions are raised  
  

• Always keep parents/carers fully informed of things that happen during the day   
  

• Get parents/carers’ written permission before photographing or filming children   
  

• Attend training to update your understanding of child protection  
  

• Familiarise yourself with these child protection procedures.   
  
  
If you are a providing a service from your home, you should also make sure that everyone 
else in your home is aware that they are also open to allegations. Explain that, while you are 
working and have children in your home, some things could be misinterpreted. For example, 
would it be suitable for your teenage son to “just nip downstairs” in his underwear to get 
some jeans out of the tumble dryer? Think about how a young child might tell their parents 
about this.   
  
If you are employing another childminder, or an assistant, then follow safe recruitment and 
employment processes, to ensure that they are suitable to work with children.   
  
The NSPCC has further information on lone working and precautions that can be taken on 
their website: https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/safeguarding-child-protection/lone-working 
  
  
  

Page 67

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/safeguarding-child-protection/lone-working


58  
  

  
  

Section 21  

Good practice in your setting  
  
This chapter focuses on the practices that should be implemented in the day to day running 
of your organisation’s activities with children/young people. By applying these processes, 
you keep children safer and reduce the risk of allegations against staff/volunteers being 
made due to poor practice.   
  
Adult to Child Ratios  
When working with groups of children or young people, it is important that the level of 
supervision is appropriate to their age group and their needs, which may be very specific.   
  
In general, younger children need to be more closely supervised and will require a higher 
adult to child ratio. The following are the adult to child ratios we would recommend for 
voluntary organisations, which are based on NSPCC guidelines:   

  
  

Child’s Age  Amount of Adults  Amount of Children  
0-2  1  3  
2-3  1  4  
4-8  1  6  

9-12  1  8  
13-18  1  10  

  
  

If the group is mixed gender, the supervising staff should also include both male and female 
workers wherever possible.   
 
When deciding on the number of adults required, it is important to bear in mind that these 
ratios are guidelines only: in certain situations, it will be necessary to have a higher number 
of adults than our recommendations suggest. If, for instance, the children or young people 
have specific support needs, or a risk assessment identifies behaviour as a potential issue 
for the group or event, the number of supervising adults will need to be higher.  
  
It may not always be possible to adhere to these recommended ratios. However, every 
effort should be made to achieve the best level of supervision of children at all times.   
  
 
Safety tips for outings and trips  
Many of you take your children out on trips during the school holidays, below are some top 
tips on keeping your children safe whilst out and about:  
  

Page 68



  
  
  

59  
  

• Ensure you have written parental permission to take the children on outings.   
• Visit each specific location before taking the children, to identify any potential risks.  

Carry out a full risk assessment and produce an action plan   
• Will you use public transport? What are the risks? Stairs, lifts, escalators, etc  
• Check the public transport timetable. Are you using a coach or minibus?  
• Do you have a back-up plan in the event of a breakdown?  

• Have you got a named driver? Do you have adequate vehicle insurance?  
• Consider your adult to child ratios; do you need to exceed the normal ratio 

requirements?  
• Are you able to identify all of your children whilst out and about? Do they wear a 

coloured tabard/ vest, hat, coloured strip etc?  
• Can the children identify you if they get lost? Do you wear a uniform?  
• Is there a lost child point?  
• Check the weather report, are the children dressed appropriately?  

• Create sticky labels with the organisation’s mobile number on for each child. 
• What happens in the event of a medical emergency?  

  
Essential item to take with you: 

• First aid kit (at least one adult should be first aid trained) 
• Contact numbers for parents   
• Mobile phone (fully charged)  
• Register (also remember to leave a copy with a member of staff who is not going on 

the trip. Make sure that the parents/carers have this person’s details in case they 
need them to contact you in an emergency)  

• List of allergies if the children have any  
  
Although this may seem a vast list, it is necessary to ensure that you are prepared for any 
situation to ensure the children are kept safe. By doing these checks you and the children 
will have a stress free, fun outing.   
  
Reducing the risk of children going missing   
Discovering that a child in your care has gone missing is one of the most traumatic situations 
staff and volunteers may have to deal with. Groups/organisations must take necessary steps 
to safeguard and promote the welfare children.   
  
Legal requirements specific to premises and security are:  
  

• The premises - both indoors and outdoors - must be safe and secure  
• Providers must only release children into the care of individuals named by the 

parent/carer  
• Providers must ensure that children do not leave the premises unsupervised  
• Providers must take steps to prevent intruders from entering the premises  

  

Page 69



60  
  

The safety checklist provided below should help you evaluate your security systems to 
determine future improvements, and form part of your regular self-evaluation processes.   
  

• All gates and doors into the setting well secured and child proof  
• Visitors cannot enter your premises unnoticed   
• Children cannot leave your premises unnoticed   
• All staff and children are signed in, with actual times recorded for arrival and 

departure  
• All visitors including prospective parents sign your visitors’ book, and are asked for 

proof of identity   
• There is a list of adults other than parents who are authorised to collect children   
• Notices are displayed to reinforce security where necessary   
• There is a system for monitoring children e.g. headcounts  
• Ratios are always maintained   
• Children are adequately supervised   
• Regular risk assessments are carried out   

• A robust missing child procedure is in place, and all staff are inducted into the 
procedure.  

  
It is good practice to regularly check all entry and exit points. Wooden doors and gates for 
example can expand or contract with changes in the weather making a gate that could shut 
securely in the summer unable to shut in the winter.   
  
Regularly review your procedures for recording all arrivals and departures and monitor the 
whereabouts of other users of the premises.   
   
Photographing and recording children   
It is important that children and young people feel happy with their achievements and have 
visual aids to reinforce their special moments. The majority of occasions when people take 
photographs of children and young people are appropriate and do not provide any cause for 
concern.   
  
Unfortunately, there are occasions when this is not the case, and these are some of the risks 
associated with photographing children:  
  

• The collection and passing on of images which may be misused  
• The identification of individual children to facilitate abuse 
• The identification of children in vulnerable circumstances.  

  
There are several issues to be aware of: 
  

• Permission (verbal or written) of all the people (children and adults) who will appear 
in a photograph, video or web cam image must be obtained before the photograph 
is taken or footage recorded   

• It must be made clear why that person's image is being used, what you will be using 
it for, and who might want to look at the pictures  

Page 70



  
  
  

61  
  

• If images are being taken at an event attended by large crowds, such as a sports 
event, this is regarded as a public area and permission from a crowd is not necessary   

• If photographs or recordings of children's / youth groups are made and individual 
children can be easily identified, children's / youth leaders must find out whether any 
parents do not want their children to be in the photography   

• Children and young people under the age of 18 should not be identified by surname 
or other personal details. These details include e-mail or postal addresses, telephone 
or fax numbers. In particular cases, such as a youth group in a small rural area, it 
might be wise to avoid even using first names since in a small locality these children 
could be very easily traced   

• When using photographs of children and young people, it is preferable to use group 
pictures   

• Obtain written and specific consent from parents or carers before using photographs 
on a website   

  
Use of mobile phone guidance  
Nearly all mobile phones now have cameras and access to the Internet. It has therefore 
become necessary to introduce some safeguarding measures to reduce the risk of potential 
allegations against staff and volunteers.   
  
The following recommendations have been developed to assist you in putting together a 
mobile phone policy for your organisation   
  

• Staff and volunteers must not have their phone on their person whilst on duty with 
the children   

• All mobile phones must be switched off and locked away at the beginning of each 
shift in a secure designated area, which is not accessible to children   

• Phones can be used away from the children during scheduled breaks, but must be 
switched off and returned to the secure designated area before returning to duty   

• In case of emergencies that may require staff to keep their phone switched on, it will 
be a management responsibility to assess and manage the risk   

• All staff should provide the landline phone numbers of the setting for friends and 
family to contact them in an emergency   

• A mobile phone with no camera or access to the Internet can be used during outings. 
Staff mobile phones should remain locked securely in the centre during outings  

• Staff should be reminded of their responsibility to report to management any 
breeches of agreed procedures   

• Any substantiated breeches of procedure should lead to disciplinary action, 
according to your setting’s disciplinary procedures.   

  
 
 
  

Page 71



62  
  

Chapter 22  

Insurance and Risk Assessments  
  

  
Insurance   
All organisations need to take out insurance. Whatever you do there is a risk and we live in a 
world where people and organisations are increasingly likely to take your organisation to 
court. Terrible things do happen. Imagine an organisation taking children to the seaside and 
one child being injured running across the road. It could be claimed that the organisation 
failed to provide adequate supervision, which is why it is essential to do Risk Assessments 
(see the next page).   
  
When taking out insurance, you need to make sure that it covers the risks that your 
organisation may face e.g. being sued over a child becoming injured in your setting.   
  
The only way you can do this is assess all the possible risks that your organisation may face. 
Below are some key points that you should consider before taking out insurance:  
  

• Is the insurance compulsory or required to meet the needs of funding agreements?  
• What risks are covered by the policy?  
• What risks are excluded?  
• What are the conditions of the policy? For example, do door locks need to be of a 

specific standard?  
   

General guidance on taking out insurance for voluntary and community sector 
organisations: 

 
Make sure that you complete any forms related to insurance applications or claims with great 
care and with complete honesty. Any significant information that has been missed out or 
falsified could result in your insurance being rendered invalid.  
  
Your insurance may well rely on you having specific arrangements (such as child protection 
policies and procedures, adequate health and safety provision, or security measures) in 
place. Make sure that you have checked this out and that you have done what you need to 
do to make sure that you are covered. 
  
Check out the small print to make sure that your insurance covers your needs and is 
sufficient. If there is anything that you are unsure of, ask before you commit to it.   
  
Keep all your insurance documents together in a safe place. As a minimum you should keep 
hold of the certificate and the schedule for each insurance type, plus the contact details in 
case you need to make a claim. Review your insurance regularly and audit it against your 
needs   
  
 

Page 72



  
  
  

63  
  

If your group is part of a national charity, check with your head office to see whether the 
insurance you are considering is already arranged or whether your project can be part of a 
corporate purchase.   
  
Some types of insurance are a legal requirement. Others are a matter of choice. It is 
important to be adequately insured, but it is equally important to be proportionate and not 
to waste money on insurance policies that are unnecessary.   
  
The most common and probably the most important types of insurance cover are:  
  

• Public liability insurance   
• Employer’s liability insurance  
• Professional indemnity insurance   
• Buildings and contents insurance  

  
Risk Assessments  
A risk assessment is simply a careful examination of what in your work could cause harm to 
people, so that you can weigh up whether you have taken enough precautions or should do 
more to prevent harm. Everyone in your organisation (children/young people, 
staff/volunteers, parents/carers, trustees etc.) has a right to be protected from harm caused 
by a failure to take reasonable control measures.   
  
With regards to working with children and young people, risk assessments must be 
undertaken for any activities/excursions you are planning. Factors such as behaviour of 
children/young people, weather conditions and the medical needs of any children/young 
people must be considered, and a plan put into place to deal with any problems that may 
arise.   
  
Also, some organisations recruiting staff and volunteers may need the person to start before 
their Enhanced DBS check has come through (as they can take several weeks). If this is the 
case, then a risk assessment MUST be done to ensure that the children and young people in 
your care are protected. This includes ensuring that the staff member is not left alone with 
the children/young people and that their references, identity, and qualifications have been 
thoroughly checked.   
 
The five steps to assessing risk are:  

1. Identify the hazards/risks  
2. Decide who might be harmed how   
3. Evaluate the risks and decide on precaution   
4. Record your findings and implement them   
5. Review your assessment and update if necessary   

  
 For a model risk assessment form a Appendix 5  

Page 73



64  
  

   

Section 23  

Other Policies in your Organisation  

 
Safeguarding Policies and Procedures are an essential element of an effective safeguarding 
practice within all organisations. Some other policies play an important role in keeping 
children safe. In addition, they are essential in ensuring the safety and well-being of all staff 
and volunteers.   
  
Equal opportunities policy   
This policy should ensure that no child/young person is discriminated against on the grounds 
of race, gender, culture, sexual orientation, economic status or ability (other than where 
such a distinction is an inherent part of the activity e.g. gender specific activities, religious 
observance or competitive sports). The policy should address both the corporate and 
personal responsibilities of agencies and staff, to ensure that all children are treated with 
respect and encourage them to respect each other.   
  
Complaints and grievance policies   
Each organisation should develop and publish a procedure by which aggrieved children 
and/or their parents/carers may make representations should they believe that they have 
been subject to discriminatory, abusive, or inappropriate treatment. The procedures must 
provide for an element of independent review and for adequate redress where a complaint 
is substantiated.  
  
Confidentiality policy   
This details how any information regarding children and their families will be held and under 
what circumstances such information may be shared with other agencies. The policies must 
be in accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Human 
Rights Act 1998.   
  
Healthy and Safety Policy   
A health and safety policy sets out your general approach, objectives, and the arrangements 
you have put in place for managing health and safety in your business. It is a unique 
document that says who does what, when and how.   
  
Whistle- blowing policy   
This provides a method for staff, volunteers, or service users to make known any concerns that 
they may have about the behaviour of any other person within the organisation. Such policies 
will detail how these matters will be handled and investigated.   
  
Staff Behaviour Policy 
This should set out the minimum expectations of staff conduct both inside and outside your 
organisation. It should reference what is deemed a conduct issue, an allegation and what 
steps may be taken if staff are found to be in breach of this policy.  

 

Page 74



  
  
  

65  
  

  
 Appendix A:  
 

Safeguarding Procedures Checklist 
Answer each question to determine if your organisation has key safeguarding processes in 
place. Use this document to list the actions you will take if you have answered any of the 
questions ‘no’.  
 

 
Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Has a Designated Safeguarding Lead been 
appointed in your organisation? 

   

Is it clear to all staff and volunteers who the DSL 
is and what their role is?  

   

Has a deputy DSL been appointed who can act 
in the absence of the DSL? 

   

Does the organisation / DSL follow the LBBD 
safeguarding children (Green book) as a model 
for responding to child protection matters? 

   

 
Information to all staff and volunteers 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Do all staff understand their role and 
responsibility in the safeguarding of children? 

   

Does the organisation have a child protection 
policy statement? 

   

Does the organisation have a staff behaviour 
policy which staff have read and understood?  

   
 

Do you make child protection documentation 
easily accessible to all staff?  

   

Do all your staff and volunteers receive child 
protection training which is regularly updated 
every 2 years as a minimum? 

   

 
Children and Young People 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Is the ethos of your organisation one where 
children and young people are valued, 
respected, listened to and taken seriously? 

   

Do staff and volunteers create opportunities for 
children and young people to communicate 
about issues that concern them? 

   

Page 75



66  
  

Do children and young people understand your 
organisations role to keep them safe and their 
right to be protected from harm?  

   

 
Recording Keeping 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Is there a system for staff and volunteers to log 
their concerns to pass to the DSL? 

   

Does the DSL have a system for recording and 
storing confidential child protection 
information? 

   

Are staff and volunteers aware that time to 
time, they may be asked to monitor children 
with regards to child protection concerns? 

   

Are staff aware that they may be called upon to 
complete a referral to social care and do they 
know how to make a referral if required? 

   

 
Information to parents and carers 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Is information about the organisation’s 
responsibility for the safeguarding of children 
made available to parents / carers?  

   

Are concerns about children shared with 
parents / carers? (Unless to do so may place the 
child at increased risk of harm). 

   

 
Safer Recruitment 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Does your organisation follow safer recruitment 
guidelines? 

   

 
Allegations against staff and volunteers 
 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Action 

Are procedures in place regarding what to do if 
an allegation of harm is made against a member 
of staff or volunteer? 

   

Do you know who your local authority 
designated officer is, and do you report all 
concerns where a member of staff or volunteer 
may have harmed a child? 

   

Is your organisation pro-active in its attempts to 
reduce the possibility of allegations against 
staff? 

   

 
 
  
  

Page 76



  
  
  

67  
  

 
Appendix 2 
  

Guidance on developing a safeguarding 
children policy statement  

  
  
Why do you need a safeguarding policy?  
  
There is a legal requirement (Section 11 of the Children Act 2004)  
To effectively protect children from harm and abuse to promote their welfare  
To set out clear rules for all staff and volunteers to follow  
To help parents/carers make informed decisions about trusting you with their children  
To make it harder for risky/unsuitable individuals to get access to children and young people  
To evidence your organisation’s commitment to safeguarding to the Local Authority, the  
Charity Commission, funders, commissioners and other strategic partner and stakeholders  
  
  
Safeguarding children policy should contain the following elements:  
 
The purpose of your policy   
Statement of commitment   
Definitions of safeguarding and child protection   
Scope of the policy/who does it apply to (staff, trustees, volunteers, sessional workers etc).  
Underlying principles (welfare of the child is paramount, working in partnership)  
Legislative framework (Children Act 1989, Working Together 2013)  
Details of your NSP and their Deputy (name, job/role, title, contact details)  
Date when adopted and review arrangements (how often you plan to review it)  
  
To make your safeguarding policy more effective document, attach a Code of Behaviour to 
the policy document   
  

 Please refer to Appendix 3: Model Code of Behaviour for staff and volunteers  
  
  
  Remember:  
  A good safeguarding children policy statement  
   You staff and volunteers must be able to understand and follow your  
 policy in order to eff 
 
 

Page 77



68  
  

Model Policy Statement   
  

Safeguarding Children Policy Statement  
    
Statement of commitment   
We are aware that many children and young people are victims of different kinds of abuse. 
This includes children who live or access activities in LBBD. We are also aware that many 
families in LBBD experience hardship and various difficulties and they need support to 
provide adequate care for their children.   
  
  
At [name of your organisation] we aim to create an environment that is safe, and we are 
committed to doing everything in our power to protect children, promote their welfare and 
support their families.   
  
Purpose of this policy  
  
The purpose of this policy is to:  

• Effectively safeguard children and promote their rights and welfare  
• Provide all staff and volunteers with clear rules to follow   
• Make all staff and volunteers aware of what is expected of them in terms of their 

approach, behaviour, and actions  
• Evidence to [name of your organisation] users, parents and carers, the local 

community, partner organisations, the Local Authority and funding and 
commissioning bodies that [name of your organisation] is committed to 
safeguarding.   

  
Scope of this policy   
This policy applies to all [name of your organisation] staff and volunteers, including trustees, 
sessional workers, students on work placements and anyone working on behalf of [name of 
your organisation].   
  
Definitions   
  
Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is the process of: - 

 Protecting children from maltreatment   
- Preventing impairment of children’s health or development   
- Ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the 

provision of safe and effective care.   
- Taking action to enable all children to have the best life chances.   

  
Child protection is the process of protecting individual children identified as either suffering 
or at risk of suffering significant harm as a result of abuse of neglect.   
  
 
 

Page 78



  
  
  

69  
  

Legislative Framework  
 
At [name of your organisation] we recognise our legal responsibility to safeguard children 
and promote their welfare. We will therefore act within the framework set by the Children 
Act 1989 and The Children Act 2004. We will also follow the Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018 guidance.   
  
As our safeguarding procedures we adopt the LBBD’s Safeguarding Children Guidance 2020 
(the Green Book).   
  
Underlying principles  
At [name of your organisation] we will endeavour to safeguard children by:  

• Following the Green Book guidance in our day-to-day work  
• Listening to children and young people and respecting and valuing them at all times.   
• Challenging discrimination and promoting the right to equal protection regardless of 

race, ethnicity, culture, religion, faith, gender, sexual orientation, disability, social or 
immigration status or any other element of diversity   

• Providing effective management to staff and volunteers through support, 
supervision, and training   

• Recruiting staff and volunteers safely, ensuring that all necessary checks are made, 
and safe recruitment good practice guidelines are followed  

• Responding to both child protection and non-child protection concerns immediately.   
• In cases of doubt, questions or need for guidance, always seek advice by calling the 

MASH number (020 8 227 3811), or, in cases involving staff/volunteers, the Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO).  

• Working in partnership with children, their parents and carers, members of the local 
community and local statutory and voluntary organisations  

• Adhering to the attached Code of Behaviour for staff at all times.   

Details of the Designated Safeguarding Lead and their Deputy  
The Designated Safeguarding Lead for [name of your organisation]: 
Name:  
Job/Role Title  
Contact Tel:        Email:  
  
The Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead for [name of your organisation] is   
Name:  
Job/Role Title  
Contact Tel:        Email:  
  
Review Arrangements  
[Name of your organisation] will review this policy annually. In cases of relevant legal or 
local procedures changes, we will review this policy accordingly.   

Page 79



70  
  

  
 ______________________________________________________________  
  
This policy statement was adopted by the Board of Trustees on   
  
………………………………………………  
  
Appendix 3 
  

Code of Behaviour for Staff and Volunteers  
  
  
Below is a sample ‘Code of Behaviour’ for staff and volunteers. It is not an exhaustive list 
and can be added to and adapted to suit the needs of your organisation. When developing a 
Code of Conduct for your organisation, follow these two simple rules:  
  

• Consider the type of activities you provide, age of children and any specific cultural 
issues of relevance to your work and reflect these in you Code of Conduct.  

• Keep it succinct and straightforward; avoid vague statements  
  
Codes of Behaviour outline good and desirable behaviours and actions towards children and 
young people, as well as unacceptable and wrong behaviours that put children, young 
people, and staff/volunteers.   
  
All staff and volunteers are expected to follow their organisation’s Code of Behaviour at all 
times and must contact the Designated Safeguarding Lead or their Deputy if they have any 
questions or if they are unclear about any of the points include in the Code.  
  
  
Staff and Volunteers SHOULD AT ALL TIMES:  
  

• Be aware that your main priority is the child/young person in your care  
• Listen to children and young people and talk to them about their right to be kept 

safe from harm   

• Be respectful towards the children in your care, their parents/carers, and fellow 
workers  

• Seek advice and support from your colleagues, activity leaders or supervisors and 
your Designated Safeguarding Lead 

• Report all concerns, disclosures, or allegations (made by children, parents/carers or 
colleagues) to the Nominated Safeguarding Person or their Deputy  

• Avoid physical contact with children unless it is clearly for purposes of an activity 

  
  

Page 80



  
  
  

71  
  

 
 
Staff and Volunteers SHOULD NOT:  
  

• Never use any kind of physical punishment or chastisement such as smacking or 
hitting.   

• Use excessive verbal chastisement of a child, such as swearing or language which 
could be deemed emotionally harmful 

• Do not kiss or cuddle children, do not allow children to sit on your lap and do not 
give them presents  

• You should not invite a young person to your home or arrange to see them outside 
set activity times  

• You should not engage in any sexual activity (this would include using sexualised 
language) with a young person you meet through your duties or start a personal 
relationship with them, this would be an abuse of trust.   

• Do not add children/young people onto social networking sites e.g. Facebook,  
Instagram. Also be aware of your online profile and check your privacy settings   

• Do not investigate any concerns or reports. Instead, you should contact your 
Designated Safeguarding Lead or the Deputy immediately.   

• Never let allegations, made by anyone, go unacknowledged, unresolved, or not 
acted upon. Talk to your Designated Safeguarding Lead or Manager  

  
  
Staff and volunteers should also follow the following GOOD PRACTICE 
GUIDELINES:  
  

• Be careful about forming personal relationships with parents/carers. This could make 
it difficult to report allegations/suspicions of abuse. Remember your duty of care is 
to the child/young person  

• Physical contact should be open and initiated by the child’s needs, e.g. for a hug 
when upset or help with toileting. Always prompt children to carry out personal care 
themselves and if they cannot manage ask if they would like help   

• Exercise caution about being alone with a child or young person. In situations where 
this may be needed (for example where a young person wants to speak in private) 
think about ways of making this seem less secret. For example, by telling another 
worker or volunteer what you are doing and where you are or leaving a door open. 
Remember to record your conversation in the log   

• Remember you set an example to children and young people - dress appropriately, 
use appropriate language and show respect to your colleagues, parents/carers, 
children, and young people at all times.   

Page 81



72  
  

  
Appendix 4 
  
                                                                                                                                       

   Internal Cause for Concern log 
  
Section 1: Details of the child and their Parent/Carer:  
  
Name of Child/Young Person:  
  
  
Sex:              
Male                 Female   
  

Age:     
Date of Birth:   

Parent’s/ Carer’s Name(s):  
  
  
  
Home Address (including Postcode):  
  
  
  
Section 2: Your Details:   
Your Name:   
  
  
  

Your position:  Date and Time of Incident:   

Section 3: Your Report:  

Are you reporting your own concerns or responding to concerns raised by someone else?  
  
 Responding to my own concern  

  
  
 Responding to concerns raised by  

          someone  else   

If responding to concerns raised by someone else, please provide 
their name and position within the organisation:  

Page 82



  
  
  

73  
  

What are you concerned about?  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
The Child/Young person’s account, (if it can be given) of what happened and how:  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
  
  
Signature: __________________   
  
  
  
  
  

Designated Safeguarding Lead received Information on   

  

Date:        Time:   

  

Signature: ________________________   

Page 83



 

Appendix 5  

Model Risk Assessment Form   
  

  
What are the 
hazards/risk?  

  
Who might be harmed 

or affected?  

  
RAG rating  

  
  
  

  
What action is needed 
to remove or manage 

the risk?  

  
Who is responsible for 
taking action and by 

when?  

  
Tick, sign, and date 

when action has been  
taken  

            

            

            

  
  

P
age 84



 

Red Amber Green (RAG) rating   
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

75  
  

Probability   Impact   Probability + Impact = RAG rating  
1 = very unlikely  
   
2 = unlikely   
  
3 = possible  
  
4 = likely   

1 = insignificant   
  
2 = fairly serious  
  
3 = serious  
  
4 = very serious  

  
  
                                1-3 not serious  
  
                                 4-6 serious   
  
                                 7-8 very serious   

P
age 85



76  
  

 
Appendix 6 

                         Key Contacts in LBBD   
 

 
MASH (Children’s Social Care) 0208 227 
3811  
Between 8:45 and 4:45 Monday to Friday 
Reporting a concern is now done via the 
Barking and Dagenham website: 
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-
serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-
professionals 

Emergency Duty Team (EDT)  
In an emergency out of these hours:  
0208 594 8356  
 

Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) lado@lbbd.gov.uk 
020 8227 2513 or 020 8227 3934 

Barking and Dagenham Domestic and 
Sexual Violence Service (delivered by 
Refuge) 
0300 456 0174 (Mon-Fri 9am-5pm) 
 
Substance Misuse Services 
Frank helpline 0300 123 6600 
Subwize Services 0300 303 4613 
 
Carers of Barking and Dagenham 
334 Heathway, Dagenham, RM10 8NJ 
020 8593 4422 
 
NSPCC   
The NSPCC helpline provide help and 
support to thousands of adults, children 
and families. Call – 0808 800 5000  
Text – 88858  
Email – help@nspcc.org.uk   

ChildLine  
ChildLine is a private and confidential service 
for children and young people up to the age 
of nineteen.  
0800 1111  
 
Community Food Clubs 
William Bellamy Community Food Club: 
cfc.wbcc@lbbd.gov.uk  
Sue Bramley Community Food Club: 
Cfc.sb@lbbd.gov.uk  
Barking Learning Centre Community Food 
Club: Cfc.blc@lbbd.gov.uk  
 
Homes and Money Hub 
Advice on debt, benefits, and housing 
020 8724 2115 or at 
homesandmoneyhub@lbbd.gov.uk  
  
Housing and Homelessness 
John Smith House - 020 8724 8323 or 
housingadviceservice@lbbd.gov.uk  
 
Children’s Centres 
Becontree Children’s Centre: 
becontreechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
Gascoigne Children’s Centre: 
gascoignechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
Leys Children’s Centres: 
leyschildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
Marks Gate Children’s Centre: 
marksgatechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
Sue Bramley Children’s Centre: 
sue.bramleycentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
William Bellamy Children’s Centre: 
williambellamychildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk  
 

Page 86

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-a-serious-concern-about-a-child-marf-for-professionals
mailto:lado@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:cfc.wbcc@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:Cfc.sb@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:Cfc.blc@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:homesandmoneyhub@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:housingadviceservice@lbbd.gov.uk%C2%A0
mailto:housingadviceservice@lbbd.gov.uk%C2%A0
mailto:becontreechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk?loggedin=true
mailto:gascoignechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk?loggedin=true
mailto:leyschildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk?loggedin=true
mailto:marksgatechildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk?loggedin=true
mailto:sue.bramleycentre@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:williambellamychildrenscentre@lbbd.gov.uk?loggedin=true


77  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
If you have a concern about the safety of a child or if  

you are worried that a child has suffered abuse,  

contact   

  

LBBD MASH 0208 227 3811   

 out of hours 0208 594 8356   

  

  

You can  also contact the   

NSPCC Helpline 0800 800 5000   

  

  

If it is an emergency DIAL 999 for the police   

  

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Name (not formal membership)

Councillor Margaret Mullane

Claire Symonds

Stephen Clayman

April Bald

Matthew Cole

Andy Opie

Narinder Dail

Anthony Rose

Lucy Satchell-Day

Councillor Darren Rodwell & Councillor Peter Chand

Jonathan Woodhams

Angie Fuller

Laurence Piemonte 

Stephen Thompson

Mark Gilbey-Cross

Pip Salvador-Jones / Nathan Singleton

Actions Risk

Theme 
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

Local co-ordination arrangements between the Community Safety Partnership, 

Safeguarding Children and Adults Boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board, 

to support a public health approach to reduce violence

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Jade Hodgson LBBD Ongoing Ongoing

Board 

Administration 

Leads

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Quarterly meetings are held with board leads across the 

partnership forums to share information across the boards, 

review shared priorities and work in partnership to address 

shared priorities and shape partnership plans

2

CSP Meeting agendas to include Violence Performance, consideration of 

habitual knife carriers, community tensions and stop and search as standing 

items

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Daniel James/ 

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

LBBD/ MPS Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Meetings occur with regular information sharing between 

CSP leads. Violence plan is now a standing agenda item. 

Key intelligence sharing is also utilised during the monthly 

TTCG meeting between all partners. Stop and search is 

covered via SNB board agendas and community tensions 

led by the Hate Crime and Tension Monitoring subgroup.

3

Monthly Violent Crime Partnership Tasking Meeting (or local equivalent) to 

include Violence Intelligence Briefing, tasking of partnership services to target 

offenders and hotspot locations; maintain and or review Events Tracker to 

identify and manage events of risk, monitor and review community tensions and 

community feedback. 

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Paul Trevers MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing LBBD

Contact: DSU Paul Trevers

TTCG takes place every 4 weeks and is chaired by the EA 

BCU Local Investigations lead. This meeting seeks to 

identify crime trends from the previous weeks and sets to 

put in place allocated taskings to disrupt crime across the 

3 London boroughs. Hotspot locations are identified and 

discussed with an input from all supporting organisations.

4

Refresh of the local exploitation strategy and action plan to set out a local 

profile, data, intelligence, procedures, prevention and intervention for individuals 

identified as;

- Trafficked within the UK with the intention of being used to commit criminal 

acts 

- Coerced into the supply, transporting and dealing of drugs. 

- Coerced into carrying drugs, weapons and money 

Improve knowledge and 

awareness to apply 

meaningful prevention 

services

Angie Fuller LBBD 01 September 2020 31 March 2021 N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The local exploitation strategy has been drafted however 

new MET protocol is in development therefore we need to 

look at how theses align. 

5
Continue to host and support with tri-borough events and conferences to 

address community safety priorities across the EAST BCU.

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Jade Hodgson LBBD Ongoing Ongoing LBH & LBR
6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

No future events planned to date 

Risk

Local Authority

Victims Support

Chair

Partnership lead

Local Authority

London Fire Brigade

National Probation Service

Chief Executive (ACTING)

BCU Commander

Director of Children's ServicesLocal Authority

Safer Neighbourhood Board

Clinical Commissioning Group

Community Voluntary Sector

Local Hub Manager

Lead Member for Children's Youth Offending Services

Actions

Ref

ACTION PLAN: SENIOR 

LEADERSHIP 

STRUCTURE

Chief Executive/Partnership lead

Local Authority

Community Rehabilitation Company

Local Authority  Leader/Mayor

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham - Community Safety Partnership Local Violence Reduction Action Plan 

Local Authority Community Safety Partnership Plan

Drugs Market Profile

Key Local Strategic Documents that support violence reduction

Annual Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment

Organisation Role2020/21 
CSP Chair

Borough Commander London Fire Brigade

Director/Head of Community Safety

Director of Public Health

Local Authority Lead Member for Community Safety

CRC Borough lead officer

ACO National Probation Service

MPS

Local Authority

GOVERNANCE

Ref

P
age 89

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 6



Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

Analysis to support a public health approach to violence reduction  - including a 

Strategic Needs Assessment to understand patterns of violence and 

vulnerability, key local drivers and communities/localities of greatest need, as 

well as a gap analysis against existing evidence of effective practice to inform 

the local action plan. The Community Safety Strategic Assessment to include 

serious youth violence, knife and gun enabled crime (to be refreshed annually)

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Daniel James/ 

Matthew Cole
LBBD TBC TBC N/A

Contact for JSNA/ Bianca Hussain (Public Health)

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment agreed June 

2020, next assessment to be signed off by CSP in June 

2021. Andy Opie to pick up resource issues with Chris 

Bush to agree capacity/resource support to wider 

community safety issues outside YOS and exploitation. 

2

Use ISTV and wider public health data, social media intelligence, local drugs 

markets and local rescue and response county lines analysis, plus any other 

relevant local authority data sources to inform the strategic assessment 

analysis. Risk Terrain Modelling software will also be available within the MPS 

to support local analysis from late Autumn 2020.

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Daniel James/ 

Matthew Cole

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

LBBD/ MPS 01 August 2020 TBC N/A

Contact for Bianca Hussain (Public Health)

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Andy Opie to pick up resource issues with Chris Bush to 

agree capacity/resource support to wider community 

safety issues outside YOS and exploitation. 

Risk Terrain Modelling software to be confirmed by MPS.

3

Police Activity Tracker to be maintained to record, monitor and review key police 

tactical interventions and activity in support of the Violent Crime Task Force and 

local Violence Suppression Unit

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Paul Trevers MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing N/A

Contact: DCI Seb Adjei-Addoh

The Violence Suppression Unit (VSU) is a BCU based unit 

established to tackle & reduce violent crime. They conduct 

daily intel briefings and track their work they conduct on a 

daily basis. This includes joint operation work with the 

VCTF and other policing departments. The unit has a 

specific focus on drug trafficking (street supply) which is a 

driver of violent crime.

6 Monthly Update (March 2021)

Op planner in place which records planned activity for the 

VSU and also the results

4

Multi-Agency Panel (MAPPA, MARAC, EGYV, MASE, CEG, Missing Panel and 

Chanel Panel) response to those at risk of or involved in violence, including 

Police, Community Safety, Adult's and Children's Services, YOT, CRC, NPS. 

Meeting minimum of monthly with TOR and menu of options to manage risk 

through enforcement, prevention and diversion activities. This could be a single 

meeting, or separate meetings for those involved in violence and those flagged 

as at risk and who could benefit from preventative support. The MPS Violent 

Harm Index should be referenced as part of this process for the highest harm 

offenders.

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk

Angie Fuller/

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

MPS/LBBD 01 August 2020 Ongoing LBBD

Contact: DSU John Carroll

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

EGYV has been running virtually and on a monthly basis, 

met with MPS to check cohort of referrals to ensure we are 

tracking right individuals.MASE, CEG and Missing panels 

also continue to meet on a monthly basis. 

A review of governance has been undertaken to ensure 

that all panel meetings are co-ordinated and the 

governance and processes into the CSP are reflected in 

ToR. 

MAPPA is held every four weeks for all three boroughs 

indidudally DI Lalani leads. 

MARAC

Chanel

5

Compile a gangs problem profile for the borough, taking appropriate account of 

county lines. To be reviewed in-depth every three years and refreshed every 12 

months

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Paul Trevers MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing LBBD

Contact - DSU Paul Trevers                                             

6 Monthly Update (March 2021)

This has been completed and shared with partners 

approx. 4 weeks ago.

6

Local Authority enforcement through use of all enforcement assets to target 

locations and offenders, for example CCTV, Enforcement Officers, Security 

Officers, Community Safety Team, Parking Enforcement, Housing and Tenancy 

Conditions
Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Andy Opie/ 

Jonathan 

Woodhams

LBBD Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Restructuring within Enforcement and Communty Safety 

has been undertaken to ensure structures can effectively 

deliver using all enforcement assests. Work delivered via 

CCTV, community safety team, security are monitored via 

IVOLT CSP subgroup, weekly intel meeting and local 

standing case conference.

7

Development of a knife sentencing guidance to sentencing guidance council 

funded by proceeds of crime money. 15 May 2020 papers received. Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Andy Opie LBBD TBC TBC N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The knife sentencing guidance was submitted to the 

sentencing guidance council for their consideration. 

Representations are to be considered as part of a wider 

review into Trading Standards sentencing. 

8

Enforcement through legal powers and tools available under the ASB and 

Policing Act 2014.

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Jonathan 

Woodhams
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing MPS

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Legal powers to address local ASB issues are utlitised, 

including Community Protection Warnings and notices, 

Criminial Behaviour Orders, Closure orders and grounds 

for possesion along with gang and inidivdual injunctions. 

Use of legal powers are co-ordinated through CSP 

meetings such as IVOLT, EGYV, standing case 

conference and weekly intel meeting to ensure a 

partnership response. 

9

Review and update our locally developed drug market profile that utilises 

intelligence from Police, Probation, CRC, substance misuse staff and service 

users. The information sourced will be both evidenced and anecdotal. This 

profile will support agencies to identify and disrupt drug activity.  

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Sonia Drozd LBBD Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The drugs market profiled was developed in partnership 

and sighted by the Community Safety Partnership board. 

The profile will be reviewed and an action plan developed 

by the Community Safety Partnership Team to outline 

activities to identify and target drug activity. 

10

Domestic Abuse Commission report to be published in January 2021 with a full 

set of recommendations on how to improve attitudes and behaviours in relation 

to the normalisation of abuse in LBBD, particularly among young people. 

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Florence Henry

LBBD (The commission is 

independent but there will be an 

LBBD response to the final 

report)

01 September 2019 01 January 2020 All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The independent commission's report is due at February 

2021 Cabinet, and a launch event will follow. The 

commission's report is structured as 7 survivor-based 

outcomes, based on what survivors have told us their life 

has been like. The report has been co-produced with 

survivors. The council is working through it's response to 

the report, and this is currently planned at Cabinet in April 

2021.

https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s143521/D

A%20Commission%20-%20App%201.pdf

ANALYSIS & 

ENFORCEMENT 

P
age 90



11

 MOPAC’s GPS Tagging Pilot, which involves a device being fitted to service 

users who have been sentenced to custody for a knife possession. The GPS 

tag remotely captures and records information on an individual’s whereabouts 

at all times, in the context of the specific needs and risks involved in the knife 

offence, and can be used to monitor lifestyle and prompt discussion with the 

service user about how they are spending their time. Early indications are that it 

is an effective tool to help manage specific risks. The pilot is due to end in April 

2021.

Reduction in offending 

and repeat offending and 

reduction in repeat 

victimisation

Antony Rose/ 

Lucy Satchell-Day
NPS/ CRC Ongoing 01 April 2021 MPS

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Emailed Antony Rose and Lucy Satchell-Day

Risk

Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

Develop an agreed joint programme of actions to remove weapons and provide 

reassurance including Trading Standards initiatives (e.g. challenge 25, knife or 

corrosive substance test purchases)

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long/Andy 

Opie

MPS/LBBD 01 August 2020 n/a

MPS/LBBD and 

other relevant 

partners

Contact: CI Kevin Weeden

Police conduct regular operations that see weapons 

sweeps being utilised overtly. This provides community 

reassurance and takes weapons off the streets. CSP leads 

from LA have also been asked to put in place working 

practices & training for their staff (e.g. street cleaners, 

traffic wardens etc.) who are on the front line when they 

locate a weapon in the streets. A joint effort between all 

partners with community weapons sweeps helps reduce 

weapons on streets. 

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

All testing purchasing is on hold due to COVID-19 

restrictions. 

2

Community Weapon Sweeps including staff of partner agencies, e.g. LFB, 

housing providers/estate managers, refuse collectors

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long/ 

Jonathan 

Woodhams

MPS/LBBD Ongoing Ongoing

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Community Weapon Sweeps are jointly co-ordinated with 

MPS and the council and included within regular days of 

action. Partners are engaged within the days of action and 

weapon sweeps. Additionally, joint high vis patrols are 

conducted for public reassurance. 

3

Responsible retailer agreement/ scheme 

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long
MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing LBBD

Update (June 2021)

LBBD carried out a series of responsible retailer visits 

jointly with the Police in order to ask knife sellers to sign up 

to a voluntary code of conduct. The visits had a 100% take 

up rate.

Risk

Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

Work to ensure places of education are safe inclusive places to learn, that build 

young people’s resilience and have a trauma informed approach
Improve knowledge and 

awareness to apply 

meaningful prevention 

services

Sharon White/ 

Kye Moore
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Embedding Trauma Informed Approach has been a focus 

for the council. The council commissioned and devlivered 

ABC Trauma informed training which was offered to all 

partners included all local schools. 

DSL meetings also address trauma informed responses 

and access to training.  

2

Schools to include knife crime and youth violence within their safeguarding 

plans as per Safeguarding children and young people in education from knife 

crime (2019) Ofsted guidance

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

Contact Mike Cullern

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

LBBD ask schools to complete a bi-annual safeguarding 

assessment (Due 2022). This will be included as an area 

for them to evidence going forward. 

A range of training offers and work schemes are picked up 

with schools via DSL and headteachers meeting to ensure 

schools work in partnership to safeguard young people. 

3

Demonstrable partnership work to minimise school exclusions (and managed 

moves in place of exclusions), create inclusive settings and support young 

people back into education, employment and training, with schools and 

academies exclusions policy reflecting the practice set out in DfE statutory 

guidance

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Utilise the Sparking Purpose pilot (action 14). Utilise the 

Team around school (TAS) models pilot working to 

develop and integrate an approach with 3 primary schools 

through partnership working to minimise school 

exclusions. 

4

Monitor exclusions data through local education arrangements and local 

authority, alongside partners, with clear processes and evidence of challenge 

where data or practice indicate exclusions do not align with statutory guidance. Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Education team monitor local schools exclusions data and 

work with schools and pilots to support back into EET. Our  

Rapid Response programme works with secondary heads 

and council officers to reduce permenant exclusions by 

providing support. 

5

Due care and attention to corporate parenting principles, and ensure support to 

children in care and care leavers, through diversion and preventative work that 

is bespoke to the risk of them becoming involved in serious violence
Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
April Bald LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

LBBD had a visit from DFE national lead on care leavers, 

following this we have updated the coporate parenting 

plan and strengethened the partnership between YOS and 

corporate parenting services. E.g. resettlement panel 

6

Work with parents and carers, especially those deemed to be vulnerable, to 

effectively engage young people in diversionary activities and education and 

prevent harm.

Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes

April Bald LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Youth at Risk Matrix (YARM) have been providing 

sessions to parents and carers (Identifying criminial 

behaviours, teacher, pathway to prision) sessions are 

being offered across schools to enable them to work with 

parents and carers. Offer to be made availiable across 

social care. 

This links to SUSS work, engaging education around 

serious violence and the Parenting champions network, 

grant funding - LifeLine Projects. Ends March 2021. 

7

Universal and targeted evidence-based programmes delivered across schools, 

including as part of PSHE offer (new SRE curriculum from September 2020), 

based on local safeguarding issues and trends, with mechanisms in place for 

partners within borough and across London to support schools to assess quality 

and impact 

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Erik Stein/Kye 

Moore
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Healthy schools partnership delivering on DfE's Wellbeing 

for Education CPD programme. One thirds of schools 

have accessed, with further sessions planned. Healthy 

Schools work ongoing, including sessions around 

engaging parents. Current engagement = 

Actions

Ref Actions

REDUCING 

ACCESS TO 

WEAPONS 

SAFEGUARDING 

AND EDUCATING 

YOUNG PEOPLE 

Recognising the 

importance of 

prevention and 

working alongside 

places of 

education

Ref

ANALYSIS & 

ENFORCEMENT 

P
age 91



8

Safer Schools Officers available to every school in the borough

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long
 MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing Schools

Contact: CI Kevin Weeden

Safer Schools Officers are currently in place across the EA 

BCU. They are available to schools across the boroughs. 

9

Explore the promotion of Safe Haven's across the borough

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Jade Hodgson LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Roll out of Safe Havens is still to be explored. Work is 

being done across services within the Council to explore 

Cultural Venues as Safe Spaces. This will be connected to 

the work of Safe Havens.

10

Roll out of Street Doctors first aid sessions on "What to do if someone is 

bleeding" and "What to do if someone is unconscious" through YOS, schools 

and community interventions and services to increase prevention awareness in 

young people

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Jade Hodgson LBBD 01 September 2020 31 March 2021

Street Doctors/ 

Schools/ 

Community 

Programmes

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Currently have 21 sessions remaining, we are exploring 

virtual sessions on "What to do if someone is bleeding" 

with the YOS and commissioned providers.

11

Promote local and PAN London campaigns in relation to serious violence and 

knife crime. E.g. MPS London Needs You Alive Campaign and local events 

being delivered in communities across the borough.

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Sam Hodges LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

We work closely with police comms and jointly share 

content via social media channels, OWL and newsletters. 

12

Lost Hours is a campaign to tackle youth violence in Barking and Dagenham 

aimed at parents to take more responsibility for their children by knowing where 

they are and what they are up to. The borough wide campaign includes 

advertising on buses, at bus stops and train stations. We have produced a short 

film showcasing the effects of youth violence featuring two parents who have 

lost children to knife crime, a reformed young person who has been through the 

YOS and the owner of a boxing charity that aims to get young people off the 

streets. We will also be looking at creating translated materials.

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing and Reduction in 

levels of serious violence 

and ASB offences

Sam Hodges LBBD 12 August 2020 Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Lost Hours launched in August 2020 and has had great 

success, with the short film reaching around 30,000 views. 

We have continued to promote the campaign and looking 

to launch with the schools with a Lost Hours Awareness 

Day on 24 March. This will include sending them a pack of 

materials including flyers, social media assets, editorial, 

posters and the film and asking them to share to parents. 

Lost Hours is also to be part of the Ben Kinsella Exhibition. 

13

Supporting the transition from Primary to Secondary School, through 

programmes that introduce year 6 pupils to their new school and provide 

mentoring and pastoral support (e.g. Stepping Stones)

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Sharon White LBBD TBC TBC Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The council were awarded funding from VRU ending 

March 2022, to support Riverside school and transion 

period into secondary. Stepping stones tool circulated to 

all secondary schools to utilise. A working group has been 

set up to mointor and review delivery of transition including 

stepping stones tools. 

After schools programme in PRU to engage young people 

into diversonary actvities and mentoring provision avaiable 

for those ages leaving education. 

14

Sparking Purpose Pilot is a rehabilitation programme working with young people 

and families to prevent permanent exclusions of KS3 pupils who bring a weapon 

into schools. Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes

Sharon White LBBD 01 September 2020 01 July 2021 Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The Sparking Purpose pilot has been running effectively, 8 

young people have gone through the programme, 5 

currently at North Star aiming to get back into suitable 

EET. 

Pilot due to end March 2021. Schools will need to 

contribute to provision.

15

Promote the use of knife wands in education establishments including Future 

Youth Zone
Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Work is being done to set up local hubs for searching 

screening and confiscating framework (action 17). 

16

Serious Youth Violence an agenda item at local DSL/Headteacher fora at least 

annually Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Step Up Stay Safe (SUSS) is a standing agenda item on 

DSL meeting focusing on exclusions and serious youth 

violence. Additionally they head teachers meetings also 

consulted on SUSS and Lost Hours programmes

17

Commission Excel Training Solutions to set 'Hubs' in 5 local schools to deliver 

half-day training in random searching, screening, and risk mitigation for 

possession of knives in school. 
Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Sharon White/ 

Kye Moore
LBBD Ongoing TBC Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Excel Training Solutions (ETS) commissioning underway 

but facing challenges with delivering training to schools. 

ETS are working with the PRU to write good practice 

framework to help inform schools the process to 

searching, screening and confiscation. Good practice 

framework to be offered to all schools and training to be 

offered to upskill 5 hubs when suitable. 

18

Implement the developed "Step Up Stay Safe" approach to contextual 

safeguarding to address serious youth violence and exclusions. Step Up Stay 

Safe responds to local area needs by providing tiered support and interventions. 

The tiered approach consists of 1) Universal offer: To schools and families 

including Primary and secondary assemblies and school knife crime workshops 

including support into the Ben Kinsella Trust Exhibition for education support in 

addressing knife crime. 2) Targeted support: Providing group and individual 

work and interventions. 3) Intensive: Mentoring with families and young people, 

4-12 week recovery toolkits. 4) Specialist: 4-12 week intensive programmes, 

YARM, targeted work with Old Bailey

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Kye Moore LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

SUSS have commissioned services and support 

interventions. Phase 2 is looking to embed within 

communities and schools to widen the approach beyond 

professionals. Partnership meetings held to provide 

progress updates and collate reccomendations. 

SUSS links into wider programmes and interventions such 

as YARM, BKT, LCPF funded internvetions. 

19

Explore the commissioning of YourStance (Bharts) Trauma response training. 

Programme includes workshops and detached youthwork sessions on how to 

handle serious incidents which contains training on, CPR, Haemorrhage control 

and basic life support. YourStance would be able to deliver a wide offer, with an 

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Kye Moore LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

Service will not be commissioned at this time due to limited 

funding available. Street Doctors are providing sessions to 

young people in the borough. 

20

Delivering gangs and exploitation awareness groups to parents and carers 

understanding the links between trauma, vulnerabilities and exploitation.

Ongoing training for teachers to deliver gangs and exploitation awareness 

groups to parents and carers as part of an effective prevention offer for young 

people. 

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Angie Fuller LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Sessions delivered by MPS on gangs and exploitation 

awareness. This also links to training offers within 

YOS/YARM to teachers to work with parents and carers. 

21

Creation of multi-agency partner panel to monitor outcomes for all children 

remanded or sentenced to custody. Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Angie Fuller LBBD 01 March 2021 Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Resttlement panel is up and running, ToR and 

membership agreed. Update report to YOS board (CSP 

subgroup) in March 2021. 

22

A clear partnership response to identifying, assessing and responding to extra-

familial harm is documented within local strategies and tools are available for 

practitioners to work in a contextual way to safeguarding children. 
Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk
Angie Fuller LBBD Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

LBBD continue to work with University Of Bedfordshire to 

run pilots and testing tools needed to embed a contextual 

safeguarding approach across the partnership. 

SAFEGUARDING 

AND EDUCATING 

YOUNG PEOPLE 

Recognising the 

importance of 

prevention and 

working alongside 

places of 

education

P
age 92



23

Bespoke support for students in PRU's/AP including mentoring and transition 

back into mainstream education or on to further education, training, 

employment.

Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes

Angie Fuller LBBD 01 September 2020 31 March 2021 PRU/ Spark2Life

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Mentoring provision delivered by Spark2Life is now being 

offered to young people identified in the PRU. Provision is 

funded until March 2021 via LCPF 2020/21 funding. 

24

LifeLine Projects to provide mentoring in 9 secondary schools working for 

students identified as being on the edge of SYV or criminal exploitation. Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Nathan Singleton LifeLine Projects Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

SW!TCH Lives Mentoring currently being delivered in the 

following 10 Schools; Barking Abbey, Dagenham Park, 

Eastbrook, Eastbury, Greatfields, Jo Richardson, 

Riverside, Robert Clack, Sydney Russell, Warren.

Risk

Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

CSP to work with communities to reduce violence, including the VCS, with 

appropriate programmes of community involvement, capacity building and 

regular engagement. Bring together local organisations who provide 

interventions for individuals, families and communities to develop a local 

network that improves the co-ordination of support to those vulnerable to or at 

risk of serious violence and knife crime. 

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Pip Salvador-

Jones 
CAB Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

Contact: Ioannis Mathioudakis

a. Prevent and BRC training has been completed and has 

provided training regarding counter-extremism, 

radicalisation and hate crime to more than 80 people in the 

borough. On the top of that Hate crime research is 

undergoing with surveys which have been distributed to a 

variety of stakeholders and their networks in the Borough. 

There are discussion about continuing BRC training within 

2021.

b. Capacity building of YLF local network organisations is  

ongoing. Lockdown restrictions has had an impact and 

there are more than 4 capacity building activities on hold. 

Capacity building activities will be re-activated and offered 

to the YLF network organisations once restrictions ease.

c. Lobbying on behalf of the YLF Local Network 

organisations is ongoing and takes place once a month 

when meeting with GLA and other YLF Local networks 

coordinators where YLF grantees organisation’s work and 

any other issues are discussed.

d. Provide support on how to promote their work in the 

local community and our network is ongoing. 

Accomplishments are communicated via our social media 

pages and our newsletters within our entire network.

e. Create a series of mini-conferences/gatherings among 

various stakeholders in order to discuss and create action 

plans has been temporarily paused due to Covid-19 

regathering restrictions. There are multiple online 

discussion with various stakeholders at the moment but 

2

Community Tensions Monitoring - Assessment by MPS to be supported and 

informed by CSP partners so it is based on multi-agency data Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long
MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing LBBD

Community Impact Assessments take place regularly to 

identify tensions within our communities. These are 

conducted at a local and pan-London level. These 

assessments are shared with partners to identify any risk 

and threat to our communities ensuring that these are 

mitigated with joint partnership working.

3

Facilitate community involvement in Stop & Search - including the monitoring of 

S60 by community representatives and including a standing agenda item at 

Safer Neighbourhood Boards
Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

 Stephen 

Clayman/ Mark 

Long/Stephen 

Thompson

MPS/ SNB 01 August 2020 Ongoing N/A

MPS Contact: CI Kevin Weeden

At the point of a S60 being authorised, community 

involvement is sought to help mitigate a huge impact to the 

community. This conversation is details in the authorising 

officers rationale when authorising

4

Consider applying to the VRU critical incident fund, for a small one off funding 

grant to directly support communities in the aftermath of a serious incident of 

violence

Reduction in repeat 

victimisation
Andy Opie LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Funding taken into considering when critical incidents 

happen across the borough. 

5

Promote Fearless contract as a crime information source and option for 

providing information about violence anonymously https://www.fearless.org/en  
Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Sharon White LBBD Ongoing 31 December 2020 N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Fearless are developing an LBBD dedicated call to action 

campaign launching 24 March across all socia media 

platforms in conjunction with LBBD comms to give 

information on exploitation.  Link in with schools and future 

youth zone. 

6

Develop/re-instate a local Business Watch that works with the partnership in 

address serious violence in Barking and Dagenham.

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Jonathan 

Woodhams
LBBD TBC Ongoing MPS

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

New Barking Town Centre Manager post to be introduced 

within BeFirst, responsibility will move to BeFirst once post 

is in place. 

Business Watch is being explored to run virtually, 2-3 

meetings held pre covid. Work being done with local 

businesses on contextual safeguarding where young 

people frequent to recognise the signs of exploitation and 

criminiality. Information includes where to refer/direct to. 

7

Continue the roll out of local Neighbourhood Watch to ensure residents can 

support communities to stay safe. Utilise the OWL online system to share 

intelligence to communities

Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Jade Hodgson LBBD Ongoing Ongoing MPS

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

This work is ongoing, Neighbourhood Watch meetings are 

held 8-12 weekly and information and advice is being 

circulated via OWL. 

8

Identifying areas that are crime hotspots and working with partners and 

stakeholders to improve areas through designing out crime. 

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Jonathan 

Woodhams
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Piloting work with Street Space to look at perceptions of 

safety and ASB working with residents to review impacts 

and how areas can be designed to improve perceptions of 

safety and reduce ASB. 

Safer Streets Fund avaiabile to apply for with a focus of 

designing out crime looking at CCTV, visibility of 

enforcement.  

Design out crime visits conducted via Enforcement where 

areas are identified as ASB/crime hotspots with MPS 

support. Working with MPS/tri-borough TTCG to identify 

hotspots around MOPAC priorities, links with MPS design 

out crime. Monitored through IVOLT and Barking Town 

Centre meetings. 

Risk

Actions

SAFEGUARDING 

AND EDUCATING 

YOUNG PEOPLE 

Recognising the 

importance of 

prevention and 

working alongside 

places of 

education

WORKING WITH 

COMMUNITIES 

AND 

NEIGHBOURHOOD

S TO REDUCE 

VIOLENCE

Ref Actions

Ref

P
age 93



Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

To have a multi-agency assessment and referral process through a Multi-

Agency Safeguarding Hub or Concern Hub, with full partner sign-off of terms of 

reference and operating model.

Multi-agency working to 

reduce level of risk

April Bald/ 

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

LBBD/ MPS 01 August 2020 n/a
Relevant 

agencies

MPS Contact: DSU John Carroll

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

LBBD have an established MASH with extensive partner 

buy-in, signed up to ISA. Stregnething the partnerships 

and updating the threshold document which will firmly 

include risks to young people. 

Through the contextual safeguarding pilot we are 

reviewing processes and referrals into MASH and testing 

peer assessment tool with complex strat and assessment 

service. 

2

Local Safeguarding partners to ensure all young victims of violence and those 

vulnerable to exploitation, are referred to appropriate packages of support 

across both statutory and voluntary provision. This could include to the London 

Victim and Witnesses Service which supports victims and witnesses of crime in 

London to cope and recover from their experiences. 

Reduction in repeat 

victimisation

April Bald/ 

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

LBBD/ MPS 01 August 2020 n/a Victim Support

MPS Contact: DSU John Carroll

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

All victims of crime including young people are referred to 

external partnership agencies to help them cope following 

being a victim of a crime. VCOP adhered to and monitored 

on CRIS.

Referral pathways and thresholds into the MASH are 

established. Through Contextual Safeguarding and 

Exploitation strategic group we are ensuring that there is 

co-ordinated commissioning of packages of support from 

universal to statutory level. 

3

Young victims of violence to have a trauma informed needs assessment, with 

referral to CAHMS where the assessment determines that to be appropriate

Reduction in repeat 

victimisation

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long
MPS 01 August 2020 n/a LBBD

Contact: DCI Seb Adjei-Addoh

Taken as an action from TTCG, the MPS continue to make 

referrals to CAHMS for those that are suitable.

6 Monthly Update (March 2021)

We have aligned our safeguarding of young victims to the 

'working together' document with strategy meetings 

attended by our Gangs or CCE teams in order to decide 

across agencies what sort of safeguarding provisions are 

most appropriate. This process encapsulates referrals to 

CAMHS with that needs assessment. Supporting victims of 

violence.

4

London Trauma and A&E centres to provide safeguarding information to local 

partnerships through an agreed referral mechanism and hence maximise 

opportunities for "teachable moments" and rapid service referral/support  

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

St Giles Trust St Giles Trust Ongoing Ongoing N/A

Contact: Ebony Pinnock

Jade Hodgson emailed St Giles Trust on 29 October 2020. 

Followed up on 18 January 2021. 

Jade to follow up with MOPAC. 

5

Provide front line staff within partner agencies with trauma and attachment 

training, in order to support practitioners working with young people to 

understand the ‘Trauma Informed Approach’. This approach informs staff of 

how trauma in early life may affect current behaviour.

Improve knowledge and 

awareness to apply 

meaningful prevention 

services

Jade Hodgson LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Online ABC Trauma Informed Training to be scheduled, 

request to provide training offer to EGYV.

6

Commission and deliver County Lines Screening to frontline professionals 

across the EAST BCU to improve awareness and signs of exploitation

Improve knowledge and 

awareness to apply 

meaningful prevention 

services

Jade Hodgson LBBD 01 October 2020 31 October 2020 N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

County Lines training delivered by Henry Blake was 

commissioned for professional across the East BCU, 10 

sessions were delivered at Broadway Theatre at the start 

of 2020 with 520 attending prior to COVID-19. Following 

COVID 8 sessions were hosted via MS teams with 271 

attending. Sessions include a short screening produced by 

Henry Blake followed by a workshop style to discuss 

signs, responsibilities and support that can be provided to 

young people at risk of exploitation. 

7

DVHRs to be completed where appropriate and action plans to be reviewed 

annually. 
Reduction in repeat 

victimisation

Hazel North-

Stephens
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

DHVR are completed were appropriate and action plans 

monitored via MARAC steering group and fed into CSP 

board to provide updates on delivery. Co-ordination 

between partnership forums where required. 

8

Modern Day Slavery statement to be reviewed annually and training to be 

delivered, complementing existing training in gangs/exploitation and domestic 

abuse. 
Improved partnership 

working and information 

sharing

Hazel North-

Stephens
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Modern day slavery statement reviewed and presented to 

cabinet in January 2021. Training has been delivered but 

need to explore a co-ordinated approach to training.

Engage Policy and Participation. 

9

Review referral data to the VS LVWS & CYP teams in order to focus activity 

appropriately on those groups that are currently under represented by referrals 

to VS but are disproportionally affected by crime

Reduction in repeat 

victimisation

Laurence 

Piemonte
Victim Support Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

This financial year Victim Support have been working with 

the MPS to improve the quality of ethnicity data that is 

receive through the Automatic Data Transfer process.  In 

Q3 Victim Support began receiving self-defined ethnicity 

data and not officer defined data, this maps in to the case 

management system and will enable Victim Support to 

understand better the ethnicity of referrals received in to 

the LVWS and CYP services. 

SUPPORTING 

VICTIMS OF 

VIOLENCE AND 

VULNERABILITY 

Ensuring co-

ordinated referral 

and support to 

victims and those 

who are vulnerable

P
age 94



10

Work with partners including the LVWS to increase referrals in to the VS CYP 

team

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Laurence 

Piemonte
Victim Support Ongoing Ongoing All Partners

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Referrals in to the CYP team have been affected this 

financial year due to the impact of Covid, particularly the 

closure of schools and more limited opportunities for face 

to face work.  Despite this referrals in to the CYP service 

have seen a 5.71% increase between Q3 19/20 and Q3 

20/21.  

To ensure children and young people receive support they 

need during the impact of Covid, the CYP caseworkers 

and Youth Advocates have been providing virtual indirect 

support to under 13 year olds through their parent / carer 

and for those 13 and over virtual support session have 

been developed and are working well. In addition to this 

the CYP service has developed walk and talk sessions for 

13 and above years olds, when schools are closed to 

deliver face to face support if it is assessed as essential 

that young person requires face to face, as otherwise they 

would disengage in the service.  

11

To work with the MPS and BTP to increase referrals from specific crime types 

particularly those that involve violent crime or the use of a bladed article OR To 

work with community and grassroots organisations to increase referrals from 

those communities currently under represented both in terms of reporting crime 

and in accessing support services
Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Laurence 

Piemonte
Victim Support Ongoing Ongoing MPS/ BTP

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

In terms of more serious crime types Victim Support have 

seen a 8.58% increase in referrals in the 12-months 

between January 20 and December 20. In terms of 

working with community and grassroots organisations to 

increase referrals from under represented communities 

challenges have arisen due to the impact of Covid on 

engagement and partnership building therefore Victim 

Suppoort are adapting their community engagement in line 

with London restrictions.

Risk

Theme
Action 

No
Actions Outcomes Named CSP Lead Lead organisation Start date End date

Supporting 

organisation(s)
Progress Comment

Document 

Reference(

s)

RAG status

1

Pre-court and post conviction violent crime offenders to be provided with 

bespoke community sentence interventions Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Antony Rose/ 

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long

NPS/MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing

Contact: Supt Jude Beehag-Fisher

Investigators continue to put in place relevant conditions 

forward to the courts  pre-court and post-convictions. 

These can include CBO's, SHPO's and victim impact 

statements

2

Develop a local schedule/interactive map of interventions that are available 

across the borough that includes service area, ward, type of service, cost, 

location. Mapping to include available services including VRU LCPF 

programmes, MOPAC LCPF funded interventions, VRU grassroots funded 

projects, Rescue and Response, potentially drawing on London Gangs Exit, 

services commissioned through the Young Londoners Fund, as well as CSP 

statutory agencies. Interactive mapping link to the boroughs Lost Hours 

campaign.

Include these in the VRU Diversion Directory.

Improve knowledge and 

awareness to apply 

meaningful prevention 

services

Jade Hodgson LBBD TBC TBC N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

An interactive tool has been developed to be launched as 

part of Lost Hours. This includes council, grant and 

external funded programmes across the borough. Map can 

be filtered by age, cost, locality and type and level of 

service. 

AIM to launch at the same time as opening of BKT.

3

Deliver our trauma informed approach to serious violence and knife crime 

through a programme of interventions working with 6 identified community and 

voluntary organisations to deliver trauma informed positive diversionary 

activities and mentoring provision. Services are developed with young people 

and delivered in a community setting. Programmes consist of workshops, 

drama, arts, sports and mentoring with a focus on serious violence, knife crime, 

CSE which have been evolving issues in offending locally. 

 - Arc Theatre, BoxUp Crime, Future MOLDS, LifeLine Projects, Studio3Arts, 

Spark2Life (Intensive Intervention)

Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes and 

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences

Jade Hodgson LBBD TBC 31 March 2021 N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Arc Theatre, BoxUp Crime, Future MOLDS, LifeLine 

Projects, Studio3Arts, Spark2Life (Intensive Intervention) 

are all delivering services to CYP across the borough 

funded via the 2020/21 LCPF grant. 

4

Develop and implement The Ben Kinsella Exhibition in Barking and Dagenham 

that offers an immersive educational tour that adopts a universal and early 

intervention approach aimed at preventing young people from making the wrong 

choices and helping them to stay safe and free from knife crime.

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences and 

Multiagency working to 

reduce level of risk

Jade Hodgson LBBD 01 October 2020 Ongoing
The Ben Kinsella 

Trust

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

The development of the exhibition is ongoing. We aim to 

start contractual works in February. Engagement meetings 

have taken place with schools and we are working with 

5

Review local county lines profile completed by Rescue and Response to 

determine individuals have been identified, what schools, interventions and 

services are in place for those individuals and what onward referrals have been 

made for this cohort

Identify data and 

intelligence to inform 

services response to 

serious violence

Angie Fuller LBBD Ongoing Ongoing
Rescue and 

Response

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Ongoing reviews of the Resuce and Response cohort are 

conducted and monthly reporting into the Criminal 

Exploitation Group (CEG). Any young person identified on 

the cohort offered a package of support if not engaged 

with a service. 

6

Expansion of the Youth At Risk Matrix (YARM) into primary schools to continue 

to accept referrals as a form of early intervention where a young person is 

identified by schools (primary and secondary) as high risk of becoming involved 

in the criminal justice system. The YARM is accessible for all schools to refer 

into and commissioned through the Youth Offending Service.

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences and 

Multiagency working to 

reduce level of risk

Angie Fuller LBBD Ongoing Ongoing Schools

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Expansion into Primary has completed, 8 workers in post 

delivering internvetion support into both Primary and 

Secondary schools. The YARM provision is accessible for 

all schools to refer into. Offer includes 1:1 support, 

workshops and assemblies. 

7

Young offenders to have RO/YRO conditions/requirements tailored to the nature 

of the violence offending and service provision available locally through the 

YOT Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Angie Fuller LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

This is ongoing work and embedded in day to day work 

under the YOS. Links and connections with Community 

Safety partners, MPS around injunctions and CBOs as 

well as requirements on statutory orders. YOS Board (CSP 

subgroup) ensure appropriate provision to ensure 

conditions and requirements are applied.  

8

CRC/NPS bespoke license conditions to be applied and include GPS tagging 

for knife crime offenders being released from prison on licence. The licence 

conditions are to include opportunities for training and employment.  

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Antony Rose/ 

Lucy Satchell-Day
NPS/ CRC Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Emailed Antony Rose and Lucy Satchell-Day

9

MPS to issue letters to those charged/involved in knife crime, warning them of 

the dangers and of the threat to their liberty if convicted.  A similar letter will be 

sent to parents of those under 18, inviting them to a meeting to explore how we 

can work together in preventing their child’s involvement in knife crime.

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Stephen Clayman/ 

Mark Long
 MPS 01 August 2020 Ongoing N/A

Update DSU Trevers 

6 Monthly Update (March 2021) 

Letters were served on all known Knife Carriers during OP 

Pima operational activity by EA Gangs Unit prior to 

Christmas.

10

Group intervention programmes (available to both NPS and CRC service users)  

This includes safer streets a bespoke intervention targeted at working with 

perpetrators of knife crime and a suite of accredited programmes such as BBR 

(DV) and resolve (looking at violent offending) 

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Lucy Satchell-Day CRC Ongoing Ongoing NPS

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Emailed Lucy Satchell-Day

SUPPORTING 

VICTIMS OF 

VIOLENCE AND 

VULNERABILITY 

Ensuring co-

ordinated referral 

and support to 

victims and those 

who are vulnerable

POSITIVE 

DIVERSION 

FROM VIOLENCE 

Recognising that 

young people 

should be offered 

interventions which 

help them move 

away from 

criminality

Ref Actions

P
age 95



11

CRC/NPS bespoke license conditions to be applied and include GPS tagging 

for knife crime offenders being released from prison on licence. The licence 

conditions are to include opportunities for training and employment.  

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending

Antony Rose/ 

Lucy Satchell-Day
NPS/ CRC Ongoing Ongoing N/A

DUPLICATE TO ACTION 7

12

Commission effective perpetrator interventions for those who use abusive 

behaviours in the domestic context. 

Reduction in levels of 

offending/ repeat 

offending and reduction 

in repeat victimisation

Hazel North-

Stephens
LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

Commissioning perpetrator pilot is underway (internvetion 

and accommodation offer), demand for service is high. No 

sustainiable plan in place following end of funding until 

March 2021. - To be flagged at March CSP Board. 

Funding via LCPF 2020/21 funded 3 spaces at Foyer

Home Office funding and LCPF 2021/22 -  funds 10 

accommodation offers. Delivery has been impacted by 

delays with grant agreeement. Currently exploring 

accommodations offers in HMOs. 

13

Young Londoners Fund - Increasing detached outreach offer through street 

based mentoring with qualified and experienced street workers, working 

intensively with

disengaged young people delivering an enterprise development programme for 

young people, a community leader’s programme and an accredited mentor 

programme alongside half-day workshop related to communicating in a trauma-

informed way, for local businesses, faith leaders, parents/carers and other 

community members.

Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences and 

Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes

Erik Stein LBBD Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

YLF programme engaged 641 young people in the first 

year of delivery including 623 via detached work. YLF 

work focuses on detached outreach,  mentoring. 

Groundbreakers programme successfully developing 

entrepreneurship skills in young people.

Young people’s steering group in place to shape future 

delivery post-lockdown.

14

Provide a suit of positive activities across the borough during school holidays 

and within the missing hours for targeted young people at risk of SYV. 
Reduction in levels of 

serious violence and 

ASB offences and 

Increase in EET and 

uptake of positive 

diversionary 

programmes

Nathan Singleton LifeLine Projects Ongoing Ongoing N/A

6 Monthly Update (February 2021)

LifeLine are currently providing 15 activities a week across 

the borough. 6 of these are delivered remotely across 

multiple boroughs. The remaining 9 activities are out 

sessions targeting hotspots.

POSITIVE 

DIVERSION 

FROM VIOLENCE 

Recognising that 

young people 

should be offered 

interventions which 

help them move 

away from 

criminality

P
age 96



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

REPORT 
Subject: Safe Havens Update 

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021 

Author: Chris Lyons, Community Safety Partnership Manager, Enforcement 
& Community Safety 

Contact: chris.lyons@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: [UNPROTECTED] 

1. Brief Update 

1.1 The report provides an update on the work to launch the Safe Havens scheme 
across Barking & Dagenham which creates safe spaces for residents in need of 
help including young people and women and girls.  
 

2. Recommendation(s) 

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board: 

• Note the contents of this report. 
• Continue to support the ongoing work to launch the scheme. 

3. Main Update 

3.1 Safe Havens are a practical way of helping residents to enjoy their community 
knowing that support is easily available if they need help. 

3.2 Public premises such as shops, cafes, pubs, libraries and other places of interest 
can register to be officially known as a safe haven. If a resident is in danger, feels 
threatened or harassed on the street, are unwell or just in need of some help they 
can look for the Safe Haven sign in windows.  

3.3 Safe Havens can help by letting someone inside and keeping out those who are 
threatening them, calling the police or family or friends, or simply by giving 
directions or public transport information. 

Page 97

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:chris.lyons@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

3.4 Safe Haven 'In Case of Emergency' (ICE) cards have been developed by the 
Council’s Community Safety Partnership Team for residents to fill in the details of 
someone they would like to be contacted in an emergency. This could be anyone 
such as a friend, relative or someone else. 

3.5 Information packs have been developed for businesses which explain how to assist 
the public and contain a register to complete each time a person is helped. 

3.6 Council officers will check in with the businesses on a periodic basis in order to 
maintain an overview of the scheme and identify if businesses require any further 
support.  

3.7 In collaboration with the Barking and Dagenham Youth Forum and local schools, a 
door sticker logo has been developed to be displayed inside shop windows for 
businesses who are participating in the Safe Havens scheme. This will allow 
residents to easily identify where they can go for help.  

3.8 An online Safe Haven Survey is currently live on the Council’s website to ask 
residents to help us identify which shops, businesses or venues they would feel 
most comfortable approaching for help. Through the survey we are also asking 
businesses to tell us if they are interested in participating in the scheme. The survey 
is live for the next few weeks and closes on 21 June 2021.  

3.9 The aim is for Safe Havens scheme to go-live on 12 July 2021. This is to allow 
opportunity for promotion of the scheme through school channels before the end of 
term.  

3.10 The Safe Havens project is linked to ongoing work around Women’s Safety. 
Following the murder of Sarah Everard, a survey was launched by the Council in 
which 282 people participated and 408 pins were placed on a map to show where 
women felt unsafe. The problem ‘hotspot’ locations identified by local women have 
been included in the Safe Havens project and businesses in these areas will be 
targeted for participation during the roll out.  

3.11 The Safe Havens project is also connected to the contextual safeguarding agenda 
and the work of the multi-agency Contextual Safeguarding and Exploitation 
Strategic Group. 

3.12 As part of the Safe Haven’s rollout, there is a separate project to establish cultural 
venues as safe places which will offer targeted interventions to young people who 
are identified as in need of support.  

3.13 A further progress update to be provided at the next Community Safety Partnership 
Board in September 2021.  

 

Page 98



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

REPORT 
Subject: PSPO Update 

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021 

Author: Chris Lyons, Community Safety Partnership Manager, Enforcement 
& Community Safety 

Contact: chris.lyons@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: [UNPROTECTED] 

1. Brief Update 

1.1 The report provides an update on the work undertaken to consult with resident to 
determine whether the four Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) in Barking 
and Dagenham should be renewed. 
 

2. Recommendation(s) 

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board: 

• Note the contents of this report 
• Continue to support the ongoing review of the PSPO areas.   

3. Main Update 

3.1 PSPOs were first introduced as part of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014, as one of several new tools for use by councils and their partners 
to address anti-social behaviour (ASB) in local areas.  

3.2 In 2018, the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham introduced four PSPOs for 
the areas of Barking Town Centre, Broad Street, Heathway and a borough wide 
Dog Fouling Order. 

3.3 The orders have a maximum lifespan of 36 months and allow the Council to levy 
fines of £100 as well as serve Community Protection Notices.  In extreme cases the 
Council and partners may consider Civil Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders 
for the most serious breaches.  

Page 99

AGENDA ITEM 8

mailto:chris.lyons@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

3.4 As reported to the last CSP, a full process has been followed resulting in the 
renewal of the PSPOs for Barking Town Centre and Broad Street. These orders are 
now active, subject to enforcement and will remain in effect until 12 March 2024. 

3.5 The Dog Fouling PSPO expired on 14 May 2021 and has not been automatically 
renewed.  

3.6 At present there is insufficient information to understand the impact of dog related 
concerns locally.  

3.7 The Community Safety Partnership Team will be consulting with residents on Dog 
issues and broader ASB concerns across the borough such as spitting, through an 
online survey between 21 June 2021 and 19 July 2021. 

3.8 The results of the survey will be used to inform the consideration of further PSPOs 
including the possible use of a new Dog PSPO for the borough.  

3.9 Work required to identify if the existing PSPO in the Heathway should be renewed 
by 03 September 2021 will include:  

- Gathering feedback from local services and partner agencies. 

- Consultation with residents through One Borough Voice. 

- Review of available community safety data including ASB figures. 

- Drafting of a PSPO proposal and evidence pack. 

- Internal meetings with Council legal services and comms to agree a legally 
complaint process including resident consultation. 

- Final draft orders agreed by legal services. 

- Delegated decision approval by Operational Director. 

- Enforcement go-live and deployment of additional public space signage. 

3.10 The conditions the Council will be seeking for the Heathway will include  

- Consumption of alcohol in a public place,  
- Public urination,  
- Spitting,  
- Begging*,  
- Any groups engaging in behaviour which causes residents and other users of the 
area nuisance, annoyance, harassment, alarm or distress.    

3.11 A further progress update to be provided at the next Community Safety Partnership 
Board in September 2021.  

 

Page 100



Document is Restricted

Page 101

AGENDA ITEM 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

REPORT 
Subject: Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation Strategic 

Subgroup Update  

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021  

Author: April Bald, Director of Operations Children’s Care & Support  

Contact: April.bald@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: [UNPROTECTED] 

1. Brief Update 

1.1 The sub-group continues to work to ensure coordinated multi-agency responses to 
reduce experiences of significant harm such as child criminal & sexual exploitation 
and serious youth violence that tends to happen in contexts outside the family 
home i.e., within peer groups, schools’ settings, and neighbourhoods. 

1.2 The subgroup last met in April 2021 - and heard updates or an variety of its 
workstreams: Tootoot and Tootmood Pilot, Step up stay safe programme, Youth At 
Risk Work at schools, Contextual Safeguarding Pilot 2 in peer groups, New Met 
Pan London Child Exploitation protocol and Programmes being delivered by Youth 
Zone and Mayesbrook Pupil referral unit. 

1.3 The Met have issued the new Pan London Child exploitation protocol 2021 – 
MET5437_Child Exploitation Pan London Operating Protocol_V3 (002).pdf This is 
in response to Serious Case Review findings highlighting:  

- An inconsistent response to child exploitation leading to different outcomes for 
children 

- Early intervention opportunities are being missed Exploitation victims are being 
exposed to criminality and serious youth violence 

- Children coming to notice are not being treated as a child first 

This Police led, multi-agency document is equally owned by safeguarding 
partnerships and is designed to complement the CP procedures and builds on 
the good practice documented in the 2017 CSE protocol, which it replaces. The 
Protocol will impact practice in MPS / Children’s Social Care/ Education / Health 
/ Parents and the wider community. Continual professional development 
workshop with all partners is underway over the next 2 months. The overall aim 
of the Protocol is to:  

Page 111

Agenda Annex



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

- Identify children at risk of exploitation and keep them safe 

- Upskill all Safeguarding Partnerships to achieve a standardised collaborative 
approach to Child Exploitation 

- Provide early intervention opportunities to stop or prevent children becoming 
victims of exploitation  

- Provide front line responders with the correct disruption tools 

The Meeting considered its contents and what it meant for Exploitation practice 
and protocols in LBBD – we agreed there is not a need to make any significant 
changes as much of what is outlined is already in place in the Borough. We do 
however need develop an updated child exploitation action plan. The action plan 
should seek to increase positive outcomes for children through the increase of 
referrals and disruptions of perpetrators. The action plan should also focus on 
the sharing of good practice and organizational learning 

1.4 Step-up stay safe programme, a partnership with schools focussing on reducing 
serious youth violence, knife carrying, and school exclusions has continued to 
progress its work, and the meeting considered the new Outcomes framework which 
showed tangible evidence of positive impact on vulnerable children’s lives. The 
outcomes framework centres around the 5 key workstreams/ themes of the 
Programme – namely: 

Theme one – Schools / Headteachers and SLT supported by key partners =The 
school community are confident to identify risks, understand how to make referrals 
and feel supported by the partnership. 

Theme Two – Young Voices – not just the loudest, all voices are heard. = Children 
feel heard; that there is evidence that schools and partners to understand the lived 
experiences of children; and that children and young people know where to get 
help. 

Theme Three – Council and partners – Community Safety Partnership, Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, and community partners = How the offer is brought 
together; clear governance arrangements and a joined-up offer which is data, 
demand, and young-person driven. 

Theme Four – Parental & Community Engagement – including the Lost Hours 
campaign = Parents feel supported to make the right decisions and they feel that 
protecting their child is not out of their control. 

Theme Five – Tiered intervention offer – Awareness, Diversion & Protection= The 
network works together, everyone knows the thresholds and offer from Universal – 
Specialist.  

1.5 Mayesbrook Pupil referral unit is delivering a positive futures programme for 20 
children and the Future Youth Zone is embarking on a pilot programme– the 
programme uses a social and emotional competency framework , focussing on self-
awareness, social awareness, health relationships and responsible decision making 
- building resilience so young people  can thrive - In order for programme to be 
successful It will be important young people are given opportunities to overcome 
challenges and demonstrate they are unique and have talent.  FYZ will be working 

Page 112



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

systemically with parents and schools. The pilot will involve cohorts of 8 young 
people with role out of the full 10 week programme in September. 

2. Key Challenge(s) 

2.1 Children’s Care & Support recently had an Ofsted focussed assurance visit which 
tested decision making through the last year affected by Covid – they looked at 
practice from the front-door through to care leavers. They challenged us on our 
quality of Return Home interviews for missing children and how these were 
influencing risk assessments for children at risk of exploitation. This had already 
been identified internally as an area of improvement and was due to come to MASE 
– we will progress with the work that is required and the partnership namely police 
and carers / providers will be key to supporting the improvements.    

3. Support required from CSP Board 

3.1 The Board to note the ongoing progress made in provision of interventions for 
young people most at risk.  

3.2 There are several bids being made across our social sector and within statutory 
services for monies to support work with vulnerable children and young people. It is 
important that we have a mechanism to have single oversight of what bids are 
being made, those we have been successful with – ensuring no duplication of 
services, learning from project evaluations to inform future bids and capitalising on 
consortium bids. 

4. List of Appendices:   

4.1  None  
 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

REPORT 
Subject: YOS Board Subgroup Update  

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021 

Author: Angie Fuller, Head of Service, Adolescent and Youth Offending 
Service 

Contact: Angie.fuller@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: [UNPROTECTED] 

1. Brief Update 

1.1 The YOS board has met just once this quarter in April. This meeting looked at the 
following items: 

 Quarterly performance update with the data available 

 Update with regard to the current HMIP inspection regime and potential 
areas of focus 

 End of year finance report 

 Update on the resettlement work as a result of the presentation on the HMIP 
thematic on resettlement 

 Presentation on serious case reviews across London which have involved 
young people involved in serious youth violence (see link below for full 
report) 

2. Key Challenge(s) 

2.1 Data continues to remain an issue for the board as the YOS data has not been 
refreshed for nearly a year due to the pandemic which means that the board does 
not have the most up to date performance information to inform the work. 

2.2 First time entrant (FTE) data still remains high as no updated information available 
for the past year due to the pandemic, so we cannot yet see the full impact of our 
prevention and early intervention work in this space.  

Page 115



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

2.3 Education for our young people remains a key priority for the board, as we aim to 
ensure that the issues raised in the SCR presentation are considered alongside the 
education data that is produced as part of the quarterly performance.  

3. Emerging Trends 

3.1 The last available data shows FTEs as an ongoing area of concern for the borough 
even though the rate of young people who have worked with the YARM that then go 
on to become involved with the YOS is very low at just 5%. An FTE operational sub 
group has been implemented with the first taking place on June 23rd, the aims being 
to ensure single oversight and a better coordinated multi agency response to 
reducing the prevalence of first time entrants.  

4. Support required from CSP Board 

4.1 Continued support through consistent attendance from all partners at the YOS 
Board.  

5. List of Appendices:   

5.1  Appendix 1: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/870035/Safeguarding_children_at_risk_from_criminal_exploitation_r
eview.pdf 

 

Page 116

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/870035/Safeguarding_children_at_risk_from_criminal_exploitation_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/870035/Safeguarding_children_at_risk_from_criminal_exploitation_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/870035/Safeguarding_children_at_risk_from_criminal_exploitation_review.pdf


 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

Subgroup Update 
Subject: Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021 

Author: Andy Opie, Director of Enforcement and Community Safety  

Contact: Andy.opie@lbbd.gov.uk 0208 227 3590 

Security: [Unprotected] 

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required 

1.1 This report provides a quarterly update to the Community Safety Partnership on 
activity and work being undertaken by the London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD) Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Hate Crime, Intolerance 
and Extremism (HIE) and Tension Monitoring subgroup. 

2. Recommendation(s) 

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board: 

• Note the contents of this report. 

3. Update 

3.1 The HIE subgroup last met on Wednesday 26 May 2021. The subgroup is chaired 
on an interim basis by Andy Opie, Director of Enforcement and Community Safety 
supported by the Metropolitan Police Service at an Inspector level.  

3.2 The HIE subgroup continues to monitor local tensions analysing community activity 
on tensions and areas that may lead to potential tensions, their reasoning and 
identifying the correct interventions to address the issues.  

3.3 Council teams continue to report in any hate related and offensive graffiti which is 
logged and reported on the MET website to be incorporated into Police data, a data 
log in collated and presented to the HIE and Tension Monitoring subgroup. 
Additionally, the group are mapping where the graffiti is identified and type of graffiti 
to monitor any hotspot locations. The board monitor local and MPS data to identify 
changes and trends around hate crimes and incidents.  

Page 117

Agenda Annex

mailto:Andy.opie@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

3.4 Following the review of national and local tensions, the HIE subgroup have 
identified the need to agree a set process for engaging with local communities 
where national tensions can have local impacts. An emergency planning process is 
being developed and an update on the progress will be presented to the next 
subgroup meeting. 

3.5 In addition, the group agreed and set in place a new process for schools to report 
any incidents of hate crime, racist incidents involving parents and pupils. These 
reports will be submitted to the Community Safety Partnership Team to collate and 
present to the HIE and Tension Monitoring subgroup so the group can review and 
agree what support can be provided to schools. This information and an agreed 
template for reporting has now been circulated to both primary and secondary 
schools included the designated safeguarding leads.  

3.6 The subgroup still aims to lead on implementing discrimination free zones across 
Barking and Dagenham supporting delivering the HIE CSP priortities of standing up 
to hate, intolerance and extremism. The aim will be to reinforce the messages 
against hate and discrimination by residents taking a pledge to not participate in 
discriminatory behaviours against a person. The work will be driven forward by 
Community Safety and the MPS whilst being monitored by the HIE subgroup.  

3.7 The Stephen Port inquest was due to start on 07 January 2021 and was scheduled 
to be held at Barking Town Hall, however the Coroner postponed the start date due 
to the pandemic. A new date has been set for the inquest which the subgroup will 
have oversight of. The inquest was being conducted into the deaths of Gabriel 
Kovari, Daniel Whitworth, Anthony Walgate and Jack Taylor, all victims of Stephen 
Port who was sentenced in November 2016 for murder. An information leaflet 
containing the details of the inquest, contact details into services for support and 
CSP email address to report any tensions was designed which was planned to be 
distributed at the inquest. The council are working to ensure all plans are in place 
for the new inquest date, later this year. The information leaflet will be updated and 
will be available for distribution once the inquest starts. The HIE CSP subgroup are 
keeping oversight to ensure any tensions can be addressed.   

4.  Key Challenge(s) 

4.1 The subgroup has identified challenges in receiving tensions within the community. 
A new reporting mechanism has been set up on the council website to allow 
residents and community members to report and local tensions. These will be 
collated by the Community Safety Partnership Team to collate and report into the 
subgroup and where there may be immediate concerns escalate to director and 
MPS representative once intel is received.   

5. Support required from CSP Board 

5.1 The Board to note the ongoing progresses agreed and set in place to monitor local 
tensions and hate related crimes.   

5.2 Support the development of the emergency planning response to national and local 
tensions.  

Page 118



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

6. List of Appendices:   

6.1  None  

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

REPORT 
Subject: IVOLT Update 

Date: Wednesday 30 June 2021 

Author: Jonathan Woodhams | Community Safety Operations Manager | 
Enforcement & Operational Services, Law & Governance 

Contact: jonathan.woodhams@lbbd.gov.uk   

Security: [UNPROTECTED] 

1. Brief Update 

1.1 The IVOLT (Victim, Offender, Location, Time) meets on a monthly basis. The 
IVOLT is chaired by the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and looks at emerging 
trends, joint operations, geographical hotspots, demographics, licensing and other 
issues effecting Community Safety. The information used to monitor these topics 
is supplied from the Metropolitan police, London Fire Brigade and the Council. 

1.2 The Metropolitan police supply data of who has been calling to report anti-social 
behaviour reporting on the higher frequency callers and their locations. 

1.3 The London Fire Brigade supply data of fires that have been deliberately started 
across the borough 

1.4 The Council supplies data from case files around individuals/ incidents. 

1.5 For every issue raised including repeat victims/ complainants of anti-social 
behaviour a strategic action plan is decided on by the panel to resolve these 
issues using joined up resources from the partnership. This includes looking at 
what services need to be accessed by any given cohort to assist in their wellbeing. 

1.6 This group is also responsible for monitoring and responding to all reported 
Community Triggers. 

2. Key Challenge(s) 

2.1 To address complex needs of complainants of anti-social behaviour including 
victims and perpetrators. 

2.2 To reduce the amount of calls received by police and Council to ease the pressure 
on services and the public purse. 

Page 121

Agenda Annex

mailto:jonathan.woodhams@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

2.3 To supply/ receive accurate data and to use this data in an informative and 
proactive way rather than reactive. 

2.4 To ensure we are capturing all repeat callers and victims and that all can access 
our services. 

2.5 To increase the reporting of anti-social behaviour and crime including hate crime. 

2.6 To monitor MOPAC priorities, Non Domestic Violence With Injury, Robbery and 
Vehicle Crime 

2.7 To improve and enhance customer satisfaction. 

2.8 To employ resources effectively during lockdown to address public fears, social 
distancing, and business breaches of COVID regulations. 

2.9 To address social distancing on parks 

2.10 Maintaining ASB taskings during lockdown with resources stretched 

3. Emerging Trends 

3.1 The number of repeat callers is reducing following partnership action plans put in 
place. This is especially true now that we are working closer with mental health 
services including a mental health police SPOC.- Currently repeat callers for ASB 
to police are very low and the last few months have seen an average of 0-2 
callers. This is the best in our BCU and very good compared to the rest of London 
as a result of the problem-solving work done by the IVOLT and participants. 

3.2 There has been a rise in gang tensions with weapons now being found. Police 
continue to allocate resources to address this and work with the Council to use 
civil enforcement such as injunctions and closure orders to manage behaviour and 
mitigate risks to Community Safety. We also have further closure orders and 
eviction proceedings planned for addresses associated with gang/ criminal activity. 
Following the earlier Police operation where 11 warrants were executed and 11 
gang nominals were arrested there has been an ongoing partnership plan to offer 
reassurance to our community, particularly in the Gascoigne and Barking town 
centre. This has consisted of police and Community Safety patrols which were 
well received by the community. Youth outreach work in the area is ongoing. 

3.3 Police and Council continue to work together to address unlicensed music events. 
Council have recently met with police to refine our Standard Operating Procedures 
to improve this process. 

3.4 LBBD continue to participate in pan London meetings with police and local 
authorities to agree action plans for the relaxing of restrictions of lockdown. 

3.5 Increase in joint patrols in town centres to address shop/ business breaches of 
social distancing guidelines. 

3.6 Police have secured further funding for operations in Barking Park and Barking 
Town Centre to address ASB and Crime. 

Page 122



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

3.7 Police continue to work in partnership with LBBD for joint operations to address 
ASB and crime in town centres. 

3.8 Following reports and evidence of crime and anti-social behaviour in Barking town 
centre and Barking Station a joint strategy is being worked. The aim of this 
strategy will be to have a long-term action plan to reduce reports of crime and anti-
social behaviour in Barking town centre and at Barking station, improve Barking 
town centre environment for residents, businesses and visitors and improve the 
perception of safety in Barking town centre and Barking station. 

3.9 Licensing from both LBBD and Met police have been updating on any actions 
taken against licensed premises flouting COVID regulations, but recently most 
licensed premises have been compliant. 

3.10 Street Space Activation at Barking Station Parade was a pilot scheme 
commissioned to look at perceptions of safety and ASB with the aim to help 
people feel safer and happier in public spaces. This was funded by LBBD LCPF 
MOPAC money and implementation and delivery was monitored and supported by 
IVOLT. 

3.11 The use of the new Metropolitan police initiative to issue early warning ASB 
notices to anybody found to be behaving in an anti-social manor has been re 
started by Metropolitan Police. These warning notices serve as an early 
intervention tool and can be issued by police officers and Council officers. There is 
a shared database between LBBD and police of anybody coming to notice via this 
method and a process is in place to ensure anybody who comes to notice twice 
gets a joint visit from police and Council to address their behaviour and what 
possible consequences could be as well as offering support and engagement with 
relevant services and partners if required. This project is now up and running 
again with both police and Community Safety Enforcement Officers issuing tickets 
and sharing relevant information. 

3.12 LBBD PSPO’s in Barking Town Centre and Broad Street, Dagenham have been 
renewed and new orders are now in place. PSPO’s for Heathway and a wider 
PSPO for dog fouling and ASB are being explored. 

3.13 LBBD Community Safety Enforcement Officers whose remit includes patrolling our 
PSPO areas (Barking Town Centre, Heathway and Broad Street), being a high 
visual presence and to engage with community particularly in areas where we 
have reports of anti-social behaviour have been patrolling with police at least once 
a week. Our Public Space ASB Caseworker has been leading on this work which 
has led to repeat offenders being identified and issued with Fixed Penalty Notices 
and Community Protection Warnings/ Notices allowing us as a partnership to 
manage their behaviour. It has also led to a huge increase in our intelligence 
around repeat offenders and their associations enabling us as a partnership to be 
able to form more robust action plans to both help vulnerable individuals and 
provide better protection and safety to the public. 

3.14 Community Pay Back Team are now liaising with Community Safety to identify 
areas within the borough that could benefit from cleaning, painting and general 
improvement to help deter anti-social behaviour and crime. The railway crossings 
near St Awdry’s walk have already been highlighted and work begun. 

Page 123



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 
 

 
 

3.15 The IVOLT group are monitoring the development and delivery of the Safe Haven 
Scheme. The scheme will work with residents to identify unsafe spaces to support 
the implementation of safe spaces with local businesses across the borough. 
Consultation is currently underway. 

 

Page 124



Document is Restricted

Page 125

AGENDA ITEM 12c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

AGENDA ITEM 12d
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting Report Title Presenter Time Item No Item Status

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Early Help Review Justine Henderson 15 mins Item 4
MPS Update on Street Violence Stephen Clayman/ Mark Long 10 mins Item 5
Family Drug and Alchol Court Update Sonia Drozd/ April Bald 10 mins Item 6
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 7
Heathway PSPO Chris Lyons 10 mins Item 8
Safe Haven Update Chris Lyons 10 mins Item 9
MOPAC pilot GPS tagging for domestic abuse perpetrators on 

licence

Antony Rose

RESTRICTED: Reunification of NPS/CRC Update Antony Rose/ Lucy Satchell-Day 15 mins
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Thomas Lewlyn-Jones 10 mins Item 10
RESTRICTED: Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment Daniel James 60 mins Item 11 Main agenda item
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 12
AOB

- Performance Report

Subgroup Updates

- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board

- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism

- IVOLT

- Managing Offenders

- Violence against Women and Girls

- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update

- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair

Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 13

April Bald/Angie Fuller

Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson

Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams

Antony Rose

Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens

Steve Thompson

Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 

Henderson)

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
MPS Update Stephen Clayman/ Mark Long 10 mins Item 4
Community Safety Partnership Plan Jade Hodgson/ Chris Lyons 15 mins Item 5
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 6
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Thomas Lewlyn-Jones 10 mins Item 7
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 8
AOB

- Performance Report

Subgroup Updates

- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board

- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism

- IVOLT

- Managing Offenders

- Violence against Women and Girls

- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update

- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair

Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 9

April Bald/Angie Fuller

Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson

Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams

Antony Rose

Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens

Steve Thompson

Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 

Henderson)

Wednesday 08 

December 2021 

Community Safety Partnership Board Forward Plan

Wednesday 29 

September 2021

P
age 133

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 13



Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
MPS Update Stephen Clayman/ Mark Long 10 mins 
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Thomas Lewlyn-Jones 10 mins Item 4
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 5
AOB

- Performance Report

Subgroup Updates

- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board

- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism

- IVOLT

- Managing Offenders

- Violence against Women and Girls

- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update

- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair

Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 6

April Bald/Angie Fuller

Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson

Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams

Antony Rose

Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens

Steve Thompson

Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 

Henderson)

Wednesday 30 March 

2022

P
age 134


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Safeguarding policies and procedures for Community, Faith and Voluntary Sector
	Item 4a. Safeguarding Policy and Procedures for Community Faith and Voluntary Organisations
	Contents
	Basic Principles

	Safeguarding Children- The 5 R’s
	Introduction: Adopting the Green Book as your policy and procedures
	Key Definitions
	Section 6
	Legislation
	Types and Indicators of Abuse
	Physical abuse
	Physical Signs

	Emotional Abuse
	Neglect
	Sexual Abuse

	Children in specific circumstances
	Disabled children
	Female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM)
	Forced Marriage
	Honour based violence
	Gangs and Serious Youth violence
	Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT)
	Private Fostering
	Sexual Exploitation
	Spirit Possession or Witchcraft
	Trafficking
	Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children



	Radicalisation and extremism Radicalisation is a process by which an individual or group comes to adopt increasingly extreme political, social or religious ideals and aspirations that reject or undermine the status quo or reject and/or undermine conte...
	Safeguarding children from minority ethnic, culture and faith communities
	Section 10 Domestic Abuse
	LBBD’S Multi-Agency Thresholds of Need

	Making an Effective Referral: Before making a referral, the risk indicators outlined below, should be used as a tool to support the thinking process behind the concern and determine next steps.
	Responding to a Child/Young person (allegations of abuse)
	You should NEVER

	The role and responsibilities of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)
	Need for a Deputy
	Working as part of a team

	Allegations against Staff/Volunteers
	Managing the member of staff against whom the allegation has been made
	LADO
	It is extremely important that all aspects of any allegation and

	Information Sharing
	Seven golden rules for information sharing

	Section 17
	Online/E-Safety
	Supporting children and young people to stay safe online
	Creating and managing an E-safe environment within your organisation


	Safer Recruitment
	Managing Staff and Volunteers
	Induction
	Supervision
	Training

	Protect yourself when working alone
	Good practice in your setting
	Adult to Child Ratios
	Safety tips for outings and trips
	Reducing the risk of children going missing
	Photographing and recording children
	Use of mobile phone guidance

	Insurance and Risk Assessments
	Insurance
	General guidance on taking out insurance for voluntary and community sector organisations:

	Other Policies in your Organisation
	Equal opportunities policy
	Complaints and grievance policies
	Confidentiality policy
	Healthy and Safety Policy
	Whistle- blowing policy
	Guidance on developing a safeguarding children policy statement
	Model Policy Statement
	Statement of commitment
	Purpose of this policy
	Scope of this policy
	Underlying principles
	______________________________________________________________

	Code of Behaviour for Staff and Volunteers
	Internal Cause for Concern log
	Appendix 5
	Model Risk Assessment Form
	Red Amber Green (RAG) rating

	Key Contacts in LBBD





	6 Partnership delivery of LBBD CSP VRU Action Plan
	7 Safe Haven Scheme
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	REPORT

	8 PSPO Update
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	REPORT

	10 RESTRICTED: Counter-Terrorism Local Profile (CTLP) and Prevent Priorities
	Item 11a. Prevention Programming CEP Pamphlet Nov 2020 (002)

	 Children and Young People Sub-Group
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	REPORT
	Item 14b. YOS Board Subgroup Update
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	REPORT


	 Hate, Intolerance and Extremism Sub-Group
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	Subgroup Update

	 IVOLT Sub-Group
	COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
	REPORT

	12c RESTRICTED: Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
	12d RESTRICTED: Safeguarding Boards Update
	13 Forward Plan

